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Scope of the Handbook

This handbook brings together for continuing reference background information about
the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) and the currently effective
pronouncements for the public sector issued by IFAC as of February 15, 2009.

Volume I
CONTENTS
Page

Changes of Substance from the 2008 HandbookK ...........c.cccevevverieiererenesesnnienns 1
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board — Interim
Terms Of REFEIENCE ..o 3
International Federation of ACCOUNTANES .........cccoveiiiiiiiiiere e 8
Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards ...........ccccccevvvennnne. 15
Introduction to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards ................ 23
IPSAS 1—Presentation of Financial Statements ...........ccccoeivieiviieneineieenns 24
IPSAS 2—Cash FIOW Statements ........ccoveviirniinirieireeeseeee s 81

IPSAS 3—Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors... 105

IPSAS 4—The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates ..........ccccoevvvnene 138
IPSAS 5—BOITOWING COSES ...cvevirieiieieiseieeieseese e sie e sre e e enseseesee e seeseesresneas 162
IPSAS 6—Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements ............ccccoevvevinenens 174
IPSAS 7—Investments in ASSOCIAIES ........ccovvrreererrierisreeesree s 211
IPSAS 8—Interests in JOINE VENTUIES ..o s 232
IPSAS 9—Revenue from Exchange Transactions .........ccccceveverevesiesiesnsinseennns 257
IPSAS 10—Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies ............c.c...... 278
IPSAS 11—Construction CONLrACES .......c.coveereireirerriiresreeesee s 291
IPSAS 12—INVENTOTIES ..ovviveiiiiiiineereereer s 317
IPSAS 13—LBASES ...coeveieererreieere ettt 336
IPSAS 14—Events After the Reporting Date ..........ccccvevviviviieeieiciese e 374

IPSAS 15—Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation .............ccee...... 391



2009 IFAC HANDBOOK OF INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD PRONOUNCEMENTS

IPSAS 16—INVestment ProPerty .......cocooeeieeiimienie e 452
IPSAS 17—Property, Plant and EQUIPMENT ... 486
IPSAS 18—Segment REPOITING .....ccueeviiieieieiisie et 527
IPSAS 19—Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets ............... 558
Volume 11
CONTENTS
Page

IPSAS 20—Related Party DiSCIOSUIES .......coovirierieiiinieieie e e 607
IPSAS 21—Impairment of Non—Cash Generating ASSetS ........ccccevereieienienienn 627
IPSAS 22— Disclosure of Information about the General

GOVEIMMENE SECLON ...ttt 667
IPSAS 23—Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions

(Taxes and TranSFeIS) ... 694
IPSAS 24—Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements ........... 749
IPSAS 25—Employee BENEFitS ........ccviieieiiiiiiee e 780
IPSAS 26—Impairment of Cash-Generating ASSetS ........ccocevvvrieriniinicie e 867
Cash Basis IPSAS—Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of

ACCOUNTING ettt ettt et bbbt e e n b e 928
Glossary of Defined Terms in IPSAS 110 IPSAS 26 ......cccoocevvviieiiniiceeee, 1056
Guideline 2—Applicability of International Standards on Auditing to Audits

of Financial Statements of Government Business Enterprises ..........cc.c....... 1091
Summary of Other DOCUMENTS ........ccoiiiiriiiirierie et 1094

IFAC Code of Ethics for Professional ACCOUNaNts ..........cccceevvveeeiiiieeicviee s, 1107




CHANGES OF SUBSTANCE FROM THE 2008 HANDBOOK

Pronouncements Issued by the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards Board

This handbook contains references to the Public Sector Committee (the Committee,
or the PSC) of IFAC. Effective November 10, 2004, the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) of IFAC replaced the PSC.

This handbook contains references to the International Auditing Practices Committee
(IAPC) of IFAC. Effective April 1, 2002, the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (IAASB) of IFAC replaced the IAPC.

This handbook also contains references to the International Accounting Standards
Committee (IASC). As of April 1, 2002, International Financial Reporting Standards
(previously referred to as International Accounting Standards) are issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Please Note: As of this printing, the IASB Publications Department is located at 30
Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, United Kingdom.

E-mail: publications@iasb.org
Internet: http://www.iasb.org

Pronouncements Issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants

Changes

New paragraphs 290.14-290.26 and new or revised definitions for firm, network, and
network firm, which are effective for assurance reports dated on or after December
31, 2008, have been inserted in the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.
Those paragraphs that follow new paragraphs 290.14-290.26 have been renumbered
accordingly.

Recent Exposure Drafts

The International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA) has issued two
exposure drafts of proposed amendments to extant Section 290 “Independence—
Audit and Review Engagements” and proposed new Section 291 “Independence—
Other Assurance Engagements.”

For additional information on recent developments and to obtain final
pronouncements issued subsequent to December 31, 2007 or outstanding exposure
drafts visit the IESBA’s page on the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.
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INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS BOARD

Interim Terms of Reference

Purpose of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards

Board
1.

TOR

The mission of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), as set out
in its constitution, is “to serve the public interest, IFAC will continue to
strengthen the worldwide accountancy profession and contribute to the
development of strong international economies by establishing and promoting
adherence to high-quality professional standards, furthering the international
convergence of such standards and speaking out on public interest issues
where the profession’s expertise is most relevant.” In pursuing this mission,
the IFAC Board has established the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board (IPSASB) to develop high-quality accounting standards for
use by public sector entities around the world in the preparation of general
purpose financial statements. In this regard:

. The term public sector refers to national governments, regional (e.g.,
state, provincial, territorial) governments, local (e.g., city, town)
governments and related governmental entities (e.g., agencies,
boards, commissions and enterprises); and

. General purpose financial statements refers to financial statements
issued for users that are unable to demand financial information to
meet their specific information needs.

The IFAC Board has determined that designation of the IPSASB as the
responsible body for the development of such standards, under its own
authority and within its stated terms of reference, best serves the public
interest in achieving this aspect of its mission.

The IPSASB functions as an independent standard-setting body under the
auspices of IFAC. It achieves its objectives by:

. Issuing International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASS);

. Promoting their acceptance and the international convergence to
these standards; and

. Publishing other documents which provide guidance on issues and
experiences in financial reporting in the public sector.



INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD
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Appointment of Members

4. The members of the IPSASB are appointed by the Board of IFAC. The
IPSASB comprises 18 members, 15 of whom are nominated by the member
bodies of IFAC and three of whom are appointed as public members. Public
members may be nominated by any individual or organization.
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5. Candidates put forward are considered for appointment by the IFAC
Nominating Committee. The selection process is based on the best person
for the job. In recommending appointments to the Board, the Nominating
Committee seeks to ensure that the IPSASB comprises a membership which
possesses appropriate technical expertise, knowledge of institutional
arrangements encompassed by its constituency, technical proficiencies of
users, preparers and auditors, and a broad geographical spread.

6. IPSASB members are appointed for an initial term of up to three years
which may be renewed for further three-year terms. Appointments will be
made annually in such a way that one-third of the members shall be rotated
each year. Continuous service on the Board by the same person shall be
limited to two consecutive three-year terms, unless that member is
appointed to serve as Chair for a further term. The members of the IPSASB
will be primarily engaged in the public sector. For voting purposes, each
IPSASB member has one vote.

7. Each member of the IPSASB may be joined at the meeting table by one
technical advisor who will have the full privilege of the floor but will not be
entitled to vote.

8. The IPSASB may appoint as observers, representatives of appropriate
organizations that have a strong interest in financial reporting in the public
sector, provide ongoing input to the work of the IPSASB and have an
interest in endorsing and supporting IPSASs. These observers will have the
privilege of the floor but will not be entitled to vote. They will be expected
to possess the technical skills to participate fully in the IPSASB discussions
and to attend IPSASB meetings regularly to maintain an understanding of
current issues. The IPSASB will review the composition and role of
observers on an annual basis.

Nature, Scope and Authority of Pronouncements

9. The IPSASB has been given the authority, on behalf of the Board of IFAC,
to issue:

. International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) as the
standards to be applied by members of the profession in the
preparation of general purpose financial statements of public sector
entities. The IPSASB adopts a “due process” for the development of

5 TOR



10.

11.

12.

TOR

INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD
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IPSASs which provides all interested parties with the opportunity to
provide input to the standards development process.

. Studies to provide advice on financial reporting issues in the public
sector. They are based on study of the best practices and most
effective methods for dealing with the issues being addressed.

. Occasional Papers and Research Reports to provide information that
contributes to the body of knowledge about public sector financial
reporting issues and developments. They are aimed at providing new
information or fresh insights and generally result from research
activities such as: literature searches, questionnaire surveys,
interviews, experiments, case studies and analysis.

In developing its standards, the IPSASB seeks input from its Consultative
Group and considers and makes use of pronouncements issued by:

. The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) to the extent
they are applicable to the public sector;

. National standard-setters, regulatory authorities and other authoritative
bodies;

. Professional accounting bodies; and

. Other organizations interested in financial reporting in the public
sector.

The IPSASB will ensure that its pronouncements are consistent with those
of the IASB to the extent those pronouncements are applicable and
appropriate to the public sector.

The objective of the IPSASB Consultative Group is to provide a forum in
which the IPSASB can consult with representatives of different groups of
constituents to obtain input and feedback on its work program, project
priorities, major technical issues, due process and activities in general. The
Consultative Group does not vote on International Public Sector Accounting
Standards or other documents issued by the IPSASB.

The IPSASB cooperates with national standard-setters in preparing and
issuing Standards to the extent possible, with a view to sharing resources,
minimizing duplication of effort and reaching consensus and convergence
in standards at an early stage in their development. It also promotes the
endorsement of IPSASs by national standard-setters and other authoritative
bodies and encourages debate with users, including elected and appointed
representatives; Treasuries, Ministries of Finance and similar authoritative
bodies; and practitioners throughout the world to identify user needs for
new standards and guidance.
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Working Procedures

13.

14,

15.

16.

17.

18.

The IPSASB issues exposure drafts of all proposed standards for public
comment. In some cases, the IPSASB may also issue an Invitation to
Comment prior to the development of an Exposure Draft. This provides an
opportunity for those affected by IPSASB pronouncements to provide input
and present their views before the pronouncements are finalized and
approved. The IPSASB considers all comments received on Invitations to
Comment and Exposure Drafts in developing an IPSAS.

Each IPSASB meeting requires the presence, in person or by simultaneous
telecommunications link, of at least twelve appointed members.

Each member of the IPSASB has one vote. An affirmative vote of at least
two-thirds of the voting rights of the IPSASB is necessary to approve
Invitations to Comment, Exposure Drafts and IPSASs. An IPSASB member
may authorize an individual present at an IPSASB meeting to vote on
behalf of the member.

IPSASB meetings to discuss the development, and to approve the issuance,
of standards or other technical documents are open to the public. Agenda
papers, including minutes of the meetings of the IPSASB, are published on
the IPSASB’s website.

IPSASB publishes an annual report outlining its work program, its activities
and the progress made in achieving its objectives during the year.

IFAC will review the effectiveness of the IPSASB’s processes at least every
three years.

Language

19.

The approved text of a pronouncement is that published by IPSASB in the
English language. Member bodies of IFAC are authorized to prepare, after
obtaining IFAC approval, translations of such pronouncements at their own
cost, to be issued in the language of their own countries as appropriate.
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INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS

The Organization

The International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) is the global organization for
the accountancy profession. Founded in 1977, its mission is “to serve the public
interest, IFAC will continue to strengthen the worldwide accountancy profession and
contribute to the development of strong international economies by establishing and
promoting adherence to high quality professional standards, furthering the
international convergence of such standards and speaking out on public interest
issues where the profession’s expertise is most relevant.”

IFAC’s governing bodies, staff and volunteers are committed to the values of
integrity, transparency and expertise. IFAC also seeks to reinforce professional
accountants’ adherence to these values, which are reflected in the IFAC Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants.

For additional information on IFAC and the matters and materials described below,
visit IFAC’s website at http://www.ifac.org.

Primary Activities

Serving the Public Interest

IFAC provides leadership to the worldwide accountancy profession in serving the
public interest by:

. Developing, promoting and maintaining global professional standards and a
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants of a consistently high quality;

. Actively encouraging convergence of professional standards, particularly,
auditing, assurance, ethics, education, and public and private sector financial
reporting standards;

. Seeking continuous improvements in the quality of auditing and financial
management;

. Promoting the values of the accountancy profession to ensure that it
continually attracts high caliber entrants;

. Promoting compliance with membership obligations; and

. Assisting developing and emerging economies, in cooperation with regional

accountancy bodies and others, in establishing and maintaining a profession
committed to quality performance and serving the public interest.

Contributing to the Efficiency of the Global Economy
IFAC contributes to the efficient functioning of the international economy by:

. Improving confidence in the quality and reliability of financial reporting;

ABOUT IFAC 8
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. Encouraging the provision of high quality performance information (financial
and non-financial) within organizations;

. Promoting the provision of high quality services by all members of the
worldwide accountancy profession; and

. Promoting the importance of adherence to the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants by all members of the accountancy profession, including
members in industry, commerce, the public sector, the not-for-profit sector,
academia, and public practice.

Providing Leadership and Spokesmanship

IFAC is the primary spokesperson for the global profession and speaks out on a wide
range of issues where the profession’s expertise is most relevant. This is
accomplished, in part, through outreach to numerous organizations that rely on or
have an interest in the activities of the international accountancy profession. IFAC
also issues policy positions on topics where the profession’s expertise is most
relevant. These are available from the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.

Membership

IFAC is comprised of 157 members and associates in 123 countries worldwide,
representing more than 2.5 million accountants in public practice, industry and
commerce, the public sector, and education. No other accountancy body in the world
and few other professional organizations have the broad-based international support
that characterizes IFAC.

IFAC’s strengths derive not only from its international representation, but also from
the support and involvement of its individual member bodies, which are themselves
dedicated to promoting integrity, transparency, and expertise in the accountancy
profession, as well as from the support of regional accountancy bodies.

Standard-Setting Initiatives

IFAC has long recognized the need for a globally harmonized framework to meet the
increasingly international demands that are placed on the accountancy profession,
whether from the business, the public sector or education communities. Major
components of this framework are the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants,
International Standards on Auditing (ISASs), International Education Standards, and
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASS).

IFAC’s standard-setting boards, described below, follow a due process that supports
the development of high quality standards in the public interest in a transparent,
efficient, and effective manner. These standard-setting boards all have Consultative
Advisory Groups, which provide public interest perspectives and include public
members.

9 ABOUT IFAC
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INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS

IFAC’s Public Interest Activity Committees (PIACs) — the International Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board, International Accounting Education Standards
Board, International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, and the Compliance
Advisory Panel — are subject to oversight by the Public Interest Oversight Board
(PIOB) (see below).

The terms of reference, due process and operating procedures of the IFAC standard-
setting boards are available from the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.

IFAC actively supports convergence to 1ISAs and other standards developed by its
independent standard-setting boards and the International Accounting Standards
Board.

Auditing and Assurance Services

The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) develops ISAs
and International Standards on Review Engagements, which deal with the audit and
review of historical financial information; and International Standards on Assurance
Engagements, which deal with assurance engagements other than the audit or review
of historical financial information. The IAASB also develops related practice
statements. These standards and statements serve as the benchmark for high quality
auditing and assurance standards and statements worldwide. They establish standards
and provide guidance for auditors and other professional accountants, giving them
the tools to cope with the increased and changing demands for reports on financial
information, and provide guidance in specialized areas.

In addition, the IAASB develops quality control standards for firms and engagement
teams in the practice areas of audit, assurance and related services.

Ethics

The Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code), developed by IFAC’s
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, establishes ethical
requirements for professional accountants and provides a conceptual framework for
all professional accountants to ensure compliance with the five fundamental
principles of professional ethics. These principles are integrity, objectivity,
professional competence and due care, confidentiality, and professional behavior.
Under the framework, all professional accountants are required to identify threats to
these fundamental principles and, if there are threats, apply safeguards to ensure that
the principles are not compromised. A member body of IFAC or firm conducting an
audit using ISAs may not apply less stringent standards than those stated in the Code.

Public Sector Financial Reporting

IFAC’s International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board focuses on the
development of high quality financial reporting standards for use by public sector
entities around the world. It has developed a comprehensive body of IPSASs setting
out the requirements for financial reporting by governments and other public sector

ABOUT IFAC 10
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organizations. The IPSASs represent international best practice in financial reporting
by public sector entities. In many jurisdictions, the application of the requirements of
IPSASs will enhance the accountability and transparency of the financial reports
prepared by governments and their agencies.

The IPSASs are contained in the 2008 edition of IFAC’s Handbook of International
Public Sector Accounting Pronouncements and are also available from the IFAC
website at http://www.ifac.org. French and Spanish translations of the 2007 IPSASs
are also available for download from the IFAC website.

Education

Working to advance accounting education programs worldwide, IFAC’s
International Accounting Education Standards Board (IAESB) develops International
Education Standards, setting the benchmarks for the education of members of the
accountancy profession. All member bodies are required to comply with those
standards, which address the education process leading to qualification as a
professional accountant as well as the ongoing continuing professional development
of members of the profession. The IAESB also develops International Education
Practice Statements and other guidance to assist member bodies and accounting
educators in implementing and achieving best practice in accounting education.

This handbook does not contain the International Education Standards, which are
available from the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.

Support for Professional Accountants in Business

Both IFAC and its member bodies face the challenge of meeting the needs of an
increasing number of accountants employed in business and industry, the public
sector, education, and the not-for-profit sector. These accountants now comprise
more than 50 percent of the membership of member bodies. IFAC’s Professional
Accountants in Business Committee develops guidance in collaboration with
member bodies to assist in addressing a wide range of professional issues,
encourages and supports high quality performance by professional accountants in
business, and strives to build public awareness and understanding of the work they
provide.

Small- and Medium-Sized Practices

IFAC is also focused on providing support for another growing constituency: small-
and medium-sized practices (SMPs). IFAC’s SMP Committee develops guidance on
key topics for SMPs and small- and medium-sized entities (SMES), including
implementation guidance on using ISAs in the audit of SMEs and applying
International Standard on Quality Control 1. It provides input from an SMP/SME
perspective on the development of international standards and on the work of the
IFAC standard-setting boards. The SMP Committee also investigates ways in which

11 ABOUT IFAC
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IFAC, together with its member bodies, can respond to the needs of accountants
operating in SMEs and SMPs and holds annual forums on SMP/SME issues.

Developing Nations

IFAC’s Developing Nations Committee supports the development of the
accountancy profession in all regions of the world by representing and addressing the
interests of developing nations and by providing guidance to strengthen the
accountancy profession worldwide. The Committee also seeks resources and
development assistance from the donor community on their behalf. In addition, the
Committee holds annual forums on addressing the needs of developing nations.

IFAC Member Body Compliance Program

As part of the Member Body Compliance Program, IFAC members and associates
(mostly national professional institutes) are required to demonstrate how they have
used best endeavors, subject to national laws and regulations, to implement the
standards issued by IFAC and the International Accounting Standards Board. The
program, which is overseen by IFAC’s Compliance Advisory Panel, also seeks to
determine how members and associates have met their obligations with respect to
quality assurance and investigation and disciplinary programs for their members as
set out in IFAC’s Statements of Membership Obligations (SMOs). As part of the
Compliance Program, members and associates are required to complete a self-
assessment regarding the SMO requirements and, where areas for improvement are
identified, to develop action plans to address those areas. The SMOs serve as the
foundation of the Compliance Program and provide clear benchmarks to current and
potential member bodies to assist them in ensuring high quality performance by
professional accountants.

This handbook does not contain the SMOs, which are available from the IFAC
website at http://www.ifac.org.

Regulatory Framework

In November 2003, IFAC, with the strong support of member bodies and
international regulators, approved a series of reforms to increase confidence that the
activities of IFAC are properly responsive to the public interest and will lead to the
establishment of high quality standards and practices in auditing and assurance.

The reforms provide for the following: more transparent standard-setting processes,
greater public and regulatory input into those processes, regulatory monitoring,
public interest oversight, and ongoing dialogue between regulators and the
accountancy profession. This is accomplished through the following structures:

Public Interest Oversight Board (PIOB)—Established in February 2005, the PIOB
oversees IFAC’s standard-setting activities in the areas of auditing and assurance,
ethics (including independence) and education, as well as the IFAC Member Body

ABOUT IFAC 12
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Compliance Program. The PIOB is comprised of ten representatives nominated by
international regulators and institutions.

Monitoring Group (MG)—The MG comprises international regulators and related
organizations. Its role is to update the PIOB regarding significant events in the
regulatory environment. It is also the vehicle for dialogue between regulators and the
international accountancy profession.

IFAC Regulatory Liaison Group (IRLG)—The IRLG includes the IFAC President,
Deputy President, Chief Executive Officer, three members designated by the IFAC
Board, the Chair of the Forum of Firms, and six others nominated by the Global
Public Policy Committee. It works with the MG and addresses issues related to the
regulation of the profession.

IFAC Structure and Operations

Governance of IFAC rests with its Board and Council. The IFAC Council comprises
one representative from each member body. The Board is a smaller group
responsible for policy setting. As representatives of the worldwide accountancy
profession, Board members sign a declaration to act with integrity and in the public
interest.

The IFAC Nominating Committee makes recommendations on the composition of
IFAC boards and committees, the IFAC Board, and candidates for the office of IFAC
Deputy President. The committee is guided in its work by the principle of choosing
the best person for the position. It also seeks to balance regional and professional
representation on the boards and committees, as well as representation from
countries with different levels of economic development.

IFAC is headquartered in New York City and is staffed by accounting and other
professionals from around the world.

IFAC Publications, Copyright and Translation

IFAC makes its guidance widely available by enabling individuals to freely
download all publications from its website (http://www.ifac.org) and by encouraging
its members and associates, regional accountancy bodies, standard setters, regulators
and others to include links from their own websites, or print materials, to the
publications on IFAC’s website.

IFAC also recognizes that it is important that preparers and users of financial
statements, auditors, regulators, lawyers, academia, students, and other interested
groups in non-English speaking countries have access to its standards in their native
language. To make its standards and guidance as widely available as possible, IFAC
has developed the following policy statements that address matters related to
copyright and reproduction and translation:

» Policy for Reproducing, or Translating and Reproducing, Publications Issued
by the International Federation of Accountants; and
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* Permission to State that the International Federation of Accountants has
Considered a Translating Body’s Process for Translating Standards and
Guidance.

This handbook does not contain these policy statements. However, the policy
statements and a database of translations of IFAC publications by third parties are
available on the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.

ABOUT IFAC 14
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PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Introduction

1.

This preface to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSASs) sets out the objectives and operating procedures of the International
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) and explains the scope
and authority of the IPSASs. The preface should be used as a reference for
interpreting Invitations to Comment, discussion documents, Exposure Drafts
and Standards approved and published by the IPSASB.

The mission of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), as set out
in its constitution, is “to serve the public interest, strengthen the accountancy
profession worldwide and contribute to the development of strong
international economies by establishing and promoting adherence to high-
quality professional standards, furthering the international convergence of
such standards, and speaking out on public interest issues where the
profession’s expertise is most relevant.” In pursuing this mission, [FAC
established the IPSASB.

The IPSASB (formerly Public Sector Committee (PSC)) is a Board of IFAC
formed to develop and issue under its own authority International Public
Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs). IPSASs are high quality global
financial reporting standards for application by public sector entities other
than Government Business Enterprises (GBEs).

The IPSASB’s Consultative Group is appointed by the IPSASB. The
Consultative Group is a non-voting group. It provides a means by which the
IPSASB can consult with and seek advice as necessary from a broad
constituent group. The Consultative Group is chaired by the Chair of the
IPSASB. The Consultative Group is primarily an electronic forum. However,
regional chapters of the Consultative Group meet with the IPSASB in
conjunction with any IPSASB meetings in their region. All Consultative
Group members are invited to these meetings. In addition, a full meeting of
all members of the Consultative Group may be held if considered necessary.

Objectives of the IPSASB

5.

The objectives of the IPSASB are to serve the public interest by developing
high quality public sector financial reporting standards and by facilitating the
convergence of international and national standards, thereby enhancing the
quality and uniformity of financial reporting throughout the world. The
IPSASB achieves its objectives by:

. Issuing International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs);
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. Promoting their acceptance and the international convergence to these
standards; and

. Publishing other documents which provide guidance on issues and
experiences in financial reporting in the public sector.

The IPSASs are the authoritative requirements established by the IPSASB.
Apart from developing IPSASs, the IPSASB issues other non-authoritative
publications including studies, research reports and occasional papers that
deal with particular public sector financial reporting issues.

Membership of the IPSASB

7.

The members of the IPSASB are appointed by the IFAC Board to serve on the
IPSASB. The IPSASB comprises 18 members, 15 of whom are nominated by
member bodies of IFAC and three of whom are public members. Public
members may be nominated by any individual or organization. In addition, a
limited number of observers from bodies that have an interest in public sector
financial reporting are appointed to the IPSASB. These observers have the
privilege of the floor but are not entitled to vote.

IPSASB Meetings

8.

Each IPSASB meeting requires a quorum of at least twelve appointed
members, in person or by simultaneous telecommunications link.

IPSASB meetings to discuss the development and to approve the issuance of
IPSASs or other papers are open to the public. Agenda papers, including the
minutes of the meetings of the IPSASB, are published on the IPSASB’s
website: http://www.ifac.org/publicsector

Scope and Authority of International Public Sector Accounting

Standards

Scope of the Standards

10.  The IPSASB develops IPSASs which apply to the accrual basis of accounting
and IPSASs which apply to the cash basis of accounting.

11. IPSASs set out recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
requirements dealing with transactions and events in general purpose financial
statements.

12.  The IPSASs are designed to apply to the general purpose financial statements

of all public sector entities. Public sector entities include national
governments, regional governments (for example, state, provincial,
territorial), local governments (for example, city, town) and their component
entities (for example, departments, agencies, boards, commissions), unless
otherwise stated. The Standards do not apply to GBEs. GBEs apply
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International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) which are issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). IPSASs include a
definition of GBEs.

Any limitation of the applicability of specific IPSASs is made clear in those
standards. IPSASs are not meant to apply to immaterial items.

The IPSASB has adopted the policy that all paragraphs in IPSASs shall have
equal authority, and that the authority of a particular provision shall be
determined by the language used. To avoid any unintended consequences the
IPSASB has determined to apply this policy prospectively as it reviews and
reissues previously issued IPSASs. Consequently, IPSASs approved by the
IPSASB after January 1, 2006 include paragraphs in bold and plain type,
which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold type indicate the main
principles. An individual IPSAS should be read in the context of the objective
and Basis for Conclusions (if any) stated in that IPSAS and this preface.

General Purpose Financial Statements

15.

16.

17.

Financial statements issued for users that are unable to demand financial
information to meet their specific information needs are general purpose
financial statements. Examples of such users are citizens, voters, their
representatives and other members of the public. The term “financial
statements” used in this preface and in the standards covers all statements and
explanatory material which are identified as being part of the general purpose
financial statements.

When the accrual basis of accounting underlies the preparation of the
financial statements, the financial statements will include the statement of
financial position, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow
statement and the statement of changes in net assets/equity. When the cash
basis of accounting underlies the preparation of the financial statements, the
primary financial statement is the statement of cash receipts and payments.

In addition to preparing general purpose financial statements, an entity may
prepare financial statements for other parties (such as governing bodies, the
legislature and other parties who perform an oversight function) who can
demand financial statements tailored to meet their specific information needs.
Such statements are referred to as special purpose financial statements. The
IPSASB encourages the use of [IPSASs in the preparation of special purpose
financial statements where appropriate.

IPSASs for the Accrual and Cash Bases

18.

The IPSASB develops accrual IPSASs that:

. Are converged with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) by adapting them to a public sector context when appropriate.
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In undertaking that process, the IPSASB attempts, wherever possible,
to maintain the accounting treatment and original text of the IFRSs
unless there is a significant public sector issue which warrants a
departure; and

. Deals with public sector financial reporting issues that are either not
comprehensively dealt with in existing IFRSs or for which IFRSs have
not been developed by the IASB.

As many accrual based IPSASs are based on IFRSs, the IASB’s “Framework
for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements” is a relevant
reference for users of IPSAS:s.

The IPSASB has also issued a comprehensive Cash Basis IPSAS that includes
mandatory and encouraged disclosures sections.

Moving from the Cash Basis to the Accrual Basis

21.

22.

23.

24,

The Cash Basis IPSAS encourages an entity to voluntarily disclose accrual
based information, although its core financial statements will nonetheless be
prepared under the cash basis of accounting. An entity in the process of moving
from cash accounting to accrual accounting may wish to include particular
accrual based disclosures during this process. The status (for example, audited
or unaudited) and location of additional information (for example, in the notes
to the financial statements or in a separate supplementary section of the
financial report) will depend on the characteristics of the information (for
example, reliability and completeness) and any legislation or regulations
governing financial reporting within a jurisdiction.

The IPSASB also attempts to facilitate compliance with accrual based IPSASs
through the use of transitional provisions in certain standards. Where
transitional provisions exist, they may allow an entity additional time to meet
the full requirements of a specific accrual based IPSAS or provide relief from
certain requirements when initially applying an IPSAS. An entity may at any
time elect to adopt the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
IPSASs. At this point, the entity shall apply all the accrual based IPSASs and
could choose to apply any transitional provisions in an individual accrual
based IPSAS.

Having decided to adopt accrual accounting in accordance with IPSASs, the
transitional provisions would govern the length of time available to make the
transition. On the expiry of the transitional provisions, the entity shall report
in full in accordance with all accrual based IPSASs.

International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 1, “Presentation of
Financial Statements” includes the following requirement:

An entity whose financial statements comply with International
Public Sector Accounting Standards should disclose that fact.
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Financial statements should not be described as complying with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards unless they
comply with all the requirements of each applicable International
Public Sector Accounting Standard.

IPSAS 1 also requires disclosure of the extent to which the entity has applied
any transitional provisions.

Authority of International Public Sector Accounting Standards

26.

27.

28.

29.

Within each jurisdiction, regulations may govern the issue of general purpose
financial statements by public sector entities. These regulations may be in the
form of statutory reporting requirements, financial reporting directives and
instructions, and/or accounting standards promulgated by governments,
regulatory bodies and/or professional accounting bodies in the jurisdiction
concerned.

The IPSASB believes that the adoption of IPSASs, together with disclosure of
compliance with them will lead to a significant improvement in the quality of
general purpose financial reporting by public sector entities. This, in turn, is
likely to lead to better informed assessments of the resource allocation
decisions made by governments, thereby increasing transparency and
accountability.

The IPSASB acknowledges the right of governments and national standard-
setters to establish accounting standards and guidelines for financial reporting
in their jurisdictions. Some sovereign governments and national standard-
setters have already developed accounting standards that apply to
governments and public sector entities within their jurisdiction. IPSASs may
assist such standard-setters in the development of new standards or in the
revision of existing standards in order to contribute to greater comparability.
IPSASs are likely to be of considerable use to jurisdictions that have not yet
developed accounting standards for governments and public sector entities.
The IPSASB strongly encourages the adoption of IPSASs and the
harmonization of national requirements with IPSASs.

Standing alone, neither the IPSASB nor the accounting profession has the
power to require compliance with IPSASs. The success of the IPSASB’s
efforts is dependent upon the recognition and support for its work from many
different interested groups acting within the limits of their own jurisdiction.

Due Process

30.

The IPSASB adopts a due process for the development of IPSASs that
provides the opportunity for comment by interested parties including IFAC
member bodies, auditors, preparers (including finance ministries), standard-
setters, and individuals. The IPSASB also consults with its Consultative
Group on major projects, technical issues, and work program priorities.

PREFACE 20



PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

31.  The IPSASB’s due process for projects normally, but not necessarily, includes
the following steps:

. Study of national accounting requirements and practice and an
exchange of views about the issues with national standard-setters;

. Consideration of pronouncements issued by:
° The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);

° National standard-setters, regulatory authorities and other
authoritative bodies;

° Professional accounting bodies; and
° Other organizations interested in financial reporting in the public
sector;
. Formation of steering committees (SCs), project advisory panels

(PAPs) or subcommittees to provide input to the IPSASB on a project;

. Publication of an exposure draft for public comment usually for at least
4 months. This provides an opportunity for those affected by the
IPSASB’s pronouncements to present their views before the
pronouncements are finalized and approved by the IPSASB. The
Exposure Draft will include a Basis for Conclusion;

. Consideration of all comments received within the comment period on
discussion documents and Exposure Drafts, and to make modifications
to proposed Standards as considered appropriate in the light of the
IPSASB’s objectives; and

. Publication of an IPSAS which includes a Basis for Conclusions that
explains the steps in the IPSASB’s due process and how the IPSASB
reached its conclusions.

Steering Committees, Project Advisory Panels and Subcommittees

32. The IPSASB may delegate the responsibility for carrying out the necessary
research and for preparing Exposure Drafts of proposed Standards and
guidelines or drafts of studies to SCs, subcommittees or individuals.

33.  SCs, PAPs and subcommittees are chaired by a member of the IPSASB, but
can include persons who are not members of the IPSASB or of a member
body of IFAC.

Approval Arrangements

34.  The draft of a standard, duly revised after the exposure period, is submitted to
the IPSASB for approval. If approved by the IPSASB, it is issued as an
IPSAS and becomes effective from the date specified in the Standard. On
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occasion, where there are significant unresolved issues associated with an
Exposure Draft, the IPSASB may decide to re-expose a proposed Standard.

35.  For the purposes of approving an Invitation to Comment (ITC), ED or an
IPSAS, an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the voting rights of the
IPSASB is required. Each IPSASB member represented on the IPSASB has
one vote.

Language

36.  The approved text of a pronouncement is that published by the IPSASB in the
English language. Member bodies of IFAC are authorized to prepare, after
obtaining IFAC approval, translations of such pronouncements at their own
cost, to be issued in the language of their own countries as appropriate.
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Introduction to the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards

The International Federation of Accountants’ International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board (IPSASB) develops accounting standards for public sector entities
referred to as International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs). The
IPSASB recognizes the significant benefits of achieving consistent and comparable
financial information across jurisdictions and it believes that the IPSASs will play a
key role in enabling these benefits to be realized. The IPSASB strongly encourages
governments and national standard-setters to engage in the development of its
Standards by commenting on the proposals set out in its Exposure Drafts.

The IPSASB issues IPSASs dealing with financial reporting under the cash basis of
accounting and the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis IPSASs are based
on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) where the requirements of those
Standards are applicable to the public sector. They also deal with public sector
specific financial reporting issues that are not dealt with in IFRSs.

The adoption of IPSASs by governments will improve both the quality and
comparability of financial information reported by public sector entities around the
world. The IPSASB recognizes the right of governments and national standard-
setters to establish accounting standards and guidelines for financial reporting in
their jurisdictions. The IPSASB encourages the adoption of IPSASs and the
harmonization of national requirements with IPSASs. Financial statements should be
described as complying with IPSASs only if they comply with all the requirements
of each applicable IPSAS.
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IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (IPSAS 1) is set out in paragraphs
1-155 and Appendices A-B. All the paragraphs have equal authority. IPSAS 1
should be read in the context of its objective, the Basis for Conclusions, and the
“Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards.” IPSAS 3,
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” provides a basis
for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.

o
O
}—
O
w
n
Q
d
m
)
a

27 IPSAS 1



Intro
INL1.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

duction

IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements,” replaces IPSAS 1,
“Presentation of Financial Statements” (issued May 2000), and should be
applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.
Earlier application is encouraged.

Reasons for Revising IPSAS 1

IN2.

IN3.

The (IPSASB) developed this revised IPSAS 1 as a response to the (IASB’s)
project on Improvement to (IASs) and its own policy to converge public sector
accounting standards with private sector standards to the extent appropriate.

In developing this revised IPSAS 1, the IPSASB adopted the policy of
amending the IPSAS for those changes made to the former IAS 1,
“Presentation of Financial Statements” made as a consequence of the IASB’s
improvements project, except where the original IPSAS had varied from the
provisions of IAS 1 for a public sector specific reason; such variances are
retained in this IPSAS 1 and are noted in the Comparison with IAS 1. Any
changes to IAS 1 made subsequent to the IASB’s improvements project have
not been incorporated into IPSAS 1.

Changes from Previous Requirements

IN4.

Scope
INS.

The main changes from the previous version of IPSAS 1 are described below.

The Standard does not include requirements relating to the selection and
application of accounting policies. These requirements are now included in
IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.”

IN6. The Standard includes presentation requirements for surplus or deficit for the

period, these requirements were previously contained in IPSAS 3.

Definitions
IN7. The Standard:

. Defines two new terms: impracticable and notes;

. Changes the name of term materiality to material and amends the
definition;

. Removes the following unnecessary definitions: associates, borrowing
costs, cash, cash equivalents, cash flows, consolidated financial
statements, control, controlled entity, controlling entity, equity method,
exchange difference, fair value, financial assets, foreign currency,
foreign operation, minority interest, and qualifying assets. These terms
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are defined in other IPSASs and are reproduced in the “Glossary of
Defined Terms IPSASs 1-24; and

. Removes the following terms, which no longer exist: extraordinary
items, fundamental errors, net surplus/deficit, ordinary activities,
reporting currency and surplus/deficit from ordinary activities. These
definitions have also been eliminated in relevant IPSASs, e.g., IPSAS
3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”
and IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.”

The Standard includes the interpretation of the term materiality and the notion of
characteristics of users. Previously, IPSAS 1 did not contain this commentary.

Fair Presentation and Departure from IPSASs

INO.

IN10.

IN11.

The Standard clarifies that fair presentation requires the faithful representation
of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with
the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses set out in the IPSASs. Previously, IPSAS 1 did not contain the
guidance on the meaning of fair presentation.

The Standard requires that in the extremely rare circumstances in which
management concludes that compliance with a requirement in an IPSAS
would be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial
statements set out in IPSAS 1, departure from the requirement unless
departure is prohibited by the relevant regulatory framework. In either case,
the entity is required to make specified disclosures. The superseded IPSAS 1
did not set up the criterion for departure from IPSASs and did not distinguish
the circumstances in which the regulatory framework permits or prohibits the
departure from IPSASs.

The Standard does not include requirements related to the selection and
application of accounting policies. IPSAS 3 contains such requirements. The
superseded IPSAS 1 included requirements related to the selection and
application of accounting policies.

Classification of Assets and Liabilities

IN12.

IN13.

IN14.

The Standard requires that an entity uses the order of liquidity to present
assets and liabilities only when a liquidity presentation provides information
that is reliable and more relevant than a current/non-current presentation. The
superseded IPSAS 1 did not contain such limitation.

The Standard requires that a liability held primarily for the purpose of being
traded be classified as current. The superseded IPSAS 1 did not specify this
criterion for liabilities classified as current.

The Standard requires that a financial liability that is due within twelve
months after the reporting date, or for which the entity does not have an
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IN15.

IN16.

IN17.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

unconditional right to defer its settlement for at least twelve months after the
reporting date, is classified as a current liability. This classification is required
even if an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term
basis is completed after the reporting date and before the financial statements
are authorized for issue. The superseded IPSAS 1 required such liabilities to
be classified as non-current.

The Standard clarifies that a liability is classified as non-current when the entity
has, under the terms of an existing loan facility, the discretion to refinance or
roll over its obligations for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

The Standard requires that when a long-term financial liability is payable on
demand because the entity has breached a condition of its loan agreement on
or before the reporting date, the liability is classified as current at the
reporting date even if, after the reporting date and before the financial
statements are authorized for issue, the lender has agreed not to demand
payment as a consequence of the breach. The previous version of IPSAS 1
required such liabilities to be classified as non-current.

The Standard clarifies that the liability is classified as non-current if the lender
agreed by the reporting date to provide a period of grace ending at least
twelve months after the reporting date, within which the entity can rectify the
breach and during which the lender cannot demand immediate repayment.

Presentation and Disclosure

Statement of Financial Performance

IN18.

IN19.

IN20.

The Standard sets out the presentation requirements for surplus or deficit for
the period. These requirements were previously included in IPSAS 3.

The Standard does not require the presentation of the following line items
from the face of the statement of financial performance:

. Surplus or deficit from operating activities;
. Surplus or deficit from ordinary activities; and
. Extraordinary items.

The superseded IPSAS 1 required the presentation of these items.

The Standard requires the separate presentation, on the face of the statement
of financial performance, of the entity’s surplus or deficit for the period
allocated between: “surplus or deficit attributable to owners of the controlling
entity;” and “surplus or deficit attributable to minority interest.” The
superseded IPSAS 1 did not contain these presentation requirements.
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity

IN21.

Notes
IN22.

IN23.

The Standard requires the presentation, on the face of the statement of
changes in net assets/equity, of the entity’s total amount of revenue and
expense for the period (including amounts recognized directly in net
assets/equity), showing separately the amounts attributable to minority
interest and owners of the controlling entity. The superseded IPSAS 1 did not
require presentation of these items.

The Standard requires that an entity shall disclose the judgments, apart from
those involving estimations, management has made in the process of applying
the entity’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the financial statements (e.g., management’s judgment
in determining whether assets are investment properties). The superseded
IPSAS 1 did not contain these disclosure requirements.

The Standard requires that an entity disclose the key assumptions concerning
the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. The
superseded IPSAS 1 did not contain these disclosure requirements.
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IPSAS 1-PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Objective

1.

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the manner in which general
purpose financial statements should be presented to ensure comparability both
with the entity’s financial statements of previous periods and with the
financial statements of other entities. To achieve this objective, this Standard
sets out overall considerations for the presentation of financial statements,
guidance for their structure, and minimum requirements for the content of
financial statements prepared under the accrual basis of accounting. The
recognition, measurement and disclosure of specific transactions and other
events are dealt with in other IPSASs.

Scope

2.

This Standard shall be applied to all general purpose financial statements
prepared and presented under the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with IPSASs.

General purpose financial statements are those intended to meet the needs of
users who are not in a position to demand reports tailored to meet their
particular information needs. Users of general purpose financial statements
include taxpayers and ratepayers, members of the legislature, creditors,
suppliers, the media, and employees. General purpose financial statements
include those that are presented separately or within another public document
such as an annual report. This Standard does not apply to condensed interim
financial information.

This Standard applies equally to all entities and whether or not they need to
prepare consolidated financial statements or separate financial statements, as
defined in IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.”

This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than Government
Business Enterprises (GBEs).

The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by the
IPSASB explains that GBEs apply International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) issued by the IASB. GBEs are defined in paragraph 7 below.

Definitions

7.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Accrual basis means a basis of accounting under which transactions and
other events are recognized when they occur (and not only when cash or
its equivalent is received or paid). Therefore, the transactions and events
are recorded in the accounting records and recognized in the financial

IPSAS 1 32



PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

statements of the periods to which they relate. The elements recognized
under accrual accounting are assets, liabilities, net assets/equity, revenue
and expenses.

Assets are resources controlled by an entity as a result of past events and
from which future economic benefits or service potential are expected to
flow to the entity.

Contributions from owners means future economic benefits or service
potential that has been contributed to the entity by parties external to the
entity, other than those that result in liabilities of the entity, that establish
a financial interest in the net assets/equity of the entity, which:

(@  Conveys entitlement both to distributions of future economic
benefits or service potential by the entity during its life, such
distributions being at the discretion of the owners or their
representatives, and to distributions of any excess of assets over
liabilities in the event of the entity being wound up; and/or

(b)  Can be sold, exchanged, transferred or redeemed.

Distributions to _owners means future economic benefits or service
potential distributed by the entity to all or some of its owners, either as a
return on investment or as a return of investment.

Economic entity means a group of entities comprising a controlling entity
and one or more controlled entities.

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits or service potential during
the reporting period in the form of outflows or consumption of assets or
incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in net assets/equity, other
than those relating to distributions to owners.

Government Business Enterprise means an entity that has all the
following characteristics:

(@ Is an entity with the power to contract in its own name;

(b)  Has been assigned the financial and operational authority to carry
on a business;

(c)  Sells goods and services, in the normal course of its business, to
other entities at a profit or full cost recovery;

(d) Is not reliant on continuing government funding to be a going
concern (other than purchases of outputs at arm’s length); and

(e)  Is controlled by a public sector entity.

Impracticable Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity
cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so.
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Liabilities are present obligations of the entity arising from past events,
the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the
entity of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential.

Material Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could,
individually or collectively, influence the decisions or assessments of
users made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends
on the nature and size of the omission or misstatement judged in the
surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the item, or a
combination of both, could be the determining factor.

Net assets/equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after
deducting all its liabilities.

Notes contain information in addition to that presented in the
statement of financial position, statement of financial performance,
statement of changes in net assets/equity and cash flow statement. Notes
provide narrative descriptions or disaggregations of items disclosed in
those statements and information about items that do not qualify for
recognition in those statements.

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential
during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in
net assets/equity, other than increases relating to contributions from
owners.

Terms defined in other International Public Sector Accounting
Standards are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those
other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms
published separately.

Economic Entity

8. The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for financial
reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the controlling entity and any
controlled entities.

9. Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity and group.

10.  Aneconomic entity may include entities with both social policy and commercial
objectives. For example, a government housing department may be an economic
entity which includes entities that provide housing for a nominal charge, as well
as entities that provide accommodation on a commercial basis.

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential

11.  Assets provide a means for entities to achieve their objectives. Assets that are
used to deliver goods and services in accordance with an entity’s objectives
but which do not directly generate net cash inflows are often described as
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embodying service potential. Assets that are used to generate net cash inflows
are often described as embodying future economic benefits. To encompass all
the purposes to which assets may be put, this Standard uses the term “future
economic benefits or service potential” to describe the essential characteristic
of assets.

Government Business Enterprises

12.

GBEs include both trading enterprises, such as utilities, and financial
enterprises, such as financial institutions. GBES are, in substance, no different
from entities conducting similar activities in the private sector. GBEs
generally operate to make a profit, although some may have limited
community service obligations under which they are required to provide some
individuals and organizations in the community with goods and services at
either no charge or a significantly reduced charge. IPSAS 6, “Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements” provides guidance on determining
whether control exists for financial reporting purposes, and should be referred
to in determining whether a GBE is controlled by another public sector entity.

Materiality

13.

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence decisions of
users, and so be material, requires consideration of the characteristics of those
users. Users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of the public sector
and economic activities and accounting and a willingness to study the
information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the assessment needs to
take into account how users with such attributes could reasonably be expected
to be influenced in making and evaluating decisions.

Net Assets/Equity

14.

Net assets/equity is the term used in this Standard to refer to the residual
measure in the statement of financial position (assets less liabilities). Net
assets/equity may be positive or negative. Other terms may be used in place of
net assets/equity, provided that their meaning is clear.

Purpose of Financial Statements

15.

Financial statements are a structured representation of the financial position and
financial performance of an entity. The objectives of general purpose financial
statements are to provide information about the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in
making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of resources. Specifically,
the objectives of general purpose financial reporting in the public sector should
be to provide information useful for decision-making, and to demonstrate the
accountability of the entity for the resources entrusted to it by:
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(@  Providing information about the sources, allocation and uses of
financial resources;

(b)  Providing information about how the entity financed its activities and
met its cash requirements;

(c)  Providing information that is useful in evaluating the entity’s ability to
finance its activities and to meet its liabilities and commitments;

(d)  Providing information about the financial condition of the entity and
changes in it; and

(e)  Providing aggregate information useful in evaluating the entity’s
performance in terms of service costs, efficiency and accomplishments.

General purpose financial statements can also have a predictive or prospective
role, providing information useful in predicting the level of resources required
for continued operations, the resources that may be generated by continued
operations, and the associated risks and uncertainties. Financial reporting may
also provide users with information:

(@ Indicating whether resources were obtained and used in accordance
with the legally adopted budget; and

(b)  Indicating whether resources were obtained and used in accordance
with legal and contractual requirements, including financial limits
established by appropriate legislative authorities.

To meet these objectives, the financial statements provide information about
an entity’s:

(@  Assets;

(b) Liabilities;

()  Net assets/equity;

(d)  Revenue;

()  Expenses;

()] Other changes in net assets/equity; and
(g)  Cash flows.

Whilst the information contained in financial statements can be relevant for the
purpose of meeting the objectives in paragraph 15, it is unlikely to enable all these
objectives to be met. This is likely to be particularly so in respect of entities whose
primary objective may not be to make a profit, as managers are likely to be
accountable for the achievement of service delivery as well as financial objectives.
Supplementary information, including non-financial statements, may be reported
alongside the financial statements in order to provide a more comprehensive
picture of the entity’s activities during the period.
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Responsibility for Financial Statements

19.

20.

The responsibility for the preparation and presentation of financial statements
varies within and across jurisdictions. In addition, a jurisdiction may draw a
distinction between who is responsible for preparing the financial statements
and who is responsible for approving or presenting the financial statements.
Examples of people or positions who may be responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements of individual entities (such as government departments
or their equivalent) include the individual who heads the entity (the permanent
head or chief executive) and the head of the central finance agency (or the
senior finance official, such as the controller or accountant-general).

The responsibility for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
of the government as a whole usually rests jointly with the head of the central
finance agency (or the senior finance official, such as the controller or
accountant-general) and the finance minister (or equivalent).

Components of Financial Statements

21.

22.

23.

A complete set of financial statements comprises:
(@) A statement of financial position;

(b) A statement of financial performance;

(c) A statement of changes in net assets/equity;
(d) A cash flow statement;

()  When the entity makes publicly available its approved budget, a
comparison of budget and actual amounts either as a separate
additional financial statement or as a budget column in the
financial statements; and

) Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

The components listed in paragraph 21 are referred to by a variety of names
both within and across jurisdictions. The statement of financial position may
also be referred to as a balance sheet or statement of assets and liabilities. The
statement of financial performance may also be referred to as a statement of
revenues and expenses, an income statement, an operating statement, or a
profit and loss statement. The notes may include items referred to as schedules
in some jurisdictions.

The financial statements provide users with information about an entity’s
resources and obligations at the reporting date and the flow of resources between
reporting dates. This information is useful for users making assessments of an
entity’s ability to continue to provide goods and services at a given level, and the
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level of resources that may need to be provided to the entity in the future so that it
can continue to meet its service delivery obligations.

Public sector entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of
appropriations or budget authorizations (or equivalent), which may be given
effect through authorizing legislation. General purpose financial reporting by
public sector entities may provide information on whether resources were
obtained and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget. Entities
which make publicly available their approved budget(s) are required to
comply with the requirements of IPSAS 24, “Presentation of Budget
Information in Financial Statements.” For other entities, where the financial
statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting, this Standard
encourages the inclusion in the financial statements of a comparison with the
budgeted amounts for the reporting period. Reporting against budget(s) for
these entities may be presented in various different ways, including:

(@ The use of a columnar format for the financial statements, with
separate columns for budgeted amounts and actual amounts. A column
showing any variances from the budget or appropriation may also be
presented, for completeness; and

(b)  Disclosure that the budgeted amounts have not been exceeded. If any
budgeted amounts or appropriations have been exceeded, or expenses
incurred without appropriation or other form of authority, then details
may be disclosed by way of footnote to the relevant item in the
financial statements.

Entities are encouraged to present additional information to assist users in
assessing the performance of the entity, and its stewardship of assets, as well as
making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of resources. This additional
information may include details about the entity’s outputs and outcomes in the
form of performance indicators, statements of service performance, program
reviews and other reports by management about the entity’s achievements over
the reporting period.

Entities are also encouraged to disclose information about compliance with
legislative, regulatory or other externally-imposed regulations. When
information about compliance is not included in the financial statements, it
may be useful for a note to refer to any documents that include that
information. Knowledge of non-compliance is likely to be relevant for
accountability purposes and may affect a user’s assessment of the entity’s
performance and direction of future operations. It may also influence
decisions about resources to be allocated to the entity in the future.
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Overall Considerations

Fair Presentation and Compliance with IPSASs

217.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the
faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and
conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses set out in IPSASs. The application
of IPSASs, with additional disclosures when necessary, is presumed to
result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation.

An entity whose financial statements comply with IPSASs shall make an
explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance in the notes.
Financial statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs
unless they comply with all the requirements of IPSAS:s.

In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation is achieved by compliance
with applicable IPSASs. A fair presentation also requires an entity:

(@  To select and apply accounting policies in accordance with IPSAS 3,
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.”
IPSAS3 sets out a hierarchy of authoritative guidance that
management considers in the absence of a Standard that specifically
applies to an item.

(b)  To present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information.

()  To provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IPSASs is insufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the
entity’s financial position and financial performance.

Inappropriate accounting policies are not rectified either by disclosure of
the accounting policies used, or by notes or explanatory material.

In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes that
compliance with a requirement in a Standard would be so misleading
that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in
this IPSAS, the entity shall depart from that requirement in the manner
set out in paragraph 32 if the relevant regulatory framework requires, or
otherwise does not prohibit, such a departure.

When an entity departs from a requirement of a Standard in accordance
with paragraph 31, it shall disclose:

(8 That management has concluded that the financial statements
present fairly the entity’s financial position, financial performance
and cash flows;
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(b)  That it has complied with applicable IPSASs, except that it has
departed from a particular requirement to achieve a fair
presentation;

(c)  The title of the Standard from which the entity has departed, the
nature of the departure, including the treatment that the Standard
would require, the reason why that treatment would be so
misleading in the circumstances that it would conflict with the
objective of financial statements set out in this IPSAS, and the
treatment adopted; and

(d)  For each period presented, the financial impact of the departure
on each item in the financial statements that would have been
reported in complying with the requirement.

When an entity has departed from a requirement of a Standard in a prior
period, and that departure affects the amounts recognized in the financial
statements for the current period, it shall make the disclosures set out in
paragraph 32(c) and (d).

Paragraph 33 applies, for example, when an entity departed in a prior period
from a requirement in a Standard for the measurement of assets or liabilities
and that departure affects the measurement of changes in assets and liabilities
recognized in the current period’s financial statements.

In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes that
compliance with a requirement in a Standard would be so misleading
that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in
this IPSAS, but the relevant regulatory framework prohibits departure
from the requirement, the entity shall, to the maximum extent possible,
reduce the perceived misleading aspects of compliance by disclosing:

(@ The title of the Standard in question, the nature of the
requirement, and the reason why management has concluded that
complying with that requirement is so misleading in the
circumstances that it conflicts with the objective of financial
statements set out in this IPSAS; and

(b)  For each period presented, the adjustments to each item in the
financial statements that management has concluded would be
necessary to achieve a fair presentation.

For the purpose of paragraphs 31-35, an item of information would conflict
with the objective of financial statements when it does not represent faithfully
the transactions, other events and conditions that it either purports to represent
or could reasonably be expected to represent and, consequently, it would be
likely to influence decisions made by users of financial statements. When
assessing whether complying with a specific requirement in a Standard would
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be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial
statements set out in this IPSAS, management considers:

(@  Why the objective of financial statements is not achieved in the
particular circumstances; and

(b)  How the entity’s circumstances differ from those of other entities that
comply with the requirement. If other entities in similar circumstances
comply with the requirement, there is a rebuttable presumption that the
entity’s compliance with the requirement would not be so misleading
that it would conflict with the objective of the financial statements set
out in this IPSAS.

Departures from the requirements of an IPSAS in order to comply with
statutory/legislative financial reporting requirements in a particular
jurisdiction do not constitute departures that conflict with the objective of
financial statements set out in this IPSAS as outlined in paragraph 31. If such
departures are material an entity cannot claim to be complying with IPSASs.

Going Concern

38.

39.

40.

When preparing financial statements an assessment of an entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern shall be made. This assessment shall be
made by those responsible for the preparation of financial statements.
Financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis unless
there is an intention to liquidate the entity or to cease operating, or if
there is no realistic alternative but to do so. When those responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements are aware, in making their
assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, those uncertainties shall be disclosed. When financial statements
are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact shall be disclosed,
together with the basis on which the financial statements are prepared
and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern.

Financial statements are normally prepared on the assumption that the entity is
a going concern and will continue in operation and meet its statutory
obligations for the foreseeable future. In assessing whether the going concern
assumption is appropriate, those responsible for the preparation of financial
statements take into account all available information about the future, which
is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the approval of the
financial statements.

The degree of consideration depends on the facts in each case, and
assessments of the going concern assumption are not predicated on the
solvency test usually applied to business enterprises. There may be
circumstances where the usual going concern tests of liquidity and solvency
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appear unfavorable, but other factors suggest that the entity is nonetheless a
going concern. For example:

(@  In assessing whether a government is a going concern, the power to
levy rates or taxes may enable some entities to be considered as a
going concern even though they may operate for extended periods with
negative net assets/equity; and

(b)  For an individual entity, an assessment of its statement of financial
position at the reporting date may suggest that the going concern
assumption is not appropriate. However, there may be multi-year
funding agreements, or other arrangements, in place that will ensure
the continued operation of the entity.

The determination of whether the going concern assumption is appropriate is
primarily relevant for individual entities rather than for a government as a
whole. For individual entities, in assessing whether the going concern basis is
appropriate, those responsible for the preparation of financial statements may
need to consider a wide range of factors relating to current and expected
performance, potential and announced restructurings of organizational units,
estimates of revenue or the likelihood of continued government funding, and
potential sources of replacement financing before it is appropriate to conclude
that the going concern assumption is appropriate.

Consistency of Presentation

42,

43.

44,

The presentation and classification of items in the financial statements
shall be retained from one period to the next unless:

(@ It is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the
entity’s operations or a review of its financial statements, that
another presentation or classification would be more appropriate
having regard to the criteria for the selection and application of
accounting policies in IPSAS 3; or

(b)  An IPSAS requires a change in presentation.

A significant acquisition or disposal, or a review of the presentation of the
financial statements, might suggest that the financial statements need to be
presented differently. For example, an entity may dispose of a savings bank
that represents one of its most significant controlled entities and the remaining
economic entity conducts mainly administrative and policy advice services. In
this case, the presentation of the financial statements based on the principal
activities of the economic entity as a financial institution is unlikely to be
relevant for the new economic entity.

An entity changes the presentation of its financial statements only if the
changed presentation provides information that is reliable and is more relevant
to users of the financial statements and the revised structure is likely to
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continue, so that comparability is not impaired. When making such changes in
presentation, an entity reclassifies its comparative information in accordance
with paragraph 55 and 56.

Materiality and Aggregation

45,

46.

47.

Each material class of similar items shall be presented separately in the
financial statements. Items of a dissimilar nature or function shall be
presented separately unless they are immaterial.

Financial statements result from processing large numbers of transactions or
other events that are aggregated into classes according to their nature or
function. The final stage in the process of aggregation and classification is the
presentation of condensed and classified data, which form line items on the
face of the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance,
statement of changes in net assets/equity and cash flow statement, or in the
notes. If a line item is not individually material, it is aggregated with other
items either on the face of those statements or in the notes. An item that is not
sufficiently material to warrant separate presentation on the face of those
statements may nevertheless be sufficiently material for it to be presented
separately in the notes.

Applying the concept of materiality means that a specific disclosure requirement
in an IPSAS need not be satisfied if the information is not material.

Offsetting

48.

49,

50.

Assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses, shall not be offset unless
required or permitted by an IPSAS.

It is important that assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses, are
reported separately. Offsetting in the statement of financial performance or the
statement of financial position, except when offsetting reflects the substance
of the transaction or other event, detracts from the ability of users both to
understand the transactions, other events and conditions that have occurred
and to assess the entity’s future cash flows. Measuring assets net of valuation
allowances — for example, obsolescence allowances on inventories and
doubtful debts allowances on receivables — is not offsetting.

IPSAS 9, “Revenue from Exchange Transactions” defines revenue and
requires it to be measured at the fair value of consideration received or
receivable, taking into account the amount of any trade discounts and volume
rebates allowed by the entity. An entity undertakes, in the course of its
ordinary activities, other transactions that do not generate revenue but are
incidental to the main revenue-generating activities. The results of such
transactions are presented, when this presentation reflects the substance of the
transaction or other event, by netting any revenue with related expenses
arising on the same transaction. For example:
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(@  Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets, including
investments and operating assets, are reported by deducting from the
proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related
selling expenses; and

(b)  Expenses related to a provision that is recognized in accordance with
IPSAS 19, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
and reimbursed under a contractual arrangement with a third party (for
example, a supplier’s warranty agreement) may be netted against the
related reimbursement.

In addition, gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions are
reported on a net basis, for example, foreign exchange gains and losses and
gains and losses arising on financial instruments held for trading. Such gains
and losses are, however, reported separately if they are material.

The offsetting of cash flows is dealt with in IPSAS 2, “Cash Flow Statements.”

Comparative Information

53.

54.

55.

56.

Except when an IPSAS permits or requires otherwise, comparative
information shall be disclosed in respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial statements. Comparative information
shall be included for narrative and descriptive information when it is
relevant to an understanding of the current period’s financial statements.

In some cases, narrative information provided in the financial statements for
the previous period(s) continues to be relevant in the current period. For
example, details of a legal dispute, the outcome of which was uncertain at the
last reporting date and is yet to be resolved, are disclosed in the current
period. Users benefit from information that the uncertainty existed at the last
reporting date, and about the steps that have been taken during the period to
resolve the uncertainty.

When the presentation or classification of items in the financial
statements is amended, comparative amounts shall be reclassified unless
the reclassification is impracticable. When comparative amounts are
reclassified, an entity shall disclose:

(@  The nature of the reclassification;
(b)  The amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and
(¢)  The reason for the reclassification.

When it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an entity
shall disclose:

(@  The reason for not reclassifying the amounts; and
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(b)  The nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the
amounts had been reclassified.

Enhancing the inter-period comparability of information assists users in making
and evaluating decisions, especially by allowing the assessment of trends in
financial information for predictive purposes. In some circumstances, it is
impracticable to reclassify comparative information for a particular prior period
to achieve comparability with the current period. For example, data may not
have been collected in the prior period(s) in a way that allows reclassification,
and it may not be practicable to recreate the information.

IPSAS 3 deals with the adjustments to comparative information required when
an entity changes an accounting policy or corrects an error.

Structure and Content

Introduction

59.

60.

This Standard requires particular disclosures on the face of the statement of
financial position, statement of financial performance and statement of
changes in net assets/equity and requires disclosure of other line items either
on the face of those statements or in the notes. IPSAS 2 sets out requirements
for the presentation of a cash flow statement.

This Standard sometimes uses the term disclosure in a broad sense,
encompassing items presented on the face of the statement of financial
position, statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net
assets/equity and cash flow statement, as well as in the notes. Disclosures are
also required by other IPSASs. Unless specified to the contrary elsewhere in
this Standard, or in another Standard, such disclosures are made either on the
face of the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance,
statement of changes in net assets/equity or cash flow statement (whichever is
relevant), or in the notes. w

Identification of the Financial Statements

61.

62.

63.

The financial statements shall be identified clearly and distinguished
from other information in the same published document.

IPSASs apply only to financial statements, and not to other information
presented in an annual report or other document. Therefore, it is important
that users can distinguish information that is prepared using IPSASs from
other information that may be useful to users but is not the subject of those
requirements.

Each component of the financial statements shall be identified clearly. In
addition, the following information shall be displayed prominently, and
repeated when it is necessary for a proper understanding of the
information presented:
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(@  The name of the reporting entity or other means of identification
and any change in that information from the preceding reporting
date;

(b)  Whether the financial statements cover the individual entity or the
economic entity;

(c) The reporting date or the period covered by the financial
statements, whichever is appropriate to that component of the
financial statements;

(d)  The presentation currency, as defined in IPSAS 4, “The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates;” and

(e)  The level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial
statements.

The requirements in paragraph 63 are normally met by presenting page
headings and abbreviated column headings on each page of the financial
statements. Judgment is required in determining the best way of presenting
such information. For example, when the financial statements are presented
electronically, separate pages are not always used; the above items are then
presented frequently enough to ensure a proper understanding of the
information included in the financial statements.

Financial statements are often made more understandable by presenting
information in thousands or millions of units of the presentation currency.
This is acceptable as long as the level of rounding in presentation is disclosed
and material information is not omitted.

Reporting Period

66.

67.

Financial statements shall be presented at least annually. When an
entity’s reporting date changes and the annual financial statements are
presented for a period longer or shorter than one year, an entity shall
disclose, in addition to the period covered by the financial statements:

(@  The reason for using a longer or shorter period; and

(b)  The fact that comparative amounts for certain statements such as
the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net
assets/equity, cash flow statement and related notes are not
entirely comparable.

In exceptional circumstances an entity may be required to, or decide to,
change its reporting date, for example in order to align the reporting cycle
more closely with the budgeting cycle. When this is the case, it is important
that users are aware that the amounts shown for the current period and
comparative amounts are not comparable and that the reason for the change in
reporting date is disclosed. A further example is where, in making the
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transition from cash to accrual accounting, an entity changes the reporting
date for entities within the economic entity to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements.

Normally, financial statements are consistently prepared covering a one-year
period. However, for practical reasons, some entities prefer to report, for
example, for a 52-week period. This Standard does not preclude this practice,
because the resulting financial statements are unlikely to be materially
different from those that would be presented for one year.

Timeliness

69.

The usefulness of financial statements is impaired if they are not made available
to users within a reasonable period after the reporting date. An entity should be
in a position to issue its financial statements within six months of the reporting
date. Ongoing factors such as the complexity of an entity’s operations are not
sufficient reason for failing to report on a timely basis. More specific deadlines
are dealt with by legislation and regulations in many jurisdictions.

Statement of Financial Position

Current/Non-current Distinction

70.

71.

72.

73.

An entity shall present current and non-current assets, and current and
non-current liabilities, as separate classifications on the face of its
statement of financial position in accordance with paragraphs 76-87
except when a presentation based on liquidity provides information that
is reliable and is more relevant. When that exception applies, all assets
and liabilities shall be presented broadly in order of liquidity.

Whichever method of presentation is adopted, for each asset and liability
line item that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled (a) no
more than twelve months after the reporting date and (b) more than twelve
months after the reporting date, an entity shall disclose the amount
expected to be recovered or settled after more than twelve months.

When an entity supplies goods or services within a clearly identifiable
operating cycle, separate classification of current and non-current assets and
liabilities on the face of the statement of financial position provides useful
information by distinguishing the net assets that are continuously circulating
as working capital from those used in the entity’s long-term operations. It also
highlights assets that are expected to be realized within the current operating
cycle, and liabilities that are due for settlement within the same period.

For some entities, such as financial institutions, a presentation of assets and
liabilities in increasing or decreasing order of liquidity provides information
that is reliable and is more relevant than a current/non-current presentation
because the entity does not supply goods or services within a clearly
identifiable operating cycle.
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In applying paragraph 70, an entity is permitted to present some of its assets
and liabilities using a current/non-current classification and others in order of
liquidity when this provides information that is reliable and is more relevant.
The need for a mixed basis of presentation might arise when an entity has
diverse operations.

Information about expected dates of realization of assets and liabilities is
useful in assessing the liquidity and solvency of an entity. IPSAS 15,
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” requires disclosure of
the maturity dates of financial assets and financial liabilities. Financial assets
include trade and other receivables, and financial liabilities include trade and
other payables. Information on the expected date of recovery and settlement
of non-monetary assets and liabilities such as inventories and provisions is
also useful, whether or not assets and liabilities are classified as current or
non-current.

Current Assets

76.

77.

78.

79.

An asset shall be classified as current when it satisfies any of the following
criteria:

(@ It is expected to be realized in, or is held for sale or consumption
in, the entity’s normal operating cycle;

(b)  Ttis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the
reporting date; or

(d) It is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in IPSAS 2, unless it is
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date.

All other assets shall be classified as non-current.

This Standard uses the term non-current assets to include tangible, intangible
and financial assets of a long-term nature. It does not prohibit the use of
alternative descriptions as long as the meaning is clear.

The operating cycle of an entity is the time taken to convert inputs or
resources into outputs. For instance, governments transfer resources to public
sector entities so that they can convert those resources into goods and
services, or outputs, to meet the government’s desired social, political and
economic outcomes. When the entity’s normal operating cycle is not clearly
identifiable, its duration is assumed to be twelve months.

Current assets include assets (such as taxes receivable, user charges receivable,
fines and regulatory fees receivable, inventories and accrued investment
revenue) that are either realized, consumed or sold, as part of the normal
operating cycle even when they are not expected to be realized within twelve
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months after the reporting date. Current assets also include assets held primarily
for the purpose of being traded (guidance on classification of financial assets
can be found in the relevant international or national accounting standard
dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments) and the
current portion of non-current financial assets.

Current Liabilities

80.

81.

82.

83.

A liability shall be classified as current when it satisfies any of the
following criteria:

(@)  Itis expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle;
(b)  TItis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

() It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
date; or

(d)  The entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

All other liabilities shall be classified as non-current.

Some current liabilities, such as government transfers payable and some
accruals for employee and other operating costs, are part of the working
capital used in the entity’s normal operating cycle. Such operating items are
classified as current liabilities even if they are due to be settled more than
twelve months after the reporting date. The same normal operating cycle
applies to the classification of an entity’s assets and liabilities. When the
entity’s normal operating cycle is not clearly identifiable, its duration is
assumed to be twelve months.

Other current liabilities are not settled as part of the normal operating cycle, but
are due for settlement within twelve months after the reporting date or held
primarily for the purpose of being traded. Examples are financial liabilities
classified held for trading (guidance on classification of financial liabilities can
be found in the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing
with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments), bank
overdrafts, and the current portion of non-current financial liabilities, dividends
payable, income taxes and other non-trade payables. Financial liabilities that
provide financing on a long-term basis (i.e., are not part of the working capital
used in the entity’s normal operating cycle) and are not due for settlement
within twelve months after the reporting date are non-current liabilities, subject
to paragraphs 85 and 86.

An entity classifies its financial liabilities as current when they are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting date, even if:

(@  The original term was for a period longer than twelve months; and
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86.

87.
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(b)  An agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term
basis is completed after the reporting date and before the financial
statements are authorized for issue.

If an entity expects, and has the discretion, to refinance or roll over an obligation
for at least twelve months after the reporting date under an existing loan facility,
it classifies the obligation as non-current, even if it would otherwise be due
within a shorter period. However, when refinancing or rolling over the
obligation is not at the discretion of the entity (for example, there is no
agreement to refinance), the potential to refinance is not considered and the
obligation is classified as current.

When an entity breaches an undertaking under a long-term loan agreement on or
before the reporting date with the effect that the liability becomes payable on
demand, the liability is classified as current, even if the lender has agreed, after the
reporting date and before the authorization of the financial statements for issue,
not to demand payment as a consequence of the breach. The liability is classified
as current because, at the reporting date, the entity does not have an unconditional
right to defer its settlement for at least twelve months after that date.

However, the liability is classified as non-current if the lender agreed by the
reporting date to provide a period of grace ending at least twelve months after
the reporting date, within which the entity can rectify the breach and during
which the lender cannot demand immediate repayment.

In respect of loans classified as current liabilities, if the following events occur
between the reporting date and the date the financial statements are authorized
for issue, those events qualify for disclosure as non-adjusting events in
accordance with IPSAS 14, “Events after the Reporting Date™:

(@  Refinancing on a long-term basis;
(b)  Rectification of a breach of a long-term loan agreement; and

()  The receipt from the lender of a period of grace to rectify a breach of a
long-term loan agreement ending at least twelve months after the
reporting date.

Information to be Presented on the Face of the Statement of Financial Position

88.

As a minimum, the face of the statement of financial position shall include
line items that present the following amounts:

(@  Property, plant and equipment;
(b)  Investment property;
(c)  Intangible assets;

(d)  Financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (g), (h) and

®);
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()  Investments accounted for using the equity method;
()] Inventories;

(9) Recoverables from non-exchange transactions (taxes and
transfers);

(h)  Receivables from exchange transactions;

(M Cash and cash equivalents;

()] Taxes and transfers payable;

(k)  Payables under exchange transactions;

()] Provisions;

(m)  Financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (j), (k) and
M);

(n)  Minority interest, presented within net assets/equity; and

(0)  Net assets/equity attributable to owners of the controlling entity.

Additional line items, headings and sub-totals shall be presented on the
face of the statement of financial position when such presentation is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position.

This Standard does not prescribe the order or format in which items are to be
presented. Paragraph 88 simply provides a list of items that are sufficiently
different in nature or function to warrant separate presentation on the face of
the statement of financial position. Illustrative formats are set out in
Implementation Guidance to this Standard. In addition:

(@  Line items are included when the size, nature or function of an item or
aggregation of similar items is such that separate presentation is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position; and

(b)  The descriptions used and the ordering of items or aggregation of
similar items may be amended according to the nature of the entity and
its transactions, to provide information that is relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial position.

The judgment on whether additional items are presented separately is based
on an assessment of:

(@  The nature and liquidity of assets;
(b)  The function of assets within the entity; and
()  The amounts, nature and timing of liabilities.

The use of different measurement bases for different classes of assets suggests
that their nature or function differs and, therefore, that they should be
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presented as separate line items. For example, different classes of property,
plant and equipment can be carried at cost or revalued amounts in accordance
with IPSAS 17, “Property, Plant and Equipment.”

Information to be Presented either on the Face of the Statement of Financial
Position or in the Notes

93.

94.

95.

96.

An entity shall disclose, either on the face of the statement of financial
position or in the notes, further subclassifications of the line items
presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the entity’s operations.

The detail provided in subclassifications depends on the requirements of
IPSASs and on the size, nature and function of the amounts involved. The
factors set out in paragraph 91 also are used to decide the basis of
subclassification. The disclosures vary for each item, for example:

(@  Items of property, plant and equipment are disaggregated into classes
in accordance with IPSAS 17;

(b)  Receivables are disaggregated into amounts receivable from user
charges, taxes and other non-exchange revenues, receivables from
related parties, prepayments and other amounts;

(c) Inventories are subclassified in accordance with [IPSAS 12,
“Inventories,” into classifications such as merchandise, production
supplies, materials, work in progress and finished goods;

(d)  Taxes and transfers payable are disaggregated into tax refunds payable,
transfers payable, and amounts payable to other members of the
economic entity;

(e)  Provisions are disaggregated into provisions for employee benefits and
other items; and

(j)] Components of net assets/equity are disaggregated into contributed
capital, accumulated surpluses and deficits and any reserves.

When an entity has no share capital, it shall disclose net assets/equity,
either on the face of the statement of financial position or in the notes,
showing separately:

@ Contributed capital, being the cumulative total at the reporting
date of contributions from owners, less distributions to owners;

(b)  Accumulated surpluses or deficits;

(c)  Reserves, including a description of the nature and purpose of each
reserve within net assets/equity; and

(d)  Minority interests.

Many public sector entities will not have share capital but the entity will be
controlled exclusively by another public sector entity. The nature of the

IPSAS 1 52



97.

98.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

government’s interest in the net assets/equity of the entity is likely to be a
combination of contributed capital and the aggregate of the entity’s
accumulated surpluses or deficits and reserves that reflect the net assets/equity
attributable to the entity’s operations.

In some cases, there may be a minority interest in the net assets/equity of the
entity. For example, at whole-of-government level, the economic entity may
include a GBE that has been partly privatized. Accordingly, there may be private
shareholders who have a financial interest in the net assets/equity of the entity.

When an entity has share capital, in addition to the disclosures in
paragraph 95, it shall disclose the following, either on the face of the
statement of financial position or in the notes:

(@  For each class of share capital:
(i) The number of shares authorized;

(i)  The number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but
not fully paid;

(iii)  Par value per share, or that the shares have no par value;

(iv) A reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the
beginning and at the end of the year;

(v)  The rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that
class, including restrictions on the distribution of dividends
and the repayment of capital;

(vi)  Shares in the entity held by the entity or by its controlled
entities or associates; and

(vii) Shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for
the sale of shares, including the terms and amounts; and

(b) A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within net
assets/equity.

Statement of Financial Performance

Surplus or Deficit for the Period

99.

100.

All items of revenue and expense recognized in a period shall be included
in surplus or deficit unless an IPSAS requires otherwise.

Normally, all items of revenue and expense recognized in a period are
included in surplus or deficit. This includes the effects of changes in
accounting estimates. However, circumstances may exist when particular
items may be excluded from surplus or deficit for the current period. IPSAS 3
deals with two such circumstances: the correction of errors and the effect of
changes in accounting policies.
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Other Standards deal with items that may meet definitions of revenue or
expense set out in this IPSAS but are usually excluded from surplus or deficit.
Examples include revaluation surpluses (see IPSAS 17), particular gains and
losses arising on translating the financial statements of a foreign operation
(see IPSAS 4) and gains or losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial
assets (guidance on measurement of financial assets can be found in the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments).

Information to be Presented on the Face of the Statement of Financial Performance

102.

103.

104.

105.

As a minimum, the face of the statement of financial performance shall
include line items that present the following amounts for the period:

(@  Revenue;
(b)  Finance costs;

(© Share of the surplus or deficit of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method;

(d)  Pre-tax gain or loss recognized on the disposal of assets or settlement
of liabilities attributable to discontinuing operations; and

(¢)  Surplus or deficit.

The following items shall be disclosed on the face of the statement of
financial performance as allocations of surplus or deficit for the period:

@ Surplus or deficit attributable to minority interest; and
(b)  Surplus or deficit attributable to owners of the controlling entity.

Additional line items, headings and subtotals shall be presented on the
face of the statement of financial performance when such presentation is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance.

Because the effects of an entity’s various activities, transactions and other
events differ in terms of their impact on its ability to meet its service delivery
obligations, and disclosing the components of financial performance assists in
an understanding of the financial performance achieved and in making
projections of future results. Additional line items are included on the face of
the statement of financial performance, and the descriptions used and the
ordering of items are amended when this is necessary to explain the elements
of performance. Factors to be considered include materiality and the nature
and function of the components of revenue and expenses. Revenue and
expense items are not offset unless the criteria in paragraph 48 are met.
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Information to be Presented either on the Face of the Statement of Financial
Performance or in the Notes

106.

107.

108.

109.

110.

111.

112.

When items of revenue and expense are material, their nature and
amount shall be disclosed separately.

Circumstances that would give rise to the separate disclosure of items of
revenue and expense include:

(@  Write-downs of inventories to net realizable value or of property, plant
and equipment to recoverable amount or recoverable service amount as
appropriate, as well as reversals of such write-downs;

(b)  Restructurings of the activities of an entity and reversals of any
provisions for the costs of restructuring;

(c)  Disposals of items of property, plant and equipment;
(d)  Privatizations or other disposals of investments;

(e)  Discontinuing operations;

()] Litigation settlements; and

(g)  Other reversals of provisions.

An entity shall present, either on the face of the statement of financial
performance or in the notes, a subclassification of total revenue, classified
in a manner appropriate to the entity’s operations.

An entity shall present, either on the face of the statement of financial
performance or in the notes, an analysis of expenses using a classification
based on either the nature of expenses or their function within the entity,
whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant.

Entities are encouraged to present the analysis in paragraph 109 on the face of
the statement of financial performance.

Expenses are subclassified to highlight the costs and cost recoveries of
particular programs, activities or other relevant segments of the reporting
entity. This analysis is provided in one of two ways.

The first form of analysis is the nature of expense method. Expenses are
aggregated in the statement of financial performance according to their nature
(for example, depreciation, purchases of materials, transport costs, employee
benefits and advertising costs), and are not reallocated among various
functions within the entity. This method may be simple to apply because no
allocations of expenses to functional classifications are necessary. An
example of a classification using the nature of expense method is as follows:
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114.

115.

116.
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Revenue X
Employee benefits costs X
Depreciation and amortization expense X
Other expenses X
Total expenses (X)
Surplus X

The second form of analysis is the function of expense method and classifies
expenses according to the program or purpose for which they were made. This
method can provide more relevant information to users than the classification
of expenses by nature, but allocating costs to functions may require arbitrary
allocations and involves considerable judgment. An example of a
classification using the function of expense method is as follows:

Revenue X

Expenses:

Health expenses X)
Education expenses X)
Other expenses X)
Surplus X

The expenses associated with the main functions undertaken by the entity are
shown separately. In this example, the entity has functions relating to the
provision of health and education services. The entity would present expense
line items for each of these functions.

Entities classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional
information on the nature of expenses, including depreciation and
amortization expense and employee benefits expense.

The choice between the function of expense method and the nature of expense
method depends on historical and regulatory factors and the nature of the
entity. Both methods provide an indication of those costs that might vary,
directly or indirectly, with the outputs of the entity. Because each method of
presentation has its merits for different types of entities, this Standard requires
management to select the most relevant and reliable presentation. However,
because information on the nature of expenses is useful in predicting future
cash flows, additional disclosure is required when the function of expense
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classification is used. In paragraph 115, employee benefits has the same
meaning as in IPSAS 26, “Employee Benefits.”

When an entity provides a dividend or similar distribution to its owners
and has share capital, it shall disclose, either on the face of the statement
of financial performance or the statement of changes in net assets/equity,
or in the notes, the amount of dividends or similar distributions
recognized as distributions to owners during the period, and the related
amount per share.

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity

118.

119.

120.

121.

An entity shall present a statement of changes in net assets/equity
showing on the face of the statement:

(@  Surplus or deficit for the period;

(b)  Each item of revenue and expense for the period that, as required
by other Standards, is recognized directly in net assets/equity, and
the total of these items;

(©) Total revenue and expense for the period (calculated as the sum of
(a) and (b)), showing separately the total amounts attributable to
owners of the controlling entity and to minority interest; and

(d)  For each component of net assets/equity separately disclosed, the
effects of changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors
recognized in accordance with IPSAS 3.

An entity shall also present, either on the face of the statement of changes
in net assets/equity or in the notes:

(@ The amounts of transactions with owners acting in their capacity
as owners, showing separately distributions to owners;

(b)  The balance of accumulated surpluses or deficits at the beginning
of the period and at the reporting date, and the changes during the
period; and

(© To the extent that components of net assets/equity are separately
disclosed, a reconciliation between the carrying amount of each
component of net assets/equity at the beginning and the end of the
period, separately disclosing each change.

Changes in an entity’s net assets/equity between two reporting dates reflect
the increase or decrease in its net assets during the period.

The overall change in net assets/equity during a period represents the total
amount of surplus or deficit for the period, other revenues and expenses
recognized directly as changes in net assets/equity, together with any
contributions by, and distributions to, owners in their capacity as owners.
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Contributions by, and distributions to, owners include transfers between two
entities within an economic entity (for example, a transfer from a government,
acting in its capacity as owner, to a government department). Contributions by
owners, in their capacity as owners, to controlled entities are recognized as a
direct adjustment to net assets/equity only where they explicitly give rise to
residual interests in the entity in the form of rights to net assets/equity.

This Standard requires all items of revenue and expense recognized in a
period to be included in surplus or deficit unless another IPSAS requires
otherwise. Other Standards require some items (such as revaluation increases
and decreases, particular foreign exchange differences) to be recognized
directly as changes in net assets/equity. Because it is important to consider all
items of revenue and expense in assessing changes in an entity’s financial
position between two reporting dates, this Standard requires the presentation
of a statement of changes in net assets/equity that highlights an entity’s total
revenue and expenses, including those that are recognized directly in net
assets/equity.

IPSAS 3 requires retrospective adjustments to effect changes in accounting
policies, to the extent practicable, except when the transitional provisions in
another IPSAS require otherwise. IPSAS 3 also requires that restatements to
correct errors are made retrospectively, to the extent practicable.
Retrospective adjustments and retrospective restatements are made to the
balance of accumulated surpluses or deficits, except when an IPSAS requires
retrospective adjustment of another component of net assets/equity. Paragraph
118(d) requires disclosure in the statement of changes in net assets/equity of
the total adjustment to each component of net assets/equity separately
disclosed resulting, separately, from changes in accounting policies and from
corrections of errors. These adjustments are disclosed for each prior period
and the beginning of the period.

The requirements in paragraphs 118 and 119 may be met by using a columnar
format that reconciles the opening and closing balances of each element within
net assets/equity. An alternative is to present only the items set out in paragraph
118 in the statement of changes in net assets/equity. Under this approach, the
items described in paragraph 119 are shown in the notes.

Cash Flow Statement

126.

Cash flow information provides users of financial statements with a basis to
assess the ability of the entity to generate cash and cash equivalents and the
needs of the entity to utilize those cash flows. IPSAS 2 sets out requirements for
the presentation of the cash flow statement and related disclosures.
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Notes

Structure

127. The notes shall:

(@)  Present information about the basis of preparation of the financial
statements and the specific accounting policies used in accordance
with paragraphs 132-139;

(b)  Disclose the information required by IPSASs that is not presented
on the face of the statement of financial position, statement of
financial performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity or
cash flow statement; and

(©) Provide additional information that is not presented on the face of
the statement of financial position, statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity or cash flow
statement, but that is relevant to an understanding of any of them.

128. Notes shall, as far as practicable, be presented in a systematic manner.
Each item on the face of the statement of financial position, statement of
financial performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity and cash
flow statement shall be cross-referenced to any related information in the
notes.

129. Notes are normally presented in the following order, which assists users in
understanding the financial statements and comparing them with financial
statements of other entities:

(@ A statement of compliance with IPSASs (see paragraph 28);

(b) A summary of significant accounting policies applied (see
paragraph 132);

(c)  Supporting information for items presented on the face of the statement
of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of
changes in net assets/equity or cash flow statement, in the order in which
each statement and each line item is presented; and

(d)  Other disclosures, including:

(i) Contingent liabilities (see IPSAS 19), and unrecognized
contractual commitments; and
(i)  Non-financial disclosures, e.g., the entity’s financial risk
management objectives and policies (see IPSAS 15).
130. In some circumstances, it may be necessary or desirable to vary the ordering of

specific items within the notes. For example, information on changes in fair
value recognized in surplus or deficit may be combined with information on
maturities of financial instruments, although the former disclosures relate to the
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statement of financial performance and the latter relate to the statement of
financial position. Nevertheless, a systematic structure for the notes is retained
as far as practicable.

Notes providing information about the basis of preparation of the financial
statements and specific accounting policies may be presented as a separate
component of the financial statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

132.

133.

134.

135.

An entity shall disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies:

(@) The measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial
statements;

(b) The extent to which the entity has applied any transitional
provisions in any IPSAS; and

(c) The other accounting policies used that are relevant to an
understanding of the financial statements.

It is important for users to be informed of the measurement basis or bases used
in the financial statements (for example, historical cost, current cost, net
realizable value, fair value, recoverable amount or recoverable service amount)
because the basis on which the financial statements are prepared significantly
affects their analysis. When more than one measurement basis is used in the
financial statements, for example when particular classes of assets are revalued,
it is sufficient to provide an indication of the categories of assets and liabilities
to which each measurement basis is applied.

In deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed,
management considers whether disclosure would assist users in understanding
how transactions, other events and conditions are reflected in the reported
financial performance and financial position. Disclosure of particular
accounting policies is especially useful to users when those policies are selected
from alternatives allowed in IPSASs. An example is disclosure of whether a
venturer recognizes its interest in a jointly controlled entity using proportionate
consolidation or the equity method (see IPSAS 8, “Interests in Joint Ventures”™).
Some Standards specifically require disclosure of particular accounting policies,
including choices made by management between different policies they allow.
For example, IPSAS 17 requires disclosure of the measurement bases used for
classes of property, plant and equipment. IPSAS 5, “Borrowing Costs” requires
disclosure of whether borrowing costs are recognized immediately as an
expense or capitalized as part of the cost of qualifying assets.

Each entity considers the nature of its operations and the policies that the users
of its financial statements would expect to be disclosed for that type of entity.
For example, public sector entities would be expected to disclose an accounting
policy for recognition of taxes, donations and other forms of non-exchange
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revenue. When an entity has significant foreign operations or transactions in
foreign currencies, disclosure of accounting policies for the recognition of
foreign exchange gains and losses would be expected. When entity
combinations have occurred, the policies used for measuring goodwill and
minority interest are disclosed.

An accounting policy may be significant because of the nature of the entity’s
operation even if amounts for current and prior periods are not material. It is
also appropriate to disclose each significant accounting policy that is not
specifically required by IPSASs, but is selected and applied in accordance with
IPSAS 3.

An entity shall disclose, in the summary of significant accounting policies
or other notes, the judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see
paragraph 140), management has made in the process of applying the
entity’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the financial statements.

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management makes
various judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that can significantly
affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements. For example,
management makes judgments in determining:

(@  Whether assets are investments properties;

(b)  Whether agreements for the provision of goods and/or services that
involve the use of dedicated assets are leases;

(c)  Whether, in substance, particular sales of goods are financing
arrangements and therefore do not give rise to revenue; and

(d)  Whether the substance of the relationship between the reporting entity
and other entities indicates that these other entities are controlled by
the reporting entity.

Some of the disclosures made in accordance with paragraph 137 are required by
other Standards. For example, IPSAS 6 requires an entity to disclose the reasons
why the entity’s ownership interest does not constitute control, in respect of an
investee that is not a controlled entity even though more than half of its voting
or potential voting power is owned directly or indirectly through controlled
entities. IPSAS 16, “Investment Property” requires disclosure of the criteria
developed by the entity to distinguish investment property from owner-occupied
property and from property held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
when classification of the property is difficult.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

140.

An entity shall disclose in the notes information about the key
assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
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uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year. In respect of those assets and liabilities, the
notes shall include details of:

(@  Their nature; and
(b)  Their carrying amount as at the reporting date.

Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires
estimation of the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and
liabilities at the reporting date. For example, in the absence of recently
observed market prices used to measure the following assets and liabilities,
future-oriented estimates are necessary to measure the recoverable amount of
certain classes of property, plant and equipment, the effect of technological
obsolescence on inventories, provisions subject to the future outcome of
litigation in progress. These estimates involve assumptions about such items
as the risk adjustment to cash flows or discount rates used and future changes
in prices affecting other costs.

The key assumptions and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
disclosed in accordance with paragraph 140 relate to the estimates that require
management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. As the
number of variables and assumptions affecting the possible future resolution
of the uncertainties increases, those judgments become more subjective and
complex, and the potential for a consequential material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities normally increases accordingly.

The disclosures in paragraph 140 are not required for assets and liabilities
with a significant risk that their carrying amounts might change materially
within the next financial year if, at the reporting date, they are measured at
fair value based on recently observed market prices (their fair values might
change materially within the next financial year but these changes would not
arise from assumptions or other sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date).

The disclosures in paragraph 140 are presented in a manner that helps users of
financial statements to understand the judgments management makes about
the future and about other key sources of estimation uncertainty. The nature
and extent of the information provided vary according to the nature of the
assumption and other circumstances. Examples of the types of disclosures
made are:

(@)  The nature of the assumption or other estimation uncertainty;

(b)  The sensitivity of carrying amounts to the methods, assumptions and
estimates underlying their calculation, including the reasons for the
sensitivity;
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(c)  The expected resolution of an uncertainty and the range of reasonably
possible outcomes within the next financial year in respect of the
carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities affected; and

(d)  An explanation of changes made to past assumptions concerning those
assets and liabilities, if the uncertainty remains unresolved.

It is not necessary to disclose budget information or forecasts in making the
disclosures in paragraph 140.

When it is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects of a key
assumption or another key source of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, the entity discloses that it is reasonably possible, based on existing
knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year that are different
from assumptions could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected. In all cases, the entity discloses the nature and
carrying amount of the specific asset or liability (or class of assets or
liabilities) affected by the assumption.

The disclosures in paragraph 137 of particular judgments management made
in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies do not relate to the
disclosures of key sources of estimation uncertainty in paragraph 140.

The disclosure of some of the key assumptions that would otherwise be
required in accordance with paragraph 140 is required by other Standards. For
example, IPSAS 19 requires disclosure, in specified circumstances, of major
assumptions concerning future events affecting classes of provisions.
IPSAS 15 requires disclosure of significant assumptions applied in estimating
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are carried at fair
value. IPSAS 17 requires disclosure of significant assumptions applied in
estimating fair values of revalued items of property, plant and equipment.

Other Disclosures

149.

150.

An entity shall disclose in the notes:

(@ The amount of dividends, or similar distributions, proposed or
declared before the financial statements were authorized for issue
but not recognized as a distribution to owners during the period,
and the related amount per share; and

(b) The amount of any cumulative preference dividends, or similar
distributions, not recognized.

An entity shall disclose the following, if not disclosed elsewhere in
information published with the financial statements:

(@  The domicile and legal form of the entity, and the jurisdiction within
which it operates;
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(b) A description of the nature of the entity’s operations and principal
activities;

() A reference to the relevant legislation governing the entity’s
operations; and

(d) The name of the controlling entity and the ultimate controlling
entity of the economic entity (where applicable).

Transitional Provisions

151.

152.

All provisions of this Standard shall be applied from the date of first
adoption of this Standard, except in relation to items that have not been
recognized as a result of transitional provisions under another IPSAS.
The disclosure provisions of this Standard would not be required to apply
to such items until the transitional provision in the other IPSAS expires.
Comparative information is not required in respect of the financial
statements to which accrual accounting is first adopted in accordance
with IPSASs.

Notwithstanding the existence of transitional provisions under another IPSAS,
entities that are in the process of adopting the accrual basis of accounting for
financial reporting purposes are encouraged to comply in full with the
provisions of that other Standard as soon as possible.

Effective Date

153.

154.

An entity shall apply this IPSAS for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is
encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period beginning
before January 1, 2008, it shall disclose that fact.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by IPSASs,
for financial reporting purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this
Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial statements covering periods
beginning on or after the date of adoption.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 1 (2000)

155.

This Standard supersedes IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”
issued in 2000.
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Appendix A
Amendments to Other IPSASs

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. If an entity applies this
Standard for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that earlier
period.

Al InIPSASs applicable at January 1, 2008:

(@  References to net surplus or deficit are amended to surplus or deficit;
and

(b)  References to notes to the financial statements are amended to notes.
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Appendix B

Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Reporting

This appendix is an integral part of the Standard.

Paragraph 29 of this Standard requires an entity to present information, including
accounting policies, in a manner that meets a number of qualitative characteristics.
This guidance summarizes the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting.

Qualitative characteristics are the attributes that make the information provided in
financial statements useful to users. The four principal qualitative characteristics are
understandability, relevance, reliability and comparability.

Understandability

Information is understandable when users might reasonably be expected to
comprehend its meaning. For this purpose, users are assumed to have a reasonable
knowledge of the entity’s activities and the environment in which it operates, and to
be willing to study the information.

Information about complex matters should not be excluded from the financial
statements merely on the grounds that it may be too difficult for certain users to
understand.

Relevance

Information is relevant to users if it can be used to assist in evaluating past, present
or future events or in confirming, or correcting, past evaluations. In order to be
relevant, information must also be timely.

Materiality
The relevance of information is affected by its nature and materiality.

Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the decisions
of users or assessments made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality
depends on the nature or size of the item or error judged in the particular
circumstances of its omission or misstatement. Thus, materiality provides a threshold
or cut-off point rather than being a primary qualitative characteristic which
information must have if it is to be useful.

Reliability

Reliable information is free from material error and bias, and can be depended on by
users to represent faithfully that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be
expected to represent.
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Faithful Representation

For information to represent faithfully transactions and other events, it should be
presented in accordance with the substance of the transactions and other events, and
not merely their legal form.

Substance Over Form

If information is to represent faithfully the transactions and other events that it
purports to represent, it is necessary that they are accounted for and presented in
accordance with their substance and economic reality and not merely their legal
form. The substance of transactions or other events is not always consistent with
their legal form.

Neutrality

Information is neutral if it is free from bias. Financial statements are not neutral if
the information they contain has been selected or presented in a manner designed to
influence the making of a decision or judgment in order to achieve a predetermined
result or outcome.

Prudence

Prudence is the inclusion of a degree of caution in the exercise of the judgments
needed in making the estimates required under conditions of uncertainty, such that
assets or revenue are not overstated and liabilities or expenses are not understated.

However, the exercise of prudence does not allow, for example, the creation of
hidden reserves or excessive provisions, the deliberate understatement of assets or
revenue, or the deliberate overstatement of liabilities or expenses, because the
financial statements would not be neutral and, therefore, not have the quality of
reliability.

Completeness
The information in financial statements should be complete within the bounds of
materiality and cost.

Comparability

Information in financial statements is comparable when users are able to identify
similarities and differences between that information and information in other
reports.

Comparability applies to the:

. Comparison of financial statements of different entities; and
. Comparison of the financial statements of the same entity over periods of
time.
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An important implication of the characteristic of comparability is that users need to
be informed of the policies employed in the preparation of financial statements,
changes to those policies and the effects of those changes.

Because users wish to compare the performance of an entity over time, it is
important that financial statements show corresponding information for preceding
periods.

Constraints on Relevant and Reliable Information

Timeliness

If there is an undue delay in the reporting of information it may lose its relevance. To
provide information on a timely basis it may often be necessary to report before all
aspects of a transaction are known, thus impairing reliability. Conversely, if
reporting is delayed until all aspects are known, the information may be highly
reliable but of little use to users who have had to make decisions in the interim. In
achieving a balance between relevance and reliability, the overriding consideration is
how best to satisfy the decision-making needs of users.

Balance between Benefit and Cost

The balance between benefit and cost is a pervasive constraint. The benefits derived
from information should exceed the cost of providing it. The evaluation of benefits
and costs is, however, substantially a matter of judgment. Furthermore, the costs do
not always fall on those users who enjoy the benefits. Benefits may also be enjoyed
by users other than those for whom the information was prepared. For these reasons,
it is difficult to apply a benefit-cost test in any particular case. Nevertheless,
standard-setters, as well as those responsible for the preparation of financial
statements and users of financial statements, should be aware of this constraint.

Balance between Qualitative Characteristics

In practice a balancing, or trade-off, between qualitative characteristics is often
necessary. Generally the aim is to achieve an appropriate balance among the
characteristics in order to meet the objectives of financial statements. The relative
importance of the characteristics in different cases is a matter of professional judgment.
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Implementation Guidance — Illustrative Financial Statement
Structure

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 1.
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IG1. The Standard sets out the components of financial statements and minimum
requirements for disclosure on the face of the statement of financial position
and the statement of financial performance as well as for the presentation of
changes in net assets/equity. It also describes further items that may be
presented either on the face of the relevant financial statement or in the notes.
This guidance provides simple examples of the ways in which the
requirements of the Standard for the presentation of the statement of financial
position, statement of financial performance and changes in net assets/equity
might be met. The order of presentation and the descriptions used for line
items should be changed when necessary in order to achieve a fair
presentation in each entity’s particular circumstances. For example, line items
of a public sector entity such as a defense department are likely to be
significantly different from those for a central bank.

IG2. The illustrative statement of financial position shows one way in which a
statement of financial position distinguishing between current and non-current
items may be presented. Other formats may be equally appropriate, provided
the distinction is clear.

IG3. The financial statements have been prepared for a national government and
the statement of financial performance (by function) illustrates the functions
of government classifications used in the Government Finance Statistics.
These functional classifications are unlikely to apply to all public sector
entities. Refer to this Standard for an example of more generic functional
classifications for other public sector entities.

IG4. The examples are not intended to illustrate all aspects of IPSASs. Nor do they
comprise a complete set of financial statements, which would also include a
cash flow statement, a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.
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PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITY - STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (EXTRACT)

Reporting Entity

These financial statements are for a public sector entity (national government of
Country A). The financial statements encompass the reporting entity as specified in
the relevant legislation (Public Finance Act 20XX). This comprises:

»  Central government ministries; and

»  Government Business Enterprises.

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements comply with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards for the accrual basis of accounting. The measurement base applied is
historical cost adjusted for revaluations of assets.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the
accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period.
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g
O
PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITY - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 5
POSITION »
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 20X2 %
(in thousands of currency units) %
20X2 20X1 o
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents X X
Receivables X X
Inventories X X
Prepayments X X
Other current assets X X
X X
Non-current assets
Receivables X X
Investments in associates X X
Other financial assets X X
Infrastructure, plant and equipment X X
Land and buildings X X
Intangible assets X X
Other non-financial assets X X
X X
Total assets X X
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables X X
Short-term borrowings X X
Current portion of long-term borrowings X X
Short-term provisions X X
Employee benefits X X
Superannuation X X
X X
Non-current liabilities
Payables X X
Long-term borrowings X X
Long-term provisions X X
Employee benefits X X
Superannuation X X
X X
Total liabilities X X
Net assets X X
NET ASSETS/EQUITY
Capital contributed by
Other government entities X X
Reserves X X
Accumulated surpluses/(deficits) X X
Minority interest X X
Total net assets/equity X X
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PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITY - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
20X2

(Hlustrating the Classification of Expenses by Function)
(in thousands of currency units)

20X2 20X1
Revenue
Taxes X X
Fees, fines, penalties and licenses X X
Revenue from exchange transactions X X
Transfers from other government entities X X
Other revenue X X
Total revenue X X
Expenses
General public services X) (X)
Defense ) X)
Public order and safety X) X)
Education X) X)
Health x) )
Social protection X) (X)
Housing and community amenities (X) X)
Recreational, cultural and religion X) X)
Economic affairs ) X)
Environmental protection xX) xX)
Other expenses (X) X)
Finance costs (X) (X)
Total expenses (X) (X)
Share of surplus of associates” X X
Surplus/(deficit) for the period X X
Attributable to:
Owners of the controlling entity X X
Minority interests X X

X X

This means the share of associates’ surplus attributable to owners of the associates, i.e., it is after tax
and minority interests in the associates.
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o
O
PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITY - STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 3
L
PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, n
O
20X2 %
(Mlustrating the Classification of Expenses by Nature) 2
(in thousands of currency units)
20X2 20X1
Revenue
Taxes X X
Fees, fines, penalties and licenses X X
Revenue from exchange transactions X X
Transfers from other government entities X X
Other revenue X X
Total Revenue X X
Expenses
Wages, salaries and employee benefits X) (X)
Grants and other transfer payments (X) X)
Supplies and consumables used X) (X)
Depreciation and amortization expense X) X)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment* X) X)
Other expenses (X) X)
Finance costs (X) (X)
Total Expenses (X) (X)
Share of surplus of associates X X
Surplus/(deficit) for the period X X
Attributable to:
Owners of the controlling entity X X
Minority interest X X
X X

In a statement of financial performance in which expenses are classified by nature, an impairment of
property, plant and equipment is shown as a separate line item. By contrast, if expenses are classified
by function, the impairment is included in the function(s) to which it relates.
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PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITY - STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS/EQUITY FOR THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20X1

(in thousands of currency units)

Balance at December 31, 20X0

Changes in accounting policy

Restated balance

Changes in net assets/equity for 20X1

Gain on property revaluation

Loss on revaluation of investments

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations
Net revenue recognized directly in net assets/equity

Surplus for the period

Total recognized revenue and expense for the period

Balance at December 31, 20X1 carried forward

1
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Minority Total net
Attributable to owners of the controlling entity interest assets/equity
Accumulated
Contributed Other  Trapslation Surpluses/
Capital Reserves!  Reserve (Deficits) Total
X X (X) X X X X
X) X) X) X)
X X X) X X X X
X X X X
) ) ) )
X) X) (X) X)
X X X X X
X X X X
(X) X X X
X X (X) X X X

Other reserves are analyzed into their components, if material.
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PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITY - STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS/EQUITY FOR THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20X1

Minority Total net
(in thousands of currency units) Attributable to owners of the controlling entity interest assets/equity
Accumulated
Contributed Other  Trapslation Surpluses/
Capital Reserves!  Reserve (Deficits) Total
continued
Balance at December 31, 20X1 brought forward X X X) X X X X
Changes in net assets/equity for 20X2
Loss on property revaluation (X) (X) X) X)
Gain on revaluation of investments X X X X
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (X) (X) (X) (X)
Net revenue recognized directly in net assets/equity (X) (X) (X) X) X)
Deficit for the period X) (X) X) X)
Total recognized revenue and expense for the period X) X) ) x) ) X)
Balance at December 31, 20X2 X X (X) X X X X
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 1. This Basis for
Conclusions only notes the IPSASB’s reasons for departing from the provisions of
the related International Accounting Standard.

Background

BC1.

BC2.

BC3.

BC4.

The IPSASB’s IFRSs convergence program is an important element in
IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to converge the accrual
basis IPSASs with IFRSs issued by the IASB where appropriate for public
sector entities.

Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS are not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
Comparison with IFRS included in each IPSAS.

In May 2002, the IASB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments to
13 1ASs! as part of its General Improvements Project. The objectives of the
IASB’s General Improvements Project were to reduce or eliminate
alternatives, redundancies and conflicts within the Standards, to deal with
some convergence issues and to make other improvements. The final 1ASs
were issued in December 2003.

IPSAS 1, issued in January 2000 was based on IAS 1 (revised 1997), which
was reissued in December 2003. In late 2003, the IPSASB’s predecessor, the
PSC 2, actioned an IPSAS improvements project to converge where
appropriate IPSASs with the improved IASs issued in December 2003. In
developing the IPSAS improvements project, the IPSASB adopted a policy of
making only those changes to IPSASs related to changes made to the
equivalent IAS as part of the IASB’s General Improvements Project,
subsequent changes to IASs have not been included. Where the original
IPSAS varied from the provisions of the related 1AS, to better cater for the
financial reporting requirements of the public sector, the IPSASB has retained
those variations and identified them in the Comparison with IAS 1.

1

IASs were issued by the IASB’s predecessor, the IASC. The Standards issued by the IASB are
entitled International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist
of IFRSs, IASs and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather

than replaced, the 1ASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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BC5. The IPSASB reviewed the improved IAS 1 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the IAS and with the amendments made. (The
IASB’s Basis for Conclusions is not reproduced here. Subscribers to the
IASB’s Comprehensive Subscription Service can view the Basis for
Conclusions on the IASB’s website at www.iasb.org). In some limited cases,
the IPSASB disagreed with the amendments made to the 1AS. Consequently,
the IPSAS departs from its equivalent 1AS in this respect. This Basis for
Conclusions explains the public sector specific reasons for any departure.
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BC6. IAS 1 has been further amended as a consequence of IFRSs issued after
December 2003. IPSAS 1 does not include the consequential amendments
arising from IFRSs issued after December 2003. This is because the IPSASB
has not yet reviewed and formed a view on the applicability of the
requirements in those IFRSs to public sector entities.

Income

BC7. IAS 1 uses the term income, which is not used in IPSAS 1. IPSAS 1 uses
revenue, which corresponds to income in the IASs/IFRSs. The term income is
broader than revenue, encompassing gains in addition to revenue. The IPSASs
do not include a definition of income and introducing such a definition was
not part of the improvements project and was not included in the ED 26.

Extraordinary ltems

BC8. 1AS 1 prohibits an entity from presenting any item of income or expense as
extraordinary items, either on the face of the income statement or in the notes.
The IASB concluded that items treated as extraordinary result from the
normal business risks faced by an entity and do not warrant presentation in a
separate component of the income statement. The nature or function of a
transaction or other event, rather than its frequency, should determine its
presentation within the income statement.

BC9. The definition of extraordinary items in IPSAS 1 (2000) differed from the
definition included in the previous (1993) version of 1AS 8, “Net Profit or
Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting
Policies.”3 This difference reflected the public sector view of what constituted
an extraordinary item for public sector entities.

BC10. The Standard does not explicitly preclude the presentation of items of revenue
and expense as extraordinary items either on the face of the statement of

3 IPSAS 1 (2000) defined extraordinary items as “revenue or expenses that arise from events or

transactions that are clearly distinct from the ordinary activities of the entity, are not expected to
recur frequently or regularly and are outside the control or influence of the entity.” 1AS 8 defined
“extraordinary items” as “income or expenses that arise from events or transactions that are clearly
distinct from the ordinary activities of the enterprise and therefore are not expected to recur
frequently or regularly.”
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financial performance or in the notes. 1AS 1 prohibits any items of income
and expense to be presented as extraordinary items either on the face of the
income statement or in the notes. The IPSASB is of the view that IPSASs
should not prohibit entities from disclosing extraordinary items in the notes to,
or on the face of, the statement of financial performance. This is because they
believe that the disclosure of information about extraordinary items may be
consistent with the objectives and qualitative characteristics of financial
reporting. However, other members are of the view that there is not a public
sector specific reason to depart from the requirements of IAS 1 in respect of
this matter. They also noted that IPSAS 1 does not preclude the separate
presentation of items that are distinct from the ordinary activities of a
government, either on the face of the financial statements or in the notes, as
long as these items are material. They are not convinced that there is a public
sector specific reason to depart from the IASB’s prohibition on presenting
“extraordinary items” in the financial statements.
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Comparison with IAS 1

IPSAS 1 is drawn primarily from I1AS 1 (2003). At the time of issuing this Standard,
the IPSASB has not considered the applicability of IFRS 5, “Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,” to public sector entities; therefore
IPSAS 1 does not reflect amendments made to IAS 1 consequent upon the issuing of
IFRS 5. The main differences between IPSAS 1 and IAS 1 are as follows:

Commentary additional to that in IAS 1 has been included in IPSAS 1 to clarify
the applicability of the Standards to accounting by public sector entities e.g.,
discussion on the application of the going concern concept has been expanded.

IAS 1 allows the presentation of either a statement showing all changes in net
assets/equity, or a statement showing changes in net assets/equity other than
those arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners
in their capacity as owners. IPSAS 1 requires the presentation of a statement
showing all changes in net assets/equity.

IPSAS 1 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 1. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms statement of financial
performance, statement of financial position and net assets/equity in IPSAS 1.
The equivalent terms in IAS 1 are income statement, balance sheet and equity.

IPSAS 1 does not use the term income, which in I1AS 1 has a broader meaning
than the term revenue.

IAS 1 defines “International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)” to
include IFRSs, 1ASs and SIC/IFRIC Interpretations. IPSAS 1 does not define
“International Public Sector Accounting Standards.”

IPSAS 1 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from 1AS 1
(paragraph 7).

IPSAS 1 contains commentary on the responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements. 1AS 1 does not include the same commentary (paragraphs
19-20).

IPSAS 1 uses the phrase the objective of financial statements set out in this
IPSAS to replace the equivalent phrase the objective of financial statement set
out in the Framework in IAS 1. This is because an equivalent Framework in
IPSASs does not exist.

IPSAS 1 contains commentary on timeliness of financial statements because of
the lack of an equivalent Framework in IPSASs (paragraph 69).

IPSAS 1 does not explicitly preclude the presentation of items of revenue and
expense as extraordinary items either on the face of the statement of financial
performance or in the notes. IAS 1 prohibits any items of income and expense
to be presented as extraordinary items either on the face of the income
statement or in the notes.
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« IPSAS 1 contains a transitional provision allowing the non-disclosure of items
which have been excluded from the financial statements due to the application
of a transitional provision in another IPSAS (paragraph 151).

« IPSAS1 contains an authoritative summary of qualitative characteristics
(based on the IASB framework) in Appendix B.
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Acknowledgment

This International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) is drawn primarily
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Objective

The cash flow statement identifies the sources of cash inflows, the items on which cash
was expended during the reporting period, and the cash balance as at the reporting date.
Information about the cash flows of an entity is useful in providing users of financial
statements with information for both accountability and decision making purposes.
Cash flow information allows users to ascertain how a public sector entity raised the
cash it required to fund its activities and the manner in which that cash was used. In
making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of resources, such as the
sustainability of the entity’s activities, users require an understanding of the timing and
certainty of cash flows. The objective of this Standard is to require the provision of
information about the historical changes in cash and cash equivalents of an entity by
means of a cash flow statement which classifies cash flows during the period from
operating, investing and financing activities.

Scope

1.  An entity which prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting should prepare a cash flow statement in
accordance with the requirements of this Standard and should present it
as an integral part of its financial statements for each period for which
financial statements are presented.

2. Information about cash flows may be useful to users of an entity’s financial
statements in assessing the entity’s cash flows, assessing the entity’s
compliance with legislation and regulations (including authorized budgets
where appropriate) and for making decisions about whether to provide
resources to, or enter into transactions with an entity. They are generally
interested in how the entity generates and uses cash and cash equivalents.
This is the case regardless of the nature of the entity’s activities and
irrespective of whether cash can be viewed as the product of the entity, as
may be the case with a public financial institution. Entities need cash for
essentially the same reasons, however different their principal revenue
producing activities might be. They need cash to pay for the goods and
services they consume, to meet ongoing debt servicing costs, and, in some
cases, to reduce levels of debt. Accordingly, this Standard requires all
entities to present a cash flow statement.

3. This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than
Government Business Enterprises (GBES).

4. The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by
the IPSASB explains that GBEs apply IFRSs which are issued by the IASB.
GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements.”
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Benefits of Cash Flow Information

5.

Information about the cash flows of an entity is useful in assisting users to
predict the future cash requirements of the entity, its ability to generate cash
flows in the future and to fund changes in the scope and nature of its
activities. A cash flow statement also provides a means by which an entity
can discharge its accountability for cash inflows and cash outflows during
the reporting period.

A cash flow statement, when used in conjunction with other financial
statements, provides information that enables users to evaluate the changes
in net assets/equity of an entity, its financial structure (including its liquidity
and solvency) and its ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows
in order to adapt to changing circumstances and opportunities. It also
enhances the comparability of the reporting of operating performance by
different entities because it eliminates the effects of using different
accounting treatments for the same transactions and other events.

Historical cash flow information is often used as an indicator of the amount,
timing and certainty of future cash flows. It is also useful in checking the
accuracy of past assessments of future cash flows.

Definitions

8.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Accrual basis means a basis of accounting under which transactions
and other events are recognized when they occur (and not only when
cash or its equivalent is received or paid). Therefore, the transactions
and events are recorded in the accounting records and recognized in
the financial statements of the periods to which they relate. The
elements recognized under the accrual basis are assets, liabilities, net
assets/equity, revenue and expenses.

Assets are resources controlled by an entity as a result of past events
and from which future economic benefits or service potential are
expected to flow to the entity.

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.

Contributions from owners means future economic benefits or service
potential that has been contributed to the entity by parties external to
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the entity, other than those that result in liabilities of the entity, that
establish a financial interest in the net assets/equity of the entity, which:

€)) Conveys entitlement both to distributions of future economic
benefits or service potential by the entity during its life, such
distributions being at the discretion of the owners or their
representatives, and to distributions of any excess of assets over
liabilities in the event of the entity being wound up; and/or

(b) Can be sold, exchanged, transferred or redeemed.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
another entity so as to benefit from its activities.

Distributions to owners means future economic benefits or service
potential distributed by the entity to all or some of its owners, either as
a return on investment or as a return of investment.

Economic_entity means a group of entities comprising a controlling
entity and one or more controlled entities.

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits or service potential during
the reporting period in the form of outflows or consumption of assets or
incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in net assets/equity,
other than those relating to distributions to owners.

Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and
composition of the contributed capital and borrowings of the entity.

Government Business Enterprise (GBEs) means an entity that has all
the following characteristics:

@ Is an entity with the power to contract in its own name;

(b) Has been assigned the financial and operational authority to
carry on a business;

(c) Sells goods and services, in the normal course of its business, to
other entities at a profit or full cost recovery;

(d) Is not reliant on continuing government funding to be a going
concern (other than purchases of outputs at arm’s length); and

(e) Is controlled by a public sector entity.

Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets
and other investments not included in cash equivalents.

Liabilities are present obligations of the entity arising from past events,
the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the
entity of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential.
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Net assets/equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after
deducting all its liabilities.

Operating activities are the activities of the entity that are not investing
or financing activities.

Reporting date means the date of the last day of the reporting period to
which the financial statements relate.

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential
during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in
net assets/equity, other than increases relating to contributions from
OWners.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those other Standards, and are reproduced in the
Glossary of Defined Terms published separately.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

9.

10.

11.

Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. For an
investment to qualify as a cash equivalent it must be readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and be subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Therefore, an investment normally qualifies as a cash equivalent only
when it has a short maturity of, say, three months or less from the date of
acquisition. Equity investments are excluded from cash equivalents unless
they are, in substance, cash equivalents.

Bank borrowings are generally considered to be financing activities.
However, in some countries, bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand form an integral part of an entity’s cash management. In these
circumstances, bank overdrafts are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents. A characteristic of such banking arrangements is that the
bank balance often fluctuates from being positive to overdrawn.

Cash flows exclude movements between items that constitute cash or cash
equivalents because these components are part of the cash management of
an entity rather than part of its operating, investing and financing activities.
Cash management includes the investment of excess cash in cash
equivalents.

Economic Entity

12.

13.

The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for financial
reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the controlling entity and
any controlled entities.

Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity and group.
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An economic entity may include entities with both social policy and
commercial objectives. For example, a government housing department
may be an economic entity which includes entities that provide housing for
a nominal charge, as well as entities that provide accommodation on a
commercial basis.

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential

15.

Assets provide a means for entities to achieve their objectives. Assets that
are used to deliver goods and services in accordance with an entity’s
objectives but which do not directly generate net cash inflows are often
described as embodying service potential. Assets that are used to generate
net cash inflows are often described as embodying future economic benefits.
To encompass all the purposes to which assets may be put, this Standard
uses the term future economic benefits or service potential to describe the
essential characteristic of assets.

Government Business Enterprises

16.

GBEs include both trading enterprises, such as utilities, and financial
enterprises, such as financial institutions. GBEs are, in substance, no
different from entities conducting similar activities in the private sector.
GBEs generally operate to make a profit, although some may have limited
community service obligations under which they are required to provide
some individuals and organizations in the community with goods and
services at either no charge or a significantly reduced charge. IPSAS 6,
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” provides guidance on
determining whether control exists for financial reporting purposes, and
should be referred to in determining whether a GBE is controlled by another
public sector entity.

Net Assets/Equity

17.

Net assets/equity is the term used in this Standard to refer to the residual
measure in the statement of financial position (assets less liabilities). Net
assets/equity may be positive or negative. Other terms may be used in place
of net assets/equity, provided that their meaning is clear.

Presentation of a Cash Flow Statement

18.

19.

IPSAS 2

The cash flow statement should report cash flows during the period
classified by operating, investing and financing activities.

An entity presents its cash flows from operating, investing and financing
activities in a manner which is most appropriate to its activities.
Classification by activity provides information that allows users to assess
the impact of those activities on the financial position of the entity and the
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amount of its cash and cash equivalents. This information may also be used
to evaluate the relationships among those activities.

A single transaction may include cash flows that are classified differently.
For example, when the cash repayment of a loan includes both interest and
capital, the interest element may be classified as an operating activity and
the capital element is classified as a financing activity.

Operating Activities

21.

22.

The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key
indicator of the extent to which the operations of the entity are funded:

(@) By way of taxes (directly and indirectly); or
(b) From the recipients of goods and services provided by the entity.

The amount of the net cash flows also assists in showing the ability of the
entity to maintain its operating capability, repay obligations, pay a dividend
or similar distribution to its owner and make new investments without
recourse to external sources of financing. The consolidated whole-of-
government operating cash flows provide an indication of the extent to
which a government has financed its current activities through taxation and
charges. Information about the specific components of historical operating
cash flows is useful, in conjunction with other information, in forecasting
future operating cash flows.

Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the
principal cash-generating activities of the entity. Examples of cash flows
from operating activities are:

@ Cash receipts from taxes, levies and fines;

(b) Cash receipts from charges for goods and services provided by the
entity;

(c) Cash receipts from grants or transfers and other appropriations or
other budget authority made by central government or other public
sector entities;

(d) Cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions and other revenue;

(e) Cash payments to other public sector entities to finance their
operations (not including loans);

()] Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;
(9) Cash payments to and on behalf of employees;

(h) Cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance entity for premiums
and claims, annuities and other policy benefits;
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0] Cash payments of local property taxes or income taxes (where
appropriate) in relation to operating activities;

0 Cash receipts and payments from contracts held for dealing or
trading purposes;

(k) Cash receipts or payments from discontinuing operations; and
mn Cash receipts or payments in relation to litigation settlements.

Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise to a
gain or loss which is included in the determination of net surplus or deficit.
However, the cash flows relating to such transactions are cash flows from
investing activities.

An entity may hold securities and loans for dealing or trading purposes, in
which case they are similar to inventory acquired specifically for resale.
Therefore, cash flows arising from the purchase and sale of dealing or
trading securities are classified as operating activities. Similarly, cash
advances and loans made by public financial institutions are usually
classified as operating activities since they relate to the main cash-
generating activity of that entity.

In some jurisdictions, governments or other public sector entities will
appropriate or authorize funds to entities to finance the operations of an
entity and no clear distinction is made for the disposition of those funds
between current activities, capital works and contributed capital. Where an
entity is unable to separately identify appropriations or budgetary
authorizations into current activities, capital works and contributed capital,
the appropriation or budget authorization should be classified as cash flows
from operations and this fact should be disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Investing Activities

25.

IPSAS 2

The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from investing activities is
important because the cash flows represent the extent to which cash outflows
have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the entity’s
future service delivery. Examples of cash flows arising from investing
activities are:

@ Cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment,
intangibles and other long-term assets. These payments include
those relating to capitalized development costs and self-constructed
property, plant and equipment;

(b) Cash receipts from sales of property, plant and equipment,
intangibles and other long-term assets;
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(c) Cash payments to acquire equity or debt instruments of other
entities and interests in joint ventures (other than payments for those
instruments considered to be cash equivalents or those held for
dealing or trading purposes);
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(d) Cash receipts from sales of equity or debt instruments of other
entities and interests in joint ventures (other than receipts for those
instruments considered to be cash equivalents and those held for
dealing or trading purposes);

(e) Cash advances and loans made to other parties (other than advances
and loans made by a public financial institution);

f Cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made to
other parties (other than advances and loans of a public financial
institution);

(9) Cash payments for futures contracts, forward contracts, option
contracts and swap contracts except when the contracts are held for
dealing or trading purposes, or the payments are classified as
financing activities; and

(h) Cash receipts from futures contracts, forward contracts, option
contracts and swap contracts except when the contracts are held for
dealing or trading purposes, or the receipts are classified as
financing activities.

When a contract is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position, the
cash flows of the contract are classified in the same manner as the cash
flows of the position being hedged.

Financing Activities

26. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from financing activities is
important because it is useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by
providers of capital to the entity. Examples of cash flows arising from
financing activities are:

@) Cash proceeds from issuing debentures, loans, notes, bonds,
mortgages and other short or long-term borrowings;

(b) Cash repayments of amounts borrowed; and

(c) Cash payments by a lessee for the reduction of the outstanding
liability relating to a finance lease.

Reporting Cash Flows from Operating Activities

27. An entity should report cash flows from operating activities using either:
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29.

30.
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(@  The direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts
and gross cash payments are disclosed; or

(b)  The indirect method, whereby net surplus or deficit is adjusted
for the effects of transactions of a noncash nature, any deferrals
or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or
payments, and items of revenue or expense associated with
investing or financing cash flows.

Entities are encouraged to report cash flows from operating activities using the
direct method. The direct method provides information which may be useful in
estimating future cash flows and which is not available under the indirect
method. Under the direct method, information about major classes of gross
cash receipts and gross cash payments may be obtained either:

€) From the accounting records of the entity; or

(b) By adjusting operating revenues, operating expenses (interest and
similar revenue, and interest expense and similar charges for a
public financial institution) and other items in the statement of
financial performance for:

0] Changes during the period in inventories and operating
receivables and payables;

(i) Other noncash items; and

(iii)  Other items for which the cash effects are investing or
financing cash flows.

Entities reporting cash flows from operating activities using the direct
method are also encouraged to provide a reconciliation of the surplus/deficit
from ordinary activities with the net cash flow from operating activities.
This reconciliation may be provided as part of the cash flow statement or in
the notes to the financial statements.

Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is
determined by adjusting net surplus or deficit from ordinary activities for
the effects of:

€)) Changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables
and payables;

(b) Noncash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes,
unrealized foreign currency gains and losses, undistributed
surpluses of associates, and minority interests;

(c)  All other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing
cash flows; and
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(d)  The impact of any extraordinary items which are classified as
operating cash flows.

Reporting Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities

31.

An entity should report separately major classes of gross cash receipts
and gross cash payments arising from investing and financing activities,
except to the extent that cash flows described in paragraphs 32 and 35
are reported on a net basis.

Reporting Cash Flows on a Net Basis

32.

33.

34.

35.

Cash flows arising from the following operating, investing or financing
activities may be reported on a net basis:

@ Cash receipts collected and payments made on behalf of
customers, taxpayers or beneficiaries when the cash flows
reflect the activities of the other party rather than those of the
entity; and

(b) Cash receipts and payments for items in which the turnover is
quick, the amounts are large, and the maturities are short.

Paragraph 32(a) refers only to transactions where the resulting cash
balances are controlled by the reporting entity. Examples of such cash
receipts and payments include:

(@)  The collection of taxes by one level of government for another level
of government, not including taxes collected by a government for its
own use as part of a tax sharing arrangement;

(b)  The acceptance and repayment of demand deposits of a public
financial institution;

(c) Funds held for customers by an investment or trust entity; and

(d) Rents collected on behalf of, and paid over to, the owners of
properties.

Examples of cash receipts and payments referred to in paragraph 32(b) are
advances made for, and the repayment of:

(@)  The purchase and sale of investments; and

(b) Other short-term borrowings, for example, those which have a
maturity period of three months or less.

Cash flows arising from each of the following activities of a public
financial institution may be reported on a net basis:

€)) Cash receipts and payments for the acceptance and repayment
of deposits with a fixed maturity date;
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(b)  The placement of deposits with and withdrawal of deposits from
other financial institutions; and

(c) Cash advances and loans made to customers and the repayment
of those advances and loans.

Foreign Currency Cash Flows

36.

37.

38.

39.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency shall be
recorded in an entity’s functional currency by applying to the foreign
currency amount the exchange rate between the functional currency
and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

The cash flows of a foreign controlled entity shall be translated at the
exchange rates between the functional currency and the foreign
currency at the dates of the cash flows.

Cash flows denominated in a foreign currency are reported in a manner
consistent with IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates.” This permits the use of an exchange rate that approximates the
actual rate. For example, a weighted average exchange rate for a period
may be used for recording foreign currency transactions or the translation of
the cash flows of a foreign controlled entity. IPSAS 4 does not permit the
use of the exchange rate at reporting date when translating the cash flows of
a foreign controlled entity.

Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates are not cash flows. However, the effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash equivalents held or due in a foreign currency is
reported in the cash flow statement in order to reconcile cash and cash
equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. This amount is
presented separately from cash flows from operating, investing and
financing activities and includes the differences, if any, had those cash
flows been reported at end of period exchange rates.

Interest and Dividends

40.

41.

42,

IPSAS 2

Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid should each
be disclosed separately. Each should be classified in a consistent manner
from period to period as either operating, investing or financing
activities.

The total amount of interest paid during a period is disclosed in the cash
flow statement whether it has been recognized as an expense in the
statement of financial performance or capitalized in accordance with the
allowed alternative treatment in IPSAS 5, “Borrowing Costs.”

Interest paid and interest and dividends received are usually classified as
operating cash flows for a public financial institution. However, there is no
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consensus on the classification of these cash flows for other entities.
Interest paid and interest and dividends received may be classified as
operating cash flows because they enter into the determination of net
surplus or deficit. Alternatively, interest paid and interest and dividends
received may be classified as financing cash flows and investing cash flows
respectively, because they are costs of obtaining financial resources or
returns on investments.

Dividends paid may be classified as a financing cash flow because they are
a cost of obtaining financial resources. Alternatively, dividends paid may be
classified as a component of cash flows from operating activities in order to
assist users to determine the ability of an entity to make these payments out
of operating cash flows.

Taxes on Net Surplus

44,

45,

46.

Cash flows arising from taxes on net surplus should be separately
disclosed and should be classified as cash flows from operating activities
unless they can be specifically identified with financing and investing
activities.

Public sector entities are generally exempt from taxes on net surpluses.
However, some public sector entities may operate under tax equivalent
regimes where taxes are levied in the same way as they are on private sector
entities.

Taxes on net surplus arise from transactions that give rise to cash flows that
are classified as operating, investing or financing activities in a cash flow
statement. While tax expense may be readily identifiable with investing or
financing activities, the related tax cash flows are often impracticable to
identify and may arise in a different period from the cash flows of the
underlying transaction. Therefore, taxes paid are usually classified as cash
flows from operating activities. However, when it is practicable to identify
the tax cash flow with an individual transaction that gives rise to cash flows
that are classified as investing or financing activities the tax cash flow is
classified as an investing or financing activity as appropriate. When tax
cash flows are allocated over more than one class of activity, the total
amount of taxes paid is disclosed.

Investments in Controlled Entities, Associates and Joint VVentures

47,

48.

When accounting for an investment in an associate or a controlled entity
accounted for by use of the equity or cost method, an investor restricts its
reporting in the cash flow statement to the cash flows between itself and the
investee, for example, to dividends and advances.

An entity which reports its interest in a jointly controlled entity using
proportionate consolidation, includes in its consolidated cash flow statement
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its proportionate share of the jointly controlled entity’s cash flows. An entity
which reports such an interest using the equity method includes in its cash
flow statement the cash flows in respect of its investments in the jointly
controlled entity, and distributions and other payments or receipts between it
and the jointly controlled entity.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Controlled Entities and Other
Operating Units

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

IPSAS 2

The aggregate cash flows arising from acquisitions and from disposals
of controlled entities or other operating units should be presented
separately and classified as investing activities.

An entity should disclose, in aggregate, in respect of both acquisitions
and disposals of controlled entities or other operating units during the
period, each of the following:

(@)  The total purchase or disposal consideration;

(b)  The portion of the purchase or disposal consideration
discharged by means of cash and cash equivalents;

(¢)  The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the controlled entity
or operating unit acquired or disposed of; and

(d)  The amount of the assets and liabilities other than cash or cash
equivalents recognized by the controlled entity or operating unit
acquired or disposed of, summarized by each major category.

The separate presentation of the cash flow effects of acquisitions and
disposals of controlled entities and other operating units as single line
items, together with the separate disclosure of the amounts of assets and
liabilities acquired or disposed of, helps to distinguish those cash flows
from the cash flows arising from the other operating, investing and
financing activities. The cash flow effects of disposals are not deducted
from those acquisitions.

The aggregate amount of the cash paid or received as purchase or sale
consideration is reported in the cash flow statement net of cash and cash
equivalents acquired or disposed of.

Assets and liabilities other than cash or cash equivalents of a controlled
entity or operating unit acquired or disposed of are only required to be
disclosed where the controlled entity or unit had previously recognized
those assets or liabilities. For example, where a public sector entity which
prepares reports under the cash basis is acquired by another public sector
entity, the acquiring entity would not be required to disclose the assets and
liabilities (other than cash and cash equivalents) of the entity acquired as
that entity would not have recognized noncash assets or liabilities.

96



CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Noncash Transactions

54.

55.

Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash
or cash equivalents should be excluded from a cash flow statement. Such
transactions should be disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements in
a way that provides all the relevant information about these investing
and financing activities.

Many investing and financing activities do not have a direct impact on
current cash flows although they do affect the capital and asset structure of
an entity. The exclusion of noncash transactions from the cash flow
statement is consistent with the objective of a cash flow statement as these
items do not involve cash flows in the current period. Examples of noncash
transactions are:

(@  The acquisition of assets through the exchange of assets, the
assumption of directly related liabilities or by means of a finance
lease; and

(b)  The conversion of debt to equity.

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents

56.

57.

58.

An entity should disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents
and should present a reconciliation of the amounts in its cash flow
statement with the equivalent items reported in the statement of
financial position.

In view of the variety of cash management practices and banking
arrangements around the world and in order to comply with IPSAS 1 an
entity discloses the policy which it adopts in determining the composition
of cash and cash equivalents.

The effect of any change in the policy for determining components of cash
and cash equivalents, for example, a change in the classification of financial
instruments previously considered to be part of an entity’s investment
portfolio, is reported in accordance with IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.”

Other Disclosures

59.

60.

An entity should disclose, together with a commentary by management
in the notes to the financial statements, the amount of significant cash
and cash equivalent balances held by the entity that are not available for
use by the economic entity.

There are various circumstances in which cash and cash equivalent balances
held by an entity are not available for use by the economic entity. Examples
include cash and cash equivalent balances held by a controlled entity that
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61.

62.

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

operates in a country where exchange controls or other legal restrictions
apply when the balances are not available for general use by the controlling
entity or other controlled entities.

Additional information may be relevant to users in understanding the
financial position and liquidity of an entity. Disclosure of this information,
together with a description in the notes to the financial statements, is
encouraged and may include:

(@  The amount of undrawn borrowing facilities that may be available
for future operating activities and to settle capital commitments,
indicating any restrictions on the use of these facilities;

(b)  The aggregate amounts of the cash flows from each of operating,
investing and financing activities related to interests in joint
ventures reported using proportionate consolidation; and

(c)  The amount and nature of restricted cash balances.

Where appropriations or budget authorizations are prepared on a cash basis,
the cash flow statement may assist users in understanding the relationship
between the entity’s activities or programs and the government’s budgetary
information. Refer to IPSAS 1 for a brief discussion of the comparison of
actual and budgeted figures.

Effective Date

63.

64.

IPSAS 2

This IPSAS becomes effective for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2001. Earlier application is
encouraged.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by
IPSASs, for financial reporting purposes, subsequent to this effective date,
this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after the date of adoption.
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Cash Flow Statement (For an Entity Other Than a Financial
Institution)
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This appendix is illustrative only and does not form part of the standards. The
purpose of this appendix is to illustrate the application of the standards to assist in
clarifying their meaning.

Direct Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(a))

Public Sector Entity—Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended
December 31 20X2 (In Thousands of Currency Units)

20X2 20X1
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Taxation X X
Sales of goods and services X X
Grants X X
Interest received X X
Other receipts X X
Payments
Employee costs X) X)
Superannuation (X) X)
Suppliers X) xX)
Interest paid x) X)
Other payments (X) (X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of plant and equipment x) X)
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment X X
Proceeds from sale of investments X X
Purchase of foreign currency securities (X) (X)
Net cash flows from investing activities X) X)
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings X X
Repayment of borrowings (X) )
Distribution/dividend to government (X) (X)
Net cash flows from financing activities X X
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents X X
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period X X
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period X X

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

(@)

(b)

(©)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents
included in the cash flow statement comprise the following statement of
financial position amounts:

20X2 20X1
Cash on hand and balances with banks X X
Short-term investments X X
X X

The entity has undrawn borrowing facilities of X, of which X must be used on
infrastructure projects.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the period, the economic entity acquired property, plant and equipment
with an aggregate cost of X of which X was acquired by means of capital
grants by the national government. Cash payments of X were made to
purchase property, plant and equipment.

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities to Net
Surplus/(Deficit) from Ordinary Activities (in thousands of currency units)
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Direct Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(a)) %
Notes to the Cash Flow Statement O
—
(d)  Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities to Surplus/ %
(Deficit) a

(in thousands of currency units) 20X2 20X1

Surplus/(deficit) from ordinary activities X X

Noncash movements

Depreciation X X
Amortization X X
Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X
Increase in payables X X
Increase in borrowings X X
Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X
(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and X X)
equipment

(Gains)/losses on sale of investments X) X)
Increase in other current assets X) X)
Increase in investments due to revaluation X) X)
Increase in receivables X) X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X
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Indirect Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(b))

Public Sector Entity—Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended
December 31, 20X2 (In Thousands of Currency Units)

(in thousands of currency units) 20X2 20X1
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

Surplus/(deficit) X X
Noncash movements

Depreciation X X
Amortization X X
Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X
Increase in payables X X
Increase in borrowings X X
Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X
(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and X) X)
equipment

(Gains)/losses on sale of investments X) X)
Increase in other current assets X) X)
Increase in investments due to revaluation X) X)
Increase in receivables X) X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X
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Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
(@ Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents
included in the cash flow statement comprise the following statement of
financial position amounts:
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20X2 20X1
Cash on hand and balances with banks X X
Short-term investments X X
X X

The entity has undrawn borrowing facilities of X, of which X must be used on
infrastructure projects.

(b)  Property, Plant and Equipment

During the period, the economic entity acquired property, plant and equipment
with an aggregate cost of X of which X was acquired by means of capital
grants by the national government. Cash payments of X were made to
purchase property, plant and equipment.
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Comparison with IAS 7

IPSAS 2, “Cash Flow Statements,” is drawn primarily from IAS 7, “Cash
Flow Statements.” The main differences between IPSAS 2 and IAS 7 are as
follows:

Commentary additional to that in IAS 7 has been included in IPSAS 2 to
clarify the applicability of the standards to accounting by public sector
entities.

IPSAS 2 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 7.
The most significant examples are the use of the terms entity, revenue,
statement of financial performance, statement of financial position and
net assets/equity in IPSAS2. The equivalent terms in IAS7 are
enterprise, income, income statement, balance sheet and equity.

IPSAS 2 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from
IAS 7 (paragraph 8).

In common with IAS 7, IPSAS 2 allows either the direct or indirect
method to be used to present cash flows from operating activities. Where
the direct method is used to present cash flows from operating activities,
IPSAS 2 encourages disclosure of a reconciliation of surplus or deficit to
operating cash flows in the notes to the financial statements
(paragraph 29).

The Appendix to IPSAS 2 does not include an illustration of a Cash Flow
Statement for a financial institution.
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IPSAS 3—ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS
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from International Accounting Standard (IAS)8 (Revised December 2003),
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” published by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Extracts from IAS 8 are
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IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” is set
out in paragraphs 1-61 and the Appendix. All the paragraphs have equal authority.
IPSAS 3 should be read in the context of its objective and the Basis for Conclusions,
and the “Preface to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards.”
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

Introduction

IN1. IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Estimates and Errors,” replaces
IPSAS 3, “Net Surplus or Deficit for the Period, Fundamental Errors and
Changes in Accounting Policies” (issued May 2000), and should be applied
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier
application is encouraged.

Reasons for Revising IPSAS 3

IN2. The IPSASB developed this revised IPSAS 3 as a response to the IASB’s
project on Improvement to International Accounting Standards and its own
policy to converge public sector accounting standards with private sector
standards to the extent appropriate.

IN3. In developing this revised IPSAS 3, the IPSASB adopted the policy of
amending the IPSAS for those changes made to the former 1AS 8, “Net Profit
or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting
Policies” made as a consequence of the IASB’s improvements project, except
where the original IPSAS had varied from the provisions of IAS 8 for a
public sector specific reason; such variances are retained in this IPSAS 3 and
are noted in the Comparison with 1AS 8. Any changes to IAS 8 made
subsequent to the IASB’s improvements project have not been incorporated
into IPSAS 3.

Changes from Previous Requirements

IN4. The main changes from the previous version of IPSAS 3 are described below.

Name of Standard

IN5. The Standard is called “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors.”

Scope

IN6. The Standard includes criteria for the selection of accounting policies that
were previously contained in IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial
Statements”; and

IN7. The Standard does not contain requirements on the presentation of items in
the statement of financial performance, which are now included in IPSAS 1.

Definitions

IN8. The Standard defines new terms: change in accounting estimate, prior period
errors, prospective application, retrospective application and retrospective
restatement, impracticable, material and notes.
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IN9. The Standard does not include definitions of the terms: extraordinary items,
ordinary activities, net surplus/deficit, and surplus/deficit from ordinary
activities, which are no longer required.

Materiality
IN10. The Standard stipulates that:

. The accounting policies in IPSASs need not be applied when the effect
of applying them is immaterial; and

. Financial statements do not comply with IPSASs if they contain
material errors.

Net Surplus or Deficit for the Period

IN11. The Standard does not include the requirements for the presentation of
surplus or deficit for the period that were included in the superseded IPSAS 3,
these requirements are now included in IPSAS 1.

Accounting Policies

IN12. The Standard specifies the hierarchy of IPSASB’s pronouncements, and
authoritative and non-mandatory guidance, to be considered when selecting
accounting policies to apply in the preparation of financial statements. The
new hierarchy is now established as a principle and printed in bold type.

IN13. The Standard does not include the allowed alternative treatments for changes
in accounting policies (including voluntary changes) that were included in the
superseded IPSAS 3. An entity is now required (where practicable) to account
for changes in accounting policies retrospectively.

Errors

IN14. The Standard does not distinguish between fundamental errors and other
material errors.

IN15. The Standard does not include the allowed alternative treatments for the
correction of errors that were included in the superseded IPSAS 3. An entity
is now required to correct (where practicable) material prior period errors
retrospectively in the first set of financial statements authorized for issue after
their discovery.

Criteria for Exemptions from Requirements (Impracticability)

IN16. The Standard requires that when it is impracticable to determine the
cumulative effect, at the beginning of the current period, of:

. Applying a new accounting policy to all prior periods, or

. An error on all prior periods,
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

The entity changes the comparative information as if the new accounting
policy had always been applied; or the error had been corrected, prospectively
from the earliest date practicable.

IN17. The Standard includes guidance on the interpretation of impracticable.

Disclosures

IN18. The Standard requires more detailed and additional disclosure of the amounts
of adjustments as a consequence of changing accounting policies or
correcting prior period errors than was required by the superseded IPSAS 3.

IN19. The Standard requires, rather than encourages the disclosure of:

. An impending change in accounting policy when an entity has yet to
adopt a new IPSAS which has been published but not yet come into
effect; and

. Known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the
possible impact that application of the new IPSAS will have on the
entity’s financial statements in the period of initial application.

Amendments to Other Pronouncements

IN20. The Standard includes an authoritative appendix of amendments to other
IPSASs that are not part of the IPSASs Improvements project and will be
impacted as a result of the proposals in this IPSAS.

IPSAS 3 110



ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

IPSAS 3—ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

Objective

1.

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the criteria for selecting and
changing accounting policies, together with the accounting treatment and
disclosure of changes in accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates
and the corrections of errors. This Standard is intended to enhance the
relevance and reliability of an entity’s financial statements, and the
comparability of those financial statements over time and with the financial
statements of other entities.

Disclosure requirements for accounting policies, except those for changes in
accounting policies, are set out in IPSAS 1.

Scope

3.

This Standard shall be applied in selecting and applying accounting
policies, and accounting for changes in accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and corrections of prior period errors.

The tax effects of corrections of prior period errors and of retrospective
adjustments made to apply changes in accounting policies are not considered
in this Standard as they are not relevant for many public sector entities.
International or national accounting standards dealing with income taxes
contain guidance on the treatment of tax effects.

This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than Government
Business Enterprises.

The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by
the IPSASB explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) apply
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) which are issued by the
IASB. GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1.

Definitions

7.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules
and practices applied by an entity in preparing and presenting financial
statements.

Accrual basis means a basis of accounting under which transactions,
other events and conditions are recognized when they occur (and not only
when cash or its equivalent is received or paid). Therefore, the
transactions, other events and conditions are recorded in the accounting
records and recognized in the financial statements of the periods to which
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

they relate. The elements recognized under accrual accounting are assets,
liabilities, net assets/equity, revenue and expenses.

A change in accounting estimate is an adjustment of the carrying amount
of an asset or a liability, or the amount of the periodic consumption of an
asset, that results from the assessment of the present status of, and
expected future benefits and obligations associated with, assets and
liabilities. Changes in accounting estimates result from new information
or new developments and, accordingly, are not correction of errors.

Impracticable. Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity
cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so. For a
particular prior period, it is impracticable to apply a change in an
accounting policy retrospectively or to make a retrospective restatement
to correct an error if:

() The effects of the retrospective application or retrospective
restatement are not determinable;

(b)  The retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires
assumptions about what management’s intent would have been in
that period; or

(c)  The retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires
significant estimates of amounts and it is impossible to distinguish
objectively information about those estimates that:

(i)  Provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the
date(s) as at which those amounts are to be recognized,
measured or disclosed; and

(i)  Would have been available when the financial statements for
that prior period were authorized for issue

from other information.

Material Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could,
individually or collectively, influence the decisions or assessments of users
made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the
nature or size of the omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding
circumstances. The nature or size of the item, or a combination of both,
could be the determining factor.

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity’s
financial statements for one or more prior periods arising from a failure
to use, or misuse of, reliable information that:

() Was available when financial statements for those periods were
authorized for issue; and
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(b)  Could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken
into account in the preparation and presentation of those financial
statements.

Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in
applying accounting policies, oversights or misinterpretations of facts,
and fraud.

Prospective application of a change in accounting policy and of recognizing
the effect of a change in an accounting estimate, respectively, are:

() Applying the new accounting policy to transactions, other events
and conditions occurring after the date as at which the policy is
changed; and

(b)  Recognizing the effect of the change in the accounting estimate in
the current and future periods affected by the change.

Retrospective application is applying a new accounting policy to
transactions, other events and conditions as if that policy had always

been applied.

Retrospective restatement is correcting the recognition, measurement
and disclosure of amounts of elements of financial statements as if a prior
period error had never occurred.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary
of Defined Terms published separately.

Materiality

8.

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence decisions of
users, and so be material, requires consideration of the characteristics of those
users. Users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of the public sector
and economic activities and accounting and a willingness to study the
information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the assessment needs to
take into account how users with such attributes could reasonably be expected
to be influenced in making and evaluating decisions.

Accounting Policies

Selection and Application of Accounting Policies

9.

10.

When an IPSAS specifically applies to a transaction, other event or
condition, the accounting policy or policies applied to that item shall be
determined by applying the Standard and considering any relevant
Implementation Guidance issued by the IPSASB for the Standard.

IPSASs set out accounting policies that the IPSASB has concluded result in
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about the
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11.

12.

13.

14,

15.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

transactions, other events and conditions to which they apply. Those policies
need not be applied when the effect of applying them is immaterial. However,
it is inappropriate to make, or leave uncorrected, immaterial departures from
IPSASs to achieve a particular presentation of an entity’s financial position,
financial performance or cash flows.

Implementation Guidance for Standards issued by the IPSASB does not form
part of those Standards, and therefore does not contain requirements for
financial statements.

In the absence of an IPSAS that specifically applies to a transaction,
other event or condition, management shall use its judgment in
developing and applying an accounting policy that results in information
that is:

() Relevant to the decision-making needs of users; and
(b)  Reliable, in that the financial statements:

(i) Represent faithfully the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of the entity;

(i)  Reflect the economic substance of transactions, other events
and conditions and not merely the legal form;

(iii)  Are neutral i.e., free from bias;
(iv) Are prudent; and
(v)  Are complete in all material respects.

Paragraph 12 requires the development of accounting policies to ensure that
the financial statements provide information that meets a number of
qualitative characteristics. Appendix B in IPSAS 1 summarizes the qualitative
characteristics of financial reporting.

In making the judgment, described in paragraph 12, management shall
refer to, and consider the applicability of, the following sources in
descending order:

() The requirements and guidance in IPSASs dealing with similar
and related issues; and

(b)  The definitions, recognition and measurement criteria for assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses described in other IPSASs.

In making the judgment described in paragraph 12, management may
also consider the most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting
bodies and accepted public or private sector practices to the extent, but
only to the extent, that these do not conflict with the sources in
paragraph 14. For example, pronouncements of the IASB, including the
“Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
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Statements,” IFRSs and Interpretations issued by the IASB’s
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or
the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

Consistency of Accounting Policies

16.

An entity shall select and apply its accounting policies consistently for
similar transactions, other events and conditions, unless an IPSAS
specifically requires or permits categorization of items for which
different policies may be appropriate. If a Standard requires or permits
such categorization, an appropriate accounting policy shall be selected
and applied consistently to each category.

Changes in Accounting Policies

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

An entity shall change an accounting policy only if the change:
(a) Isrequired by an IPSAS; or

(b)  Results in the financial statements providing reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of transactions, other events
and conditions on the entity’s financial position, financial
performance or cash flows.

Users of financial statements need to be able to compare the financial
statements of an entity over time to identify trends in its financial position,
performance and cash flows. Therefore, the same accounting policies are
applied within each period and from one period to the next unless a change in
accounting policy meets one of the criteria in paragraph 17.

A change from one basis of accounting to another basis of accounting is a
change in accounting policy.

A change in the accounting treatment, recognition or measurement of a
transaction, event or condition within a basis of accounting is regarded as
a change in accounting policy.

The following are not changes in accounting policies:

() The application of an accounting policy for transactions, other
events or conditions that differ in substance from those previously
occurring; and

(b)  The application of a new accounting policy for transactions, other
events or conditions that did not occur previously or that were
immaterial.

The initial application of a policy to revalue assets in accordance with
IPSAS 17, “Property, Plant and Equipment” or the relevant
international or national accounting standard dealing with intangible
assets is a change in accounting policy to be dealt with as a revaluation in
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accordance with IPSAS 17 or that relevant Standard, rather than in
accordance with this Standard.

Paragraphs 24—36 do not apply to the change in accounting policy described
in paragraph 22.

Applying Changes in Accounting Policies

24,

25.

26.

Subject to paragraph 28:

()  An entity shall account for a change in accounting policy resulting
from the initial application of an IPSAS in accordance with the
specific transitional provisions, if any, in that Standard; and

(b)) When an entity changes an accounting policy upon initial
application of an IPSAS that does not include specific transitional
provisions applying to that change, or changes an accounting
policy voluntarily, it shall apply the change retrospectively.

For the purpose of this IPSAS, early application of a Standard is not a
voluntary change in accounting policy.

In the absence of an IPSAS that specifically applies to a transaction, other event
or condition, management may, in accordance with paragraph 15, apply an
accounting policy from the most recent pronouncements of other standard
setting bodies and accepted public or private sector practices to the extent, but
only to the extent, that these are consistent with paragraph 14. For example,
pronouncements of the IASB, including the “Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements”, IFRSs and Interpretations issued by the
IFRIC or the former SIC. If, following an amendment of such a pronouncement,
the entity chooses to change an accounting policy, that change is accounted for
and disclosed as a voluntary change in accounting policy.

Retrospective Application

217.

Subject to paragraph 28, when a change in accounting policy is applied
retrospectively in accordance with paragraph 24(a) or (b), the entity shall
adjust the opening balance of each affected component of net
assets/equity for the earliest period presented and the other comparative
amounts disclosed for each prior period presented as if the new
accounting policy had always been applied.

Limitations on Retrospective Application

28.

When retrospective application is required by paragraph 24(a) or (b), a
change in accounting policy shall be applied retrospectively except to the
extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period specific
effects or the cumulative effect of the change.
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When it is impracticable to determine the period specific effects of
changing an accounting policy on comparative information for one or
more prior periods presented, the entity shall apply the new accounting
policy to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the beginning
of the earliest period for which retrospective application is practicable,
which may be the current period, and shall make a corresponding
adjustment to the opening balance of each affected component of net
assets/equity for that period.

When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect, at the
beginning of the current period, of applying a new accounting policy to
all prior periods, the entity shall adjust the comparative information to
apply the new accounting policy prospectively from the earliest date
practicable.

When an entity applies a new accounting policy retrospectively, it applies the
new accounting policy to comparative information for prior periods as far
back as is practicable. Retrospective application to a prior period is not
practicable unless it is practicable to determine the cumulative effect on the
amounts in both the opening and closing statement of financial positions for
that period. The amount of the resulting adjustment relating to periods before
those presented in the financial statements is made to the opening balance of
each affected component of net assets/equity of the earliest prior period
presented. Usually the adjustment is made to accumulated surpluses or
deficits. However, the adjustment may be made to another component of net
assets/equity (for example, to comply with an IPSAS). Any other information
about prior periods, such as historical summaries of financial data, is also
adjusted as far back as is practicable.

When it is impracticable for an entity to apply a new accounting policy
retrospectively, because it cannot determine the cumulative effect of applying
the policy to all prior periods, the entity, in accordance with paragraph 30,
applies the new policy prospectively from the start of the earliest period
practicable. It therefore disregards the portion of the cumulative adjustment to
assets, liabilities and net assets/equity arising before that date. Changing an
accounting policy is permitted even if it is impracticable to apply the policy
prospectively for any prior period. Paragraphs 55-58 provide guidance when it
is impracticable to apply a new accounting policy to one or more prior periods.

Disclosure

33.

When initial application of an IPSAS has an effect on the current period
or any prior period, would have such an effect except that it is
impracticable to determine the amount of the adjustment, or might have
an effect on future periods, an entity shall disclose:

(@)  The title of the Standard;
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(b)

(©
(d)
(€)

®

(9)

(h)

When applicable, that the change in accounting policy is made in
accordance with its transitional provisions;

The nature of the change in accounting policy;
When applicable, a description of the transitional provisions;

When applicable, the transitional provisions that might have an
effect on future periods;

For the current period and each prior period presented, to the
extent practicable, the amount of the adjustment for each financial
statement line item affected;

The amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those
presented, to the extent practicable; and

If retrospective application required by paragraph 24(a) or (b) is
impracticable for a particular prior period, or for periods before
those presented, the circumstances that led to the existence of that
condition and a description of how and from when the change in
accounting policy has been applied.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these
disclosures.

34.  When a voluntary change in accounting policy has an effect on the
current period or any prior period, would have an effect on that period
except that it is impracticable to determine the amount of the
adjustment, or might have an effect on future periods, an entity shall

disclose:

() The nature of the change in accounting policy;

(b) The reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides
reliable and more relevant information;

(c) For the current period and each prior period presented, to the
extent practicable, the amount of the adjustment for each financial
statement line item affected;

(d) The amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those
presented, to the extent practicable; and

(e)  If retrospective application is impracticable for a particular prior

period, or for periods before those presented, the circumstances
that led to the existence of that condition and a description of how
and from when the change in accounting policy has been applied.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these
disclosures.
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When an entity has not applied a new IPSAS that has been issued but is
not yet effective, the entity shall disclose:

(@)
(b)

This fact; and

Known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing
the possible impact that application of the new Standard will have
on the entity’s financial statements in the period of initial
application.

In complying with paragraph 35, an entity considers disclosing:

(@)
(b)
(©
(d)
(€)

The title of the new IPSAS;

The nature of the impending change or changes in accounting policy;
The date by which application of the Standard is required;

The date as at which it plans to apply the Standard initially; and
Either:

(i) A discussion of the impact that initial application of the
Standard is expected to have on the entity’s financial statements;
or

(if)  If that impact is not known or reasonably estimable, a statement
to that effect.

Changes in Accounting Estimates

37.

38.

As a result of the uncertainties inherent in delivering services, conducting
trading or other activities, many items in financial statements cannot be
measured with precision but can only be estimated. Estimation involves
judgments based on the latest available, reliable information. For example,
estimates may be required, of:

(@)
(b)
(©
(d)
©

®

Tax revenue due to government;

Bad debts arising from uncollected taxes;

Inventory obsolescence;

The fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities;

The useful lives of, or expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits or service potential embodied in depreciable assets,
or the percentage completion of road construction; and

Warranty obligations.

The use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of the preparation of
financial statements and does not undermine their reliability.
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An estimate may need revision if changes occur in the circumstances on
which the estimate was based or as a result of new information or more
experience. By its nature, the revision of an estimate does not relate to prior
periods and is not the correction of an error.

A change in the measurement basis applied is a change in an accounting
policy, and is not a change in an accounting estimate. When it is difficult to
distinguish a change in an accounting policy from a change in an accounting
estimate, the change is treated as a change in an accounting estimate.

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate, other than a change to
which paragraph 42 applies, shall be recognized prospectively by
including it in surplus or deficit in:

(@) The period of the change, if the change affects the period only; or

(b)  The period of the change and future periods, if the change affects
both.

To the extent that a change in an accounting estimate gives rise to
changes in assets and liabilities, or relates to an item of net assets/equity,
it shall be recognized by adjusting the carrying amount of the related
asset, liability or net assets/equity item in the period of change.

Prospective recognition of the effect of a change in an accounting estimate
means that the change is applied to transactions, other events and conditions
from the date of the change in estimate. A change in an accounting estimate may
affect only the current period’s surplus or deficit, or the surplus or deficit of both
the current period and future periods. For example, a change in the estimate of
the amount of bad debts affects only the current period’s surplus or deficit and
therefore is recognized in the current period. However, a change in the estimated
useful life of, or the expected pattern of consumption of economic benefits or
service potential embodied in a depreciable asset affects the depreciation
expense for the current period and for each future period during the asset’s
remaining useful life. In both cases, the effect of the change relating to the
current period is recognized as revenue or expense in the current period. The
effect, if any, on future periods is recognized in future periods.

Disclosure

44,

45,

An entity shall disclose the nature and amount of a change in an
accounting estimate that has an effect in the current period or is expected
to have an effect on future periods, except for the disclosure of the effect
on future periods when it is impracticable to estimate that effect.

If the amount of the effect in future periods is not disclosed because
estimating it is impracticable, the entity shall disclose that fact.
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Errors

46.

47,

Errors can arise in respect of the recognition, measurement, presentation or
disclosure of elements of financial statements. Financial statements do not
comply with IPSASs if they contain either material errors or immaterial errors
made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of an entity’s financial
position, financial performance or cash flows. Potential current period errors
discovered in that period are corrected before the financial statements are
authorized for issue. However, material errors are sometimes not discovered
until a subsequent period, and these prior period errors are corrected in the
comparative information presented in the financial statements for that
subsequent period (see paragraphs 47-51).

Subject to paragraph 48, an entity shall correct material prior period
errors retrospectively in the first set of financial statements authorized
for issue after their discovery by:

() Restating the comparative amounts for prior period(s) presented
in which the error occurred; or

(b)  If the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented,
restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net
assets/equity for the earliest prior period presented.

Limitations of Retrospective Restatement

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

A prior period error shall be corrected by retrospective restatement
except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period
specific effects or the cumulative effect of the error.

When it is impracticable to determine the period specific effects of an
error on comparative information for one or more prior periods
presented, the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities
and net assets/equity for the earliest period for which retrospective
restatement is practicable (which may be the current period).

When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect, at the
beginning of the current period, of an error on all prior periods, the
entity shall restate the comparative information to correct the error
prospectively from the earliest date practicable.

The correction of a prior period error is excluded from surplus or deficit for
the period in which the error is discovered. Any information presented about
prior periods, including historical summaries of financial data, is also restated
as far back as is practicable.

When it is impracticable to determine the amount of an error (e.g., a mistake
in applying an accounting policy) for all prior periods, the entity, in
accordance with paragraph 50, restates the comparative information

121 IPSAS 3

x
O
|_
O
L
(2]
=
-
@
-
[a




ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

prospectively from the earliest date practicable. It therefore disregards the
portion of the cumulative restatement of assets, liabilities and net assets/equity
arising before that date. Paragraphs 55-58 provide guidance on when it is
impracticable to correct an error for one or more prior periods.

53.  Corrections of errors are distinguished from changes in accounting estimates.
Accounting estimates by their nature are approximations that may need revision
as additional information becomes known. For example, the gain or loss
recognized on the outcome of a contingency is not the correction of an error.

Disclosure of Prior Period Errors
54.  In applying paragraph 47, an entity shall disclose the following:
(@)  The nature of the prior period error;

(b)  For each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the
amount of the correction for each financial statement line item
affected;

(¢) The amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior
period presented; and

(d) If retrospective restatement is impracticable for a particular prior
period, the circumstances that led to the existence of that condition
and a description of how and from when the error has been
corrected.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these
disclosures.

Impracticability in Respect of Retrospective Application and
Retrospective Restatement

55.  In some circumstances, it is impracticable to adjust comparative information
for one or more prior periods to achieve comparability with the current
period. For example, data may not have been collected in the prior period(s)
in a way that allows either retrospective application of a new accounting
policy (including, for the purpose of paragraphs 56-58, its prospective
application to prior periods) or retrospective restatement to correct a prior
period error, and it may be impracticable to recreate the information.

56. It is frequently necessary to make estimates in applying an accounting policy to
elements of financial statements recognized or disclosed in respect of
transactions, other events or conditions. Estimation is inherently subjective, and
estimates may be developed after the reporting date. Developing estimates is
potentially more difficult when retrospectively applying an accounting policy or
making a retrospective restatement to correct a prior period error, because of the
longer period of time that might have passed since the affected transaction, other
event or condition occurred. However, the objective of estimates related to prior
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periods remains the same as for estimates made in the current period, namely,
for the estimate to reflect the circumstances that existed when the transaction,
other event or condition occurred.

Therefore, retrospectively applying a new accounting policy or correcting a
prior period error requires distinguishing information that:

(@)  Provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the date(s) as at
which the transaction, other event or condition occurred, and

(b)  Would have been available when the financial statements for that prior
period were authorized for issue.

from other information. For some types of estimates (e.g., an estimate of fair
value not based on an observable price or observable inputs), it is
impracticable to distinguish these types of information. When retrospective
application or retrospective restatement would require making a significant
estimate for which it is impossible to distinguish these two types of
information, it is impracticable to apply the new accounting policy or correct
the prior period error retrospectively.

Hindsight should not be used when applying a new accounting policy to, or
correcting amounts for, a prior period, either in making assumptions about
what management’s intentions would have been in a prior period or
estimating the amounts recognized, measured or disclosed in a prior period.
For example, when an entity corrects a prior period error in classifying a
government building as an investment property (the building was previously
classified as property, plant and equipment), it does not change the basis of
classification for that period, if management decided later to use that building
as an owner occupied office building. In addition, when an entity corrects a
prior period error in calculating its liability for provision of cleaning costs of
pollution resulting from government operations in accordance with IPSAS 19,
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,” it disregards
information about an unusually large oil leak from a naval supply ship during
the next period that became available after the financial statements for the
prior period were authorized for issue. The fact that significant estimates are
frequently required when amending comparative information presented for
prior periods does not prevent reliable adjustment or correction of the
comparative information.

Effective Date

59.

An entity shall apply this IPSAS for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2008. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
this Standard for a period beginning before January 1, 2008, it shall
disclose that fact.
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60. When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by IPSASs,

for financial reporting purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this

Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial statements covering periods
beginning on or after the date of adoption.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 3 (issued 2000)

61. This Standard supersedes IPSAS 3, “Net Surplus or Deficit for the Period,

Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies” issued in 2000.

IPSAS 3 124



ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

Appendix

Amendments to Other Pronouncements
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The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2008. If an entity applies this Standard for an earlier period,
these amendments shall be applied for that earlier period.

Al. IPSAS 2, “Cash Flow Statements” is amended as follows:

Paragraphs 40 and 41 on extraordinary items are deleted.

The Appendix in IPSAS 2 which illustrates a cash flow statement for an
entity, is amended to remove an extraordinary item. The revised Appendix is
set out below.

Direct Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(a))
Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities to Surplus/ (Deficit)

(in thousands of currency units) 20X2 20X1
Surplus/(deficit) from ordinary activities X X
Noncash movements
Depreciation X X
Amortization X X
Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X
Increase in payables X X
Increase in borrowings X X
Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X
(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and X) X)
equipment
(Gains)/losses on sale of investments X) X)
Increase in other current assets X) X)
Increase in investments due to revaluation X) X)
Increase in receivables X) X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X
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Indirect Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(b))

Public Sector Entity—Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended
December 31, 20X2 (In Thousands of Currency Units)

(in thousands of currency units) 20X2 20X1
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

Surplus/(deficit) X X
Noncash movements

Depreciation X X
Amortization X X
Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X
Increase in payables X X
Increase in borrowings X X
Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X
(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and X) X)
equipment

(Gains)/losses on sale of investments X) X)
Increase in other current assets X) (X)
Increase in investments due to revaluation X) X)
Increase in receivables X) X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X

A2. IPSAS 18, “Segment Reporting” is amended as described below.

The definition of accounting policies in paragraph 8 is amended to read as
follows:

Accounting Policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules
and practices applied by an entity in preparing and presenting financial
statements.

Paragraph 57 is amended to read as follows:

57.  IPSAS 1 requires that when items of revenue or expense are material,
the nature and amount of such items shall be disclosed separately.
IPSAS 1 identifies a number of examples of such items, including
write-downs of inventories and property, plant, and equipment;
provisions for restructurings; disposals of property, plant, and
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equipment; privatizations and other disposals of long-term investments;
discontinuing operations; litigation settlements; and reversals of
provisions. The encouragement in paragraph 56 is not intended to
change the classification of any such items or to change the
measurement of such items. The disclosure encouraged by that
paragraph, however, does change the level at which the significance of
such items is evaluated for disclosure purposes from the entity level to
the segment level.
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Paragraphs 69 and 70 are amended to read as follows:

69. Changes in accounting policies adopted by the entity are dealt with in
IPSAS 3. IPSAS 3 requires that changes in accounting policy shall be
made by an IPSAS, or if the change will result in reliable and more
relevant information about transactions, other events or conditions in
the financial statements of the entity.

70.  Changes in accounting policies applied at the entity level that affect
segment information are dealt with in accordance with IPSAS 3.
Unless a new IPSAS specifies otherwise, IPSAS 3 requires that:

(@ A change in accounting policy be applied retrospectively and
that prior period information be restated unless it is
impracticable to determine either the cumulative effect or the
period specific effects of the change;

(b) If retrospective application is not practicable for all periods
presented, the new accounting policy shall be applied
retrospectively from the earliest practicable date; and

(c) If it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect of
applying the new accounting policy at the start of the current
period, the policy shall be applied prospectively from the earliest
date practicable.

The following changes are made to remove references to extraordinary items:

(@) in paragraph 27, in the definition of segment revenue, subparagraph (a)
is deleted;

(b) in paragraph 27, in the definition of segment expense, subparagraph (a)
is deleted; and

(c) in Appendix 1, the second last paragraph is deleted.

In IPSAS 19, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”,
paragraph 111 is deleted.

In IPSASs, applicable at January 1, 2008, references to the current version of
IPSAS 3, “Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes
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in Accounting Policies” are amended to IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.”
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Guidance on Implementing IPSAS 3
This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 3.

Example 1—Retrospective Restatement of Errors

1.1. During 20X2, the entity discovered that revenue from income taxes was
incorrect. Income taxes of CU6,500 that should have been recognized in
20X1 were incorrectly omitted from 20X1 and recognized as revenue in
20X2.

1.2. The entity’s accounting records for 20X2 show revenue from taxation of
CU60,000 (including the CUG6,500 taxation which should have been
recognized in opening balances), and expenses of CU86,500.

1.3.  In 20X1, the entity reported:

CuU
Revenue from taxation 34,000
User charges 3,000
Other operating revenue 30,000
Total revenue 67,000
Expenses (60,000)
Surplus 7,000

1.4.  20X1 opening accumulated surplus was CU20,000 and closing accumulated
surplus was CU27,000.

1.5. The entity had no other revenue or expenses.

1.6. The entity had CU5,000 of contributed capital throughout, and no other
components of net assets/equity except for accumulated surplus.

Public Sector Entity — Statement of Financial Performance

(restated)

20X2 20X1
CuU CuU
Revenue from taxation 53,500 40,500
User charges 4,000 3,000
Other operating revenue 40,000 30,000
Total revenue 97,500 73,500
Expenses (86,500) (60,000)
Surplus 11,000 13,500

1 In these examples, monetary amounts are denominated in “currency units” (CU).
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Public Sector Entity X Statement of Changes in Equity

Contributed  Accumulate

capital d Surpluses Total
Cu Cu Cu
Balance at 31 December 20X0 5,000 20,000 15,000
Surplus for the year ended December 31, 20X1 as
restated - 13,500 13,500
Balance at 31 December 20X1 5,000 33,500 38,500
Surplus for the year ended 31 December 20X2 - 11,000 11,000
Balance at 31 December 20X2 5,000 44,500 49,500
Extracts from Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Revenue from taxation of CU6,500 was incorrectly omitted from the financial

statements of 20X1. The financial statements of 20X1 have been restated to
correct this error. The effect of the restatement on those financial statements is
summarized below. There is no effect in 20X2.

Effect on

20X1
CuU
Increase revenue 6,500
Increase in surplus 6,500
Increase in debtors 6,500
Increase in net assets/equity 6,500

Example 2—Change in Accounting Policy with Retrospective
Application

2.1. During 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for the treatment of
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a hydro-
electric power station which is under construction. In previous periods, the
entity had capitalized such costs. The entity has now decided to expense,
rather than capitalize them. Management judges that the new policy is
preferable because it results in a more transparent treatment of finance costs
and is consistent with local industry practice, making the entity’s financial
statements more comparable.
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2.2. The entity capitalized borrowing costs incurred of CU2,600 during 20X1 and
CU5,200 in periods prior to 20X1. All borrowing costs incurred in previous
years with respect to the acquisition of the power station were capitalized.

2.3.  The accounting records for 20X2 show surplus before interest of CU30,000;

and interest expense of CU3,000 (which relates only to 20X2).

2.4. The entity has not recognized any depreciation on the power station because it

is not yet in use.

2.5.  In 20X1, the entity reported:

Surplus before interest
Interest expense

Surplus
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Cu
18,000

18,000

2.6. 20X1 opening accumulated surpluses was CU20,000 and closing accumulated

surpluses was CU38,000.

2.7. The entity had CU10,000 of contributed capital throughout, and no other

components of net assets/equity except for accumulated surplus.

Public Sector Entity — Statement of Financial Performance

(restated)
20X2 20X1
CuU CuU
Surplus before interest 30,000 18,000
Interest expense (3,000) (2,600)
Surplus 27,000 15,400
Public Sector Entity — Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity
(restated)
Contributed Accumulated
capital Surplus Total
CuU CuU CuU
Balance at 31 December 20X0 as previously
reported 10,000 20,000 30,000
Change in accounting policy with respect to the
capitalization of interest (Note 1) - (5,200) (5,200)
Balance at 31 December 20X0 as restated 10,000 14,800 24,800
Surplus for the year ended 31 December 20X1
(restated) - 15,400 15,400
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(restated)
Contributed Accumulated
capital Surplus Total
Balance at 31 December 20X1 10,000 30,200 40,200
Surplus for the year ended 31 December 20X2 - 27,000 27,000
Closing at 31 December 20X2 10,000 57,200 67,200

Extracts from the Notes

1.

During 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for the treatment of
borrowing costs related to a hydro-electric power station. Previously, the
entity capitalized such costs. They are now written off as expenses as
incurred. Management judges that this policy provides reliable and more
relevant information because it results in a more transparent treatment of
finance costs and is consistent with local industry practice, making the
entity’s financial statements more comparable. This change in accounting
policy has been accounted for retrospectively and the comparative statements
for 20X1 have been restated. The effect of the change on 20X1 is tabulated
below. Opening accumulated surpluses for 20X1 have been reduced by
CU5,200 which is the amount of the adjustment relating to periods prior to
20X1.

Effect on 20-1 CuU
(Increase) in interest expense (2,600)
(Decrease) in surplus (2,600)

Effect on periods prior to 20-1
(Decrease) in surplus (5,200)

(Decrease) in assets in the course of construction and in
accumulated surplus (7,800)

Example 3—Prospective Application of a Change in Accounting
Policy When Retrospective Application is not Practicable

3.1

3.2.

During 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for depreciating
property, plant and equipment, so as to apply much more fully a components
approach, whilst at the same time adopting the revaluation model.

In years before 20X2, the entity’s asset records were not sufficiently detailed
to apply a components approach fully. At the end of year 20X1, management
commissioned an engineering survey, which provided information on the
components held and their fair values, useful lives, estimated residual values
and depreciable amounts at the beginning of 20X2. However, the survey did
not provide a sufficient basis for reliably estimating the cost of those
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components that had not previously been accounted for separately, and the
existing records before the survey did not permit this information to be
reconstructed.

Management considered how to account for each of the two aspects of the
accounting change. They determined that it was not practicable to account for
the change to a fuller components approach retrospectively, or to account for
that change prospectively from any earlier date than the start of 20X2. Also,
the change from a cost model to a revaluation model is required to be
accounted for prospectively. Therefore, management concluded that it should
apply the entity’s new policy prospectively from the start of 20X2.

Additional information:

CuU
Property, plant and equipment
Cost 25,000
Depreciation (14,000)
Net book value 11,000
Prospective depreciation expense for 20X2 (old 1,500

basis)

Some results of the engineering survey
Valuation 17,000
Estimated residual value 3,000
Average remaining assets life (years) 7
Depreciation expense on existing property, plant and
equipment for 20X2 (new basis) 2,000

Extract from the Notes

1.

From the start of 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for
depreciating property, plant and equipment, so as to apply much more fully a
components approach, whilst at the same time adopting the revaluation model.
Management takes the view that this policy provides reliable and more
relevant information because it deals more accurately with the components of
property, plant and equipment and is based on up-to-date values. The policy
has been applied prospectively from the start of 20X2 because it was not
practicable to estimate the effects of applying the policy either retrospectively
or prospectively from any earlier date. Accordingly the adopting of the new
policy has no effect on prior periods. The effect on the current year is to
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increase the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the start of
the year by CU6,000; create a revaluation reserve at the start of the year of
CU6,000; and increase depreciation expense by CU500.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 3, ““Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.”” This Basis for Conclusions
only notes the IPSASB’s reasons for departing from provisions of the related
International Accounting Standard.
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Background

BC1. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)’s
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) Convergence Program is
an important element in IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to
converge the accrual basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSASs) with IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) where appropriate for public sector entities.

BC2. Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS are not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
‘comparison with IFRS’ included in each IPSAS. The Comparison with IAS 8
references the December 2003 version of IAS 8 and not any other.

BC3. In May 2002, the IASB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments to
13 International Accounting Standards (IASs)! as part of its General
Improvements Project. The objectives of the IASB’s General Improvements
project were “to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts
within the Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and to make other
improvements.” The final IASs were issued in December 2003.

BC4. IPSAS 3, issued in January 2000 was based on IAS 8 (Revised 1993), “Net
Profit or Loss of the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting
Policies” which was reissued in December 2003, as IAS 8, “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.” In late 2003, the
IPSASB’s predecessor, the Public Sector Committee (PSC)2, actioned an
IPSAS Improvements Project to converge where appropriate IPSASs with the
improved IASs issued in December 2003.

The International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued by the IASB’s predecessor — the
International Accounting Standards Committee. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, 1ASs and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

2 The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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BC5. The IPSASB reviewed the improved IAS 8 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the 1AS and with the amendments made. (The
IASB’s Bases for Conclusions are not reproduced here. Subscribers to the
IASB’s Comprehensive Subscription Service can view the Bases for
Conclusions on the IASB’s website at www.iasb.org).

BC6. IPSAS 3 does not include the consequential amendments arising from IFRSs
issued after December 2003. This is because the IPSASB has not yet
reviewed and formed a view on the applicability of the requirements in those
IFRSs to public sector entities.
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Comparison with IAS 8

International Public Sector Accounting Standard IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” is drawn primarily from International
Accounting Standard 1AS 8 (2003), “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors.” The main differences between IPSAS 3 and IAS 8 are as
follows:

Commentary additional to that in IAS 8 has been included in IPSAS 3 to
clarify the applicability of the standards to accounting by public sector
entities.

IPSAS 3 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 8. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms statement of financial
performance, statement of financial position, accumulated surplus or deficit
and net assets/equity in IPSAS 3. The equivalent terms in IAS 8 are income
statement, balance sheet, retained earning and equity.

IPSAS 3 does not use the term income, which in IAS 8 has a broader meaning
than the term revenue.

IPSAS 3 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from IAS 8
(paragraph 7).

IPSAS 3 has a similar hierarchy to IAS 8, except that the IPSASB does not
have a conceptual framework.

IPSAS 3 does not require disclosures about adjustments to basic or diluted
earnings per share. 1AS 8 requires disclosure of amount of adjustment or
correction for basic or diluted earnings per share.
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THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

International Public Sector Accounting Standard 4, “The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates” (IPSAS 4) is set out in paragraphs 1-73. All the paragraphs
have equal authority. IPSAS 4 should be read in the context of its objective and the
Basis for Conclusions, and the “Preface to the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards.” IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies
in the absence of explicit guidance.
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THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

Introduction

IN1. IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates,” replaces
IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” (issued
December 2006), and should be applied for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2010. Earlier application is encouraged.

Reasons for Revising IPSAS 4

IN2. The IPSASB developed this revised IPSAS 4 as a response to the IASB’s
amendment to 1AS 21 (published as Net Investment in a Foreign Operation)
in December 2005 and its own policy to converge public sector accounting
standards with private sector standards to the extent appropriate.

IN3. In developing this revised IPSAS 4, the IPSASB adopted the policy of
amending the IPSAS for those changes made to the former IAS 21, “The
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” made as a consequence of
the 1ASB’s amendment in December 2005, except where the original
IPSAS had varied from the provisions of IAS 21 for a public sector specific
reason; such variances are retained in this IPSAS 4 and are noted in the
Comparison with IAS 21.

Changes from Previous Requirements

IN4. The main changes from the previous version of IPSAS 4 are described
below.

Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

INS. The Standard clarifies that an entity that has a monetary item, which is, in
substance, a part of the entity’s net investment in a foreign operation, and
therefore accounts for such item in accordance with the requirements of this
Standard, may be any controlled entity of the economic entity.

Recognition of Exchange Differences

ING. The Standard requires that when a monetary item forms part of a reporting
entity’s net investment in a foreign operation and is denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of either the reporting entity or
the foreign operation, exchange differences arising on this monetary item
are recognized initially in a separate component of net assets/equity in the
financial statements that include the foreign operation and the reporting
entity. Previously, such exchange differences were required to be
recognized in surplus or deficit in the financial statements including the
foreign operation and the reporting entity.
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THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

IPSAS 4—THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN
EXCHANGE RATES

Objective

1.

An entity may carry on foreign activities in two ways. It may have
transactions in foreign currencies or it may have foreign operations. In
addition, an entity may present its financial statements in a foreign currency.
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe how to include foreign currency
transactions and foreign operations in the financial statements of an entity and
how to translate financial statements into a presentation currency.

The principal issues are which exchange rate(s) to use and how to report the
effects of changes in exchange rates in the financial statements.

Scope

3.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard:

(3 In accounting for transactions and balances in foreign currencies,
except for those derivative transactions and balances that are
within the scope of the relevant international or national
accounting standards dealing with the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments;

(b)  In translating the financial performance and financial position of
foreign operations that are included in the financial statements of
the entity by consolidation, proportionate consolidation or by the
equity method; and

(c) In translating an entity’s financial performance and financial
position into a presentation currency.

International or national accounting standards dealing with the recognition
and measurement of financial instruments apply to many foreign currency
derivatives and, accordingly, these are excluded from the scope of this
Standard. However, those foreign currency derivatives that are not within the
scope of these international or national accounting standards (e.g., some
foreign currency derivatives that are embedded in other contracts) are within
the scope of this Standard. In addition, this Standard applies when an entity
translates amounts relating to derivatives from its functional currency to its
presentation currency.

This Standard does not apply to hedge accounting for foreign currency items,
including the hedging of a net investment in a foreign operation. Accordingly,
entities may apply the relevant international or national accounting standards
dealing with hedge accounting.
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This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than Government
Business Enterprises.

The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by
the IPSASB explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBESs) apply
IFRSs which are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial
Statements.”

This Standard applies to the presentation of an entity’s financial statements in
a foreign currency and sets out requirements for the resulting financial
statements to be described as complying with IPSASs. For translations of
financial information into a foreign currency that do not meet these
requirements, this Standard specifies information to be disclosed.

This Standard does not apply to the presentation in a cash flow statement of
cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency, or to the translation
of cash flows of a foreign operation (see IPSAS 2, “Cash Flow Statements”).

Definitions

10.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Closing rate is the spot exchange rate at the reporting date.

Exchange difference is the difference resulting from translating a given
number of units of one currency into another currency at different
exchange rates.

Exchange rate is the ratio of exchange for two currencies.

Foreign currency is a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity.

Foreign operation is an entity that is a controlled entity, associate, joint
venture or branch of a reporting entity, the activities of which are based
or conducted in a country or currency other than those of the reporting
entity.

Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates.

Monetary items are units of currency held and assets and liabilities to be
received or paid in a fixed or determinable number of units of currency.

Net investment in a foreign operation is the amount of the reporting
entity’s interest in the net assets/equity of that operation.

Presentation currency is the currency in which the financial statements
are presented.
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THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

Spot exchange rate is the exchange rate for immediate delivery.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary
of Defined Terms published separately.

Functional Currency

11.

12.

13.

The primary economic environment in which an entity operates is normally
the one in which it primarily generates and expends cash. An entity considers
the following factors in determining its functional currency:

(@)  The currency:
(i)  That revenue is raised from, such as taxes, grants, and fines;

(i)  That mainly influences sales prices for goods and services (this
will often be the currency in which sales prices for its goods and
services are denominated and settled); and

(iii)  Of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly
determine the sale prices of its goods and services.

(b)  The currency that mainly influences labor, material and other costs of
providing goods and services (this will often be the currency in which
such costs are denominated and settled).

The following factors may also provide evidence of an entity’s functional
currency:

(@)  The currency in which funds from financing activities (i.e., issuing debt
and equity instruments) are generated.

(b)  The currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually
retained.

The following additional factors are considered in determining the functional
currency of a foreign operation, and whether its functional currency is the
same as that of the reporting entity (the reporting entity, in this context, being
the entity that has the foreign operation as its controlled entity, branch,
associate or joint venture):

(@)  Whether the activities of the foreign operation are carried out as an
extension of the reporting entity, rather than being carried out with a
significant degree of autonomy. An example of the former is when a
department of defense has a number of overseas bases which conduct
activities on behalf of a national government. The defense bases might
conduct their activities substantially in the functional currency of the
reporting entity. For example, military personnel may be paid in the
functional currency and receive only a small allowance in local
currency. Purchases of supplies and equipment might be largely
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15.

16.

THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

obtained via the reporting entity with purchases in local currency being
kept to a minimum. Another example would be an overseas campus of
a public university which operates under the management and direction
of the domestic campus. In contrast, a foreign operation with a
significant degree of autonomy may accumulate cash and other
monetary items, incur expenses, generate revenue and perhaps arrange
borrowings, all substantially in its local currency. Some examples of
government-owned  foreign operations which may operate
independently of other government agencies include tourist offices,
petroleum exploration companies, trade boards and broadcasting
operations. Such entities may be established as GBEs.

(b)  Whether transactions with the reporting entity are a high or a low
proportion of the foreign operation’s activities.

(c)  Whether cash flows from the activities of the foreign operation directly
affect the cash flows of the reporting entity and are readily available for
remittance to it.

(d)  Whether cash flows from the activities of the foreign operation are
sufficient to service existing and normally expected debt obligations
without funds being made available by the reporting entity.

When the above indicators are mixed and the functional currency is not
obvious, management uses its judgment to determine the functional currency
that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions. As part of this approach, management
gives priority to the primary indicators in paragraph 11 before considering the
indicators in paragraphs 12 and 13, which are designed to provide additional
supporting evidence to determine an entity’s functional currency.

An entity’s functional currency reflects the underlying transactions, events
and conditions that are relevant to it. Accordingly, once determined, the
functional currency is not changed unless there is a change in those underlying
transactions, events and conditions.

If the functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy, the
entity’s financial statements are restated in accordance with IPSAS 10,
“Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.” An entity cannot
avoid restatement in accordance with IPSAS 10 by, for example, adopting as
its functional currency a currency other than the functional currency
determined in accordance with this Standard (such as the functional currency
of its controlling entity).

Monetary Items

17.

The essential feature of a monetary item is a right to receive (or an obligation
to deliver) a fixed or determinable number of units of currency. Examples
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include: social policy obligations and other employee benefits to be paid in
cash; provisions that are to be settled in cash; and cash dividends or similar
distributions that are recognized as a liability. Conversely, the essential
feature of a nonmonetary item is the absence of a right to receive (or an
obligation to deliver) a fixed or determinable number of units of currency.
Examples include: amounts prepaid for goods and services (e.g., prepaid rent);
goodwill; intangible assets; inventories; property, plant and equipment; and
provisions that are to be settled by the delivery of a nonmonetary asset.

Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

18.

19.

An entity may have a monetary item that is receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation. An item for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, a part of the entity’s net
investment in that foreign operation, and is accounted for in accordance with
paragraphs 37 and 38. Such monetary items may include long-term
receivables or loans. They do not include trade receivables or trade payables.

The entity that has a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation described in paragraph 18 may be any controlled entity of the
economic entity. For example, an entity has two controlled entities, A and B.
Controlled entity B is a foreign operation. Controlled entity A grants a loan to
controlled entity B. Controlled entity A’s loan receivable from controlled
entity B would be part of the controlled entity A’s net investment in
controlled entity B if settlement of the loan is neither planned nor likely to
occur in the foreseeable future. This would also be true if controlled entity A
were itself a foreign operation.

Summary of the Approach Required by This Standard

20.

21.

In preparing financial statements, each entity — whether a standalone entity, an
entity with foreign operations (such as a controlling entity) or a foreign
operation (such as a controlled entity or branch) — determines its functional
currency in accordance with paragraphs 11-16. The entity translates foreign
currency items into its functional currency and reports the effects of such
translation in accordance with paragraphs 23-42 and 59.

Many reporting entities comprise a number of individual entities (e.g., an
economic entity is made up of a controlling entity and one or more controlled
entities). Various types of entities, whether members of an economic entity or
otherwise, may have investments in associates or joint ventures. They may
also have branches. It is necessary for the financial performance and financial
position of each individual entity included in the reporting entity to be
translated into the currency in which the reporting entity presents its financial
statements. This Standard permits the presentation currency of a reporting
entity to be any currency (or currencies). The financial performance and
financial position of any individual entity within the reporting entity whose
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functional currency differs from the presentation currency are translated in
accordance with paragraphs 43-59.

This Standard also permits a standalone entity preparing financial statements
or an entity preparing separate financial statements in accordance with
IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” to present its
financial statements in any currency (or currencies). If the entity’s
presentation currency differs from its functional currency, its financial
performance and financial position are also translated into the presentation
currency in accordance with paragraphs 43-59.

Reporting Foreign Currency Transactions in the Functional
Currency

Initial Recognition

23.

24,

25.

26.

A foreign currency transaction is a transaction that is denominated or requires
settlement in a foreign currency, including transactions arising when an entity:

(@)  Buys or sells goods or services whose price is denominated in a foreign
currency;

(b)  Borrows or lends funds when the amounts payable or receivable are
denominated in a foreign currency; or

(c)  Otherwise acquires or disposes of assets, or incurs or settles liabilities,
denominated in a foreign currency.

A foreign currency transaction shall be recorded, on initial recognition in
the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the
spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign
currency at the date of the transaction.

The date of a transaction is the date on which the transaction first qualifies for
recognition in accordance with IPSASs. For practical reasons, a rate that
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction is often used, for
example, an average rate for a week or a month might be used for all
transactions in each foreign currency occurring during that period. However,
if exchange rates fluctuate significantly, the use of the average rate for a
period is inappropriate.

Exchange rate changes may have an impact on cash or cash equivalents held
or due in a foreign currency. The presentation of such exchange differences is
dealt with in IPSAS 2. Although these changes are not cash flows, the effect
of exchange rate changes on cash or cash equivalents held or due in a foreign
currency are reported in the cash flow statement in order to reconcile cash and
cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. These amounts
are presented separately from cash flows from operating, investing and
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THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

financing activities and include the differences, if any, had those cash flows
been reported at end-of-period exchange rates.

Reporting at Subsequent Reporting Dates

27.

28.

29.

30.

At each reporting date:

(@) Foreign currency monetary items shall be translated using the
closing rate;

(b) Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction; and

(c) Nonmonetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency shall be translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined.

The carrying amount of an item is determined in conjunction with other
relevant IPSASs. For example, property, plant and equipment may be
measured in terms of fair value or historical cost in accordance with IPSAS
17, “Property, Plant and Equipment.” Whether the carrying amount is
determined on the basis of historical cost or on the basis of fair value, if the
amount is determined in a foreign currency it is then translated into the
functional currency in accordance with this Standard.

The carrying amount of some items is determined by comparing two or more
amounts. For example, the carrying amount of inventories held for sale is the
lower of cost and net realizable value in accordance with IPSAS 12,
“Inventories.” Similarly, in accordance with IPSAS 21, “Impairment of Non-
Cash-Generating Assets,” the carrying amount of a non-cash generating asset
for which there is an indication of impairment is the lower of its carrying
amount before considering possible impairment losses and its recoverable
service amount. When such an asset is honmonetary and is measured in a
foreign currency, the carrying amount is determined by comparing:

(@  The cost or carrying amount, as appropriate, translated at the exchange
rate at the date when that amount was determined (i.e., the rate at the date
of the transaction for an item measured in terms of historical cost); and

(b)  The net realizable value or recoverable service amount, as appropriate,
translated at the exchange rate at the date when that value was
determined (e.g., the closing rate at the reporting date).

The effect of this comparison may be that an impairment loss is recognized in
the functional currency but would not be recognized in the foreign currency,
or vice versa.

When several exchange rates are available, the rate used is that at which the
future cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have been
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settled if those cash flows had occurred at the measurement date. If
exchangeability between two currencies is temporarily lacking, the rate used
is the first subsequent rate at which exchanges could be made.

Recognition of Exchange Differences

3L

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

As noted in paragraph 5, this Standard does not deal with hedge accounting
for foreign currency items. Guidance in relation to hedge accounting,
including the criteria for when to use hedge accounting, can be found in the
relevant international or national accounting standards dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on
translating monetary items at rates different from those at which they
were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous
financial statements shall be recognized in surplus or deficit in the period
in which they arise, except as described in paragraph 37.

When monetary items arise from a foreign currency transaction and there is a
change in the exchange rate between the transaction date and the date of
settlement, an exchange difference results. When the transaction is settled
within the same accounting period as that in which it occurred, all the
exchange difference is recognized in that period. However, when the
transaction is settled in a subsequent accounting period, the exchange
difference recognized in each period up to the date of settlement is determined
by the change in exchange rates during each period.

The treatment of foreign currency exchange rate changes in a cash flow
statement is described in paragraph 26.

When a gain or loss on a nonmonetary item is recognized directly in net
assets/equity, any exchange component of that gain or loss shall be
recognized directly in net assets/equity. Conversely, when a gain or loss
on a nonmonetary item is recognized in surplus or deficit, any exchange
component of that gain or loss shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

Other Standards require some gains and losses to be recognized directly in net
assets/equity. For example, IPSAS 17 requires some gains and losses arising
on a revaluation of property, plant and equipment to be recognized directly in
net assets/equity. When such an asset is measured in a foreign currency,
paragraph 27 (c) of this Standard requires the revalued amount to be translated
using the rate at the date the value is determined, resulting in an exchange
difference that is also recognized in net assets/equity.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a
reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign operation (see
paragraph 18) shall be recognized in surplus or deficit in the separate
financial statements of the reporting entity or the individual financial
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38.

39.
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statements of the foreign operation, as appropriate. In the financial
statements that include the foreign operation and the reporting entity
(e.g., consolidated financial statements when the foreign operation is a
controlled entity), such exchange differences shall be recognized initially
in a separate component of net assets/equity and recognized in surplus or
deficit on disposal of the net investment in accordance with paragraph 57.

When a monetary item forms part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a
foreign operation and is denominated in the functional currency of the
reporting entity, an exchange difference arises in the foreign operation’s
individual financial statements in accordance with paragraph 32. If such an
item is denominated in the functional currency of the foreign operation, an
exchange difference arises in the reporting entity’s separate financial
statements in accordance with paragraph 32. If such an item is denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of either the reporting entity or
the foreign operation, an exchange difference arises in the reporting entity’s
separate financial statements and in the foreign operation’s individual
financial statements in accordance with paragraph 32. Such exchange
differences are reclassified to the separate component of net assets/equity in
the financial statements that include the foreign operation and the reporting
entity (i.e., financial statements in which the foreign operation is consolidated,
proportionately consolidated or accounted for using the equity method).

When an entity keeps its books and records in a currency other than its
functional currency, at the time the entity prepares its financial statements all
amounts are translated into the functional currency in accordance with
paragraphs 23—-30. This produces the same amounts in the functional currency
as would have occurred had the items been recorded initially in the functional
currency. For example, monetary items are translated into the functional
currency using the closing rate, and nonmonetary items that are measured on a
historical cost basis are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction that resulted in their recognition.

Change in Functional Currency

40.

41.

When there is a change in an entity’s functional currency, the entity shall
apply the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change.

As noted in paragraph 15, the functional currency of an entity reflects the
underlying transactions, events and conditions that are relevant to the entity.
Accordingly, once the functional currency is determined, it can be changed
only if there is a change to those underlying transactions, events and
conditions. For example, a change in the currency that mainly influences the
sales prices or the provision of goods and services may lead to a change in an
entity’s functional currency.

IPSAS 4 150



42,

THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

The effect of a change in functional currency is accounted for prospectively.
In other words, an entity translates all items into the new functional currency
using the exchange rate at the date of the change. The resulting translated
amounts for nonmonetary items are treated as their historical cost. Exchange
differences arising from the translation of a foreign operation previously
classified in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraphs 37 and 44(c) are
not recognized in surplus or deficit until the disposal of the operation.

Use of a Presentation Currency Other than the Functional
Currency

Translation to the Presentation Currency

43.

44,

45,

An entity may present its financial statements in any currency (or currencies).
If the presentation currency differs from the entity’s functional currency, it
translates its financial performance and financial position into the presentation
currency. For example, when an economic entity, such as an international
organization contains individual entities with different functional currencies,
the financial performance and financial position of each entity are expressed
in a common currency so that consolidated financial statements may be
presented. For national, state/provincial, or governments, the presentation
currency is normally determined by the ministry of finance (or similar
authority) or established in legislation.

The financial performance and financial position of an entity whose
functional currency is not the currency of a hyperinflationary economy
shall be translated into a different presentation currency using the
following procedures:

(@) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented (i.e., including comparatives) shall be translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(b)  Revenue and expenses for each statement of financial performance
(i.e., including comparatives) shall be translated at exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions; and

(c)  All resulting exchange differences shall be recognized as a separate
component of net assets/equity.

In translating the cash flows, that is the cash receipts and cash payments, of a
foreign operation for incorporation into its cash flow statement, the reporting
entity shall comply with the procedures in IPSAS 2. IPSAS 2 requires that the
cash flows of a controlled entity which satisfies the definition of a foreign
operation shall be translated at the exchange rates between the presentation
currency and the foreign currency at the dates of the cash flows. IPSAS 2 also
outlines the presentation of unrealized gains and losses arising from changes
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46.

47,

48.

49,

THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

in foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents held or due in
a foreign currency.

For practical reasons, a rate that approximates the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions, for example an average rate for the period, is often used to
translate revenue and expense items. However, if exchange rates fluctuate
significantly, the use of the average rate for a period is inappropriate.

The exchange differences referred to in paragraph 44 (c) result from:

(&)  Translating revenue and expenses at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions and assets and liabilities at the closing rate. Such
exchange differences arise both on revenue and expense items
recognized in surplus or deficit and on those recognized directly in net
assets/equity.

(b)  Translating the opening net assets/equity at a closing rate that differs
from the previous closing rate.

These exchange differences are not recognized in surplus or deficit because
the changes in exchange rates have little or no direct effect on the present and
future cash flows from operations. When the exchange differences relate to a
foreign operation that is consolidated but is not wholly owned, accumulated
exchange differences arising from translation and attributable to minority
interests are allocated to, and recognized as part of, minority interest in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The financial performance and financial position of an entity whose
functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy shall
be translated into a different presentation currency using the following
procedures:

(@)  All amounts (i.e., assets, liabilities, net assets/equity items, revenue
and expenses, including comparatives) shall be translated at the
closing rate at the date of the most recent statement of financial
position, except that

(b))  When amounts are translated into the currency of a
nonhyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts shall be
those that were presented as current year amounts in the relevant
prior year financial statements (i.e., not adjusted for subsequent
changes in the price level or subsequent changes in exchange rates).

When an entity’s functional currency is the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy, the entity shall restate its financial
statements in accordance with IPSAS 10 before applying the translation
method set out in paragraph 48, except for comparative amounts that are
translated into a currency of a non-hyperinflationary economy (see
paragraph 48(b)). When the economy ceases to be hyperinflationary and
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the entity no longer restates its financial statements in accordance with
IPSAS 10, it shall use as the historical costs for translation into the
presentation currency the amounts restated to the price level at the date
the entity ceased restating its financial statements.

Translation of a Foreign Operation

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

Paragraphs 51-56, in addition to paragraphs 43-49, apply when the financial
performance and financial position of a foreign operation are translated into a
presentation currency so that the foreign operation can be included in the
financial statements of the reporting entity by consolidation, proportionate
consolidation or the equity method.

The incorporation of the financial performance and financial position of a
foreign operation with those of the reporting entity follows normal
consolidation procedures, such as the elimination of balances and transactions
within an economic entity (see IPSAS 6 and IPSAS 8, “Interests in Joint
Ventures”).

However, a monetary asset (or liability) within an economic entity, whether
short-term or long-term, cannot be eliminated against the corresponding liability
(or asset) within an economic entity without showing the results of currency
fluctuations in the consolidated financial statements. This is because the
monetary item represents a commitment to convert one currency into another
and exposes the reporting entity to a gain or loss through currency fluctuations.
Accordingly, in the consolidated financial statements of the reporting entity,
such an exchange difference continues to be recognized in surplus or deficit or,
if it arises from the circumstances described in paragraph 37, it is classified as
net assets/equity until the disposal of the foreign operation.

When the financial statements of a foreign operation are as of a date different
from that of the reporting entity, the foreign operation often prepares
additional statements as of the same date as the reporting entity’s financial
statements. When this is not done, IPSAS 6 allows the use of a different
reporting date provided that the difference is no greater than three months and
adjustments are made for the effects of any significant transactions or other
events that occur between the different dates.

When there is a difference between the reporting date of the reporting entity
and the foreign operation, the assets and liabilities of the foreign operation are
translated at the exchange rate at the reporting date of the foreign operation.

Adjustments are made for significant changes in exchange rates up to the
reporting date of the reporting entity in accordance with IPSAS 6. The same
approach is used in applying the equity method to associates and joint
ventures and in applying proportionate consolidation to joint ventures in
accordance with IPSAS 7, “Investments in Associates” and IPSAS 8.
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Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation shall be treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation. Thus they shall be expressed
in the functional currency of the foreign operation and shall be translated
at the closing rate in accordance with paragraphs 44 and 48.

Disposal of a Foreign Operation

57.

58.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences deferred in the separate component of net
assets/equity relating to that foreign operation shall be recognized in
surplus or deficit when the gain or loss on disposal is recognized.

An entity may dispose of its interest in a foreign operation through sale,
liquidation, repayment of contributed capital or abandonment of all, or part of,
that entity. The payment of a dividend or similar distribution is part of a
disposal only when it constitutes a return of the investment, for example when
the dividend or similar distribution is paid out of preacquisition surplus. In the
case of a partial disposal, only the proportionate share of the related
accumulated exchange difference is included in the gain or loss. A write-down
of the carrying amount of a foreign operation does not constitute a partial
disposal. Accordingly, no part of the deferred foreign exchange gain or loss is
recognized in surplus or deficit at the time of a write-down.

Tax Effects of Exchange Differences

59.

For reporting entities subject to income taxes, guidance on the treatment of tax
effects associated with the gains and losses on foreign currency transactions
and exchange differences arising on translating the financial performance and
financial position of an entity (including a foreign operation) into a different
currency can be found in the relevant international or national accounting
standards dealing with income taxes.

Disclosure

60.

61.

In paragraphs 62 and 64—66 references to “functional currency” apply, in
the case of an economic entity, to the functional currency of the
controlling entity.

The entity shall disclose:

(@ The amount of exchange differences recognized in surplus or deficit
except for those arising on financial instruments measured at fair
value through surplus or deficit in accordance with the relevant
international or national accounting standards dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments; and
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63.

64.

65.

66.
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(b)  Net exchange differences classified in a separate component of net
assets/equity, and a reconciliation of the amount of such exchange
differences at the beginning and end of the period.

When the presentation currency is different from the functional
currency, that fact shall be stated, together with disclosure of the
functional currency and the reason for using a different presentation
currency.

When there is a change in the functional currency of either the reporting
entity or a significant foreign operation, that fact and the reason for the
change in functional currency shall be disclosed.

When an entity presents its financial statements in a currency that is
different from its functional currency, it shall describe the financial
statements as complying with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards only if they comply with all the requirements of each
applicable Standard including the translation method set out in
paragraphs 44 and 48.

An entity sometimes presents its financial statements or other financial
information in a currency that is not its functional currency without meeting
the requirements of paragraph 64. For example, an entity may convert into
another currency only selected items from its financial statements. Or, an
entity whose functional currency is not the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy may convert the financial statements into another currency by
translating all items at the most recent closing rate. Such conversions are not
in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards and the
disclosures set out in paragraph 66 are required.

When an entity displays its financial statements or other financial
information in a currency that is different from either its functional
currency or its presentation currency and the requirements of paragraph
64 are not met, it shall:

(@) Clearly identify the information as supplementary information to
distinguish it from the information that complies with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards;

(b)  Disclose the currency in which the supplementary information is
displayed; and

(c) Disclose the entity’s functional currency and the method of
translation used to determine the supplementary information.
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Transitional Provisions

First-time Adoption of Accrual Accounting

67.

68.

A reporting entity need not comply with the requirements for cumulative
translation differences that existed at the date of first adoption of accrual
accounting in accordance with IPSASs. If a first-time adopter uses this
exemption:

() The cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations
are deemed to be zero at the date of first adoption to IPSASs; and

(b)  The gain and loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation
shall exclude translation differences that arose before the date of
first adoption to IPSASs, and shall include later translation
differences.

This Standard requires entities to:

(@) Classify some translation differences as a separate component of net
assets/equity; and

(b)  On disposal of a foreign operation, to transfer the cumulative
translation difference for that foreign operation to the statement of
financial performance as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

The transitional provisions provide first-time adopters of IPSASs with relief
from this requirement.

Transitional Provisions for All Entities

69.

70.

An entity shall apply paragraph 56 prospectively to all acquisitions
occurring after the beginning of the financial reporting period in which
this IPSAS is first applied. Retrospective application of paragraph 56 to
earlier acquisitions is permitted. For an acquisition of a foreign operation
treated prospectively but which occurred before the date on which this
Standard is first applied, the entity shall not restate prior years and
accordingly may, when appropriate, treat goodwill and fair value
adjustments arising on that acquisition as assets and liabilities of the
entity rather than as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation.
Therefore, those goodwill and fair value adjustments either are already
expressed in the entity’s functional currency or are nonmonetary foreign
currency items, which are reported using the exchange rate at the date of
the acquisition.

All other changes resulting from the application of this IPSAS shall be
accounted for in accordance with the requirements of IPSAS 3,
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.”
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Effective Date

71.  An entity shall apply this IPSAS for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2010. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
this Standard for a period beginning before January 1, 2010, it shall
disclose that fact.

72.  When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by IPSASs,
for financial reporting purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this
Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial statements covering periods
beginning on or after the date of adoption.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 4 (issued 2006)

73.  This Standard supersedes IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates” issued in 2006.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 4, “The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.” This Basis for Conclusions only notes the
IPSASB’s reasons for departing from provisions of the related International
Accounting Standard.

Background

BC1.

BC2.

BC3.

BC4.

The IPSASB’s IFRS Convergence Program is an important element in
IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s strategy is to converge the accrual
basis IPSASs with IFRSs issued by the IASB where appropriate for public
sector entities.

Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS are not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
‘comparison with IFRS’ included in each IPSAS. The Comparison with
IAS 21 references only the version of IAS 21 that was revised in 2003 and
amended in 2005.1

In May 2000 the IPSASB’s predecessor, the Public Sector Committee (PSC)?,
issued the first version of IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates,” which was based on IAS 21, “The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates” (1993). In December 2006 the IPSASB revised
IPSAS 4, which was based on IAS 21 (Revised 2003), as part of its General
Improvements Project. In December 2005 the IASB issued an amendment to
IAS 21 (published as “Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”).

In early 2007, the IPSASB initiated a continuous improvements project to
update existing IPSASs to be converged with the latest related IFRSs to the
extent appropriate for the public sector. As part of the project, the IPSASB
reviewed the 1ASB’s amendment to IAS 21 issued in December 2005 and
generally concurred with the IASB’s reasons for amending the IAS and with
the amendment made. (The IASB’s Basis for Conclusions as a result of the
amendment is not reproduced here. Subscribers to the IASB’s Comprehensive

The International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued by the IASB’s predecessor, the
International Accounting Standards Committee. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, 1ASs and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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Subscription Service can view the Basis for Conclusions on the 1ASB’s
website at www.iasb.org).

BC5. 1AS 21 has been further amended as a consequence of IFRSs and revised 1ASs
issued after December 2005. IPSAS 4 does not include the consequential
amendments arising from IFRSs or revised 1ASs issued after December 2005.
This is because the IPSASB has not yet reviewed and formed a view on the
applicability of the requirements in those IFRSs and the revisions to those
IASs to public sector entities.
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TABLE OF CONCORDANCE

This table shows how the contents of the superseded version of IPSAS 4 and the
current version of IPSAS 4 correspond. Paragraphs are treated as corresponding if
they broadly address the same matter even though the guidance may differ.

Superseded | Current
IPSAS 4 IPSAS 4
paragraphs | paragraph
1 1
2 2
3 3
4 4
5 5
6 6
7 7
8 8
9 9
10 10
11 11
12 12
13 13
14 14
15 15
16 16
17 17
18 18
19 20
20 21
21 22
22 23
23 24
24 25
25 26
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Superseded | Current
IPSAS 4 IPSAS 4
paragraphs | paragraph
51 52
52 53
53 54
54 55
55 56
56 57
57 58
58 59
59 60
60 61
61 62
62 63
63 64
64 65
65 66
66 67
67 68
68 69
69 70
70 71
71 72
72 73

None 19

Superseded | Current
IPSAS 4 IPSAS 4
paragraphs | paragraph
26 27
27 28
28 29
29 30
30 31
31 32
32 33
33 34
34 35
35 36
36 37
37 38
38 39
39 40
40 41
41 42
42 43
43 44
44 45
45 46
46 47
47 48
48 49
49 50
50 51

160



THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

Comparison with IAS 21

IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” is drawn primarily
from 1AS 21, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” (revised in
2003, as amended in 2005). The main differences between IPSAS 4 and IAS 21
are as follows:

Commentary additional to that in IAS 21 has been included in paragraphs 1,
11, 13, 26, 43, 45, 67, 68, 72 of IPSAS 4 to clarify the applicability of the
standards to accounting by public sector entities.

IPSAS 4 contains an additional transitional provision allowing an entity, when
first adopting IPSASs, to deem cumulative translation differences existing at
the date of first adoption of accrual IPSASs as zero (paragraph 67). This
transitional provision is adapted from IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards.”

IPSAS 4 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 21. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms revenue, economic entity,
statement of financial performance and net assets/equity in IPSAS 4. The
equivalent terms in 1AS 21 are income, group, statement of comprehensive
income and equity.
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The standards, which have been set in bold, should be read in the context of the
commentary paragraphs in this Standard which are in plain type, and in the context
of the ““Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards.” International
Public Sector Accounting Standards are not intended to apply to immaterial items.

Objective

This Standard prescribes the accounting treatment for borrowing costs. This Standard
generally requires the immediate expensing of borrowing costs. However, the
Standard permits, as an allowed alternative treatment, the capitalization of borrowing
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset.

Scope
1.
2.

This Standard should be applied in accounting for borrowing costs.

This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than
Government Business Enterprises.

The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by
the IPSASB explains that GBEs apply IFRSs which are issued by the IASB.
GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements.”

This Standard does not deal with the actual or imputed cost of net
assets/equity. Where jurisdictions apply a capital charge to individual
entities, judgment will need to be exercised to determine whether the charge
meets the definition of borrowing costs or whether it should be treated as an
actual or imputed cost of net assets/equity.

Definitions

5.

IPSAS 5

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Accrual basis means a basis of accounting under which transactions
and other events are recognized when they occur (and not only when
cash or its equivalent is received or paid). Therefore, the transactions
and events are recorded in the accounting records and recognized in
the financial statements of the periods to which they relate. The
elements recognized under accrual accounting are assets, liabilities, net
assets/equity, revenue and expenses.

Assets are resources controlled by an entity as a result of past events
and from which future economic benefits or service potential are
expected to flow to the entity.

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.

Contributions from owners means future economic benefits or service
potential that has been contributed to the entity by parties external to
the entity, other than those that result in liabilities of the entity, that
establish a financial interest in the net assets/equity of the entity, which:

(@)  Conveys entitlement both to distributions of future economic
benefits or service potential by the entity during its life, such
distributions being at the discretion of the owners or their
representatives, and to distributions of any excess of assets over
liabilities in the event of the entity being wound up; and/or

(b)  Can be sold, exchanged, transferred or redeemed.

Distributions to owners means future economic benefits or service
potential distributed by the entity to all or some of its owners, either as
a return on investment or as a return of investment.

Economic_entity means a group of entities comprising a controlling
entity and one or more controlled entities.

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits or service potential during
the reporting period in the form of outflows or consumption of assets or
incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in net assets/equity,
other than those relating to distributions to owners.

Government Business Enterprise means an entity that has all the
following characteristics:

€)) Is an entity with the power to contract in its own name;

(b) Has been assigned the financial and operational authority to
carry on a business;

(c) Sells goods and services, in the normal course of its business, to
other entities at a profit or full cost recovery;

(d) Is not reliant on continuing government funding to be a going
concern (other than purchases of outputs at arm’s length); and

(e) Is controlled by a public sector entity.

Liabilities are present obligations of the entity arising from past events,
the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the
entity of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential.

Net assets/equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after
deducting all its liabilities.

Qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.
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BORROWING COSTS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential
during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in
net assets/equity, other than increases relating to contributions from
OWners.

Terms defined in other International Public Sector Accounting
Standards are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those
other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms
published separately.

Borrowing Costs

6.

Borrowing costs may include:

@ Interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term
borrowings;

(b)  Amortization of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings;

(¢)  Amortization of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the
arrangement of borrowings;

(d) Finance charges in respect of finance leases; and

(e) Exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

Economic Entity

7.

The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for financial
reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the controlling entity and
any controlled entities.

Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity and group.

An economic entity may include entities with both social policy and
commercial objectives. For example, a government housing department
may be an economic entity which includes entities that provide housing for
a nominal charge, as well as entities that provide accommodation on a
commercial basis.

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential

10.

IPSAS 5

Assets provide a means for entities to achieve their objectives. Assets that
are used to deliver goods and services in accordance with an entity’s
objectives but which do not directly generate net cash inflows are often
described as embodying service potential. Assets that are used to generate
net cash inflows are often described as embodying “future economic
benefits.” To encompass all the purposes to which assets may be put, this
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Standard uses the term “future economic benefits or service potential” to
describe the essential characteristic of assets.

Government Business Enterprises

11.

Government Business Enterprises (GBESs) include both trading enterprises,
such as utilities, and financial enterprises, such as financial institutions.
GBEs are, in substance, no different from entities conducting similar
activities in the private sector. GBEs generally operate to make a profit,
although some may have limited community service obligations under
which they are required to provide some individuals and organizations in
the community with goods and services at either no charge or a significantly
reduced charge. IPSAS6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements” provides guidance on determining whether control exists for
financial reporting purposes, and should be referred to in determining
whether a GBE is controlled by another public sector entity.

Net Assets/Equity

12.

Net assets/equity is the term used in this Standard to refer to the residual
measure in the statement of financial position (assets less liabilities). Net
assets/equity may be positive or negative. Other terms may be used in place
of net assets/equity, provided that their meaning is clear.

Qualifying Assets

13.

Examples of qualifying assets are office buildings, hospitals, infrastructure
assets such as roads, bridges and power generation facilities, and
inventories that require a substantial period of time to bring them to a
condition ready for use or sale. Other investments, and those assets that are
routinely produced over a short period of time, are not qualifying assets.
Assets that are ready for their intended use or sale when acquired also are
not qualifying assets.

Borrowing Costs—Benchmark Treatment

Recognition

14,

Borrowing costs should be recognized as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

15. Under the benchmark treatment, borrowing costs are recognized as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred, regardless of how the
borrowings are applied.

Disclosure
16. The financial statements should disclose the accounting policy adopted

for borrowing costs.
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BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing Costs—Allowed Alternative Treatment

Recognition

17.

18.

19.

20.

Borrowing costs should be recognized as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized
in accordance with paragraph 18.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset should be capitalized as
part of the cost of that asset. The amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalization should be determined in accordance with this Standard.

Under the allowed alternative treatment, borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset are
included in the cost of that asset. Such borrowing costs are capitalized as
part of the cost of the asset when it is probable that they will result in future
economic benefits or service potential to the entity and the costs can be
measured reliably. Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Where an entity adopts the allowed alternative treatment, that
treatment should be applied consistently to all borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
all qualifying assets of the entity.

Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization

21.

22.

IPSAS 5

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are those borrowing costs
that would have been avoided if the outlays on the qualifying asset had not
been made. When an entity borrows funds specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a particular qualifying asset, the borrowing costs that directly
relate to that qualifying asset can be readily identified.

It may be difficult to identify a direct relationship between particular
borrowings and a qualifying asset and to determine the borrowings that
could otherwise have been avoided. Such a difficulty occurs, for example,
when the financing activity of an entity is co-ordinated centrally.
Difficulties also arise when an economic entity uses a range of debt
instruments to borrow funds at varying rates of interest, and transfers those
funds on various bases to other entities in the economic entity. Funds which
have been borrowed centrally may be transferred to other entities within the
economic entity as a loan, a grant or a capital injection. Such transfers may
be interest-free or require that only a portion of the actual interest cost be
recovered. Other complications arise through the use of loans denominated
in or linked to foreign currencies, when the economic entity operates in
highly inflationary economies, and from fluctuations in exchange rates. As
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23.

24,

25.

26.

217.

28.

BORROWING COSTS

a result, the determination of the amount of borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of a qualifying asset is difficult and the
exercise of judgment is required.

To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalization on that asset should be determined as the actual
borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period less any
investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings.

The financing arrangements for a qualifying asset may result in an entity
obtaining borrowed funds and incurring associated borrowing costs before
some or all of the funds are used for outlays on the qualifying asset. In such
circumstances, the funds are often temporarily invested pending their outlay
on the qualifying asset. In determining the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization during a period, any investment income earned on
such funds is deducted from the borrowing costs incurred.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization should be determined by applying a
capitalization rate to the outlays on that asset. The capitalization rate
should be the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the entity that are outstanding during the period, other
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during a
period should not exceed the amount of borrowing costs incurred
during that period.

Only those borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the entity may
be capitalized. When a controlling entity borrows funds which are passed
on to a controlled entity with no, or only partial, allocation of borrowing
costs, the controlled entity may capitalize only those borrowing costs which
it itself has incurred. Where a controlled entity receives an interest-free
capital contribution or capital grant, it will not incur any borrowing costs
and consequently will not capitalize any such costs.

When a controlling entity transfers funds at partial cost to a controlled
entity, the controlled entity may capitalize that portion of borrowing costs
which it itself has incurred. In the financial statements of the economic
entity, the full amount of borrowing costs can be capitalized to the
qualifying asset, provided that appropriate consolidation adjustments have
been made to eliminate those costs capitalized by the controlled entity.

When a controlling entity has transferred funds at no cost to a controlled
entity, neither the controlling entity nor the controlled entity would meet the
criteria for capitalization of borrowing costs. However, if the economic
entity met the criteria for capitalization of borrowing costs, it would be able
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29.

BORROWING COSTS

to capitalize the borrowing costs to the qualifying asset in its financial
statements.

In some circumstances, it is appropriate to include all borrowings of the
controlling entity and its controlled entities when computing a weighted
average of the borrowing costs; in other circumstances, it is appropriate for
each controlled entity to use a weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to its own borrowings.

Excess of the Carrying Amount of the Qualifying Asset over Recoverable

Amount

30.

When the carrying amount or the expected ultimate cost of the qualifying
asset exceeds its recoverable amount or net realizable value, the carrying
amount is written down or written off in accordance with the requirements
of other international and/or national accounting standards. In certain
circumstances, the amount of the write-down or write-off is written back in
accordance with those other standards.

Commencement of Capitalization

31.

32.

33.

IPSAS 5

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset should commence when:

@) Outlays for the asset are being incurred;
(b) Borrowing costs are being incurred; and

(c)  Activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress.

Outlays on a qualifying asset include only those outlays that have resulted
in payments of cash, transfers of other assets or the assumption of interest-
bearing liabilities. The average carrying amount of the asset during a period,
including borrowing costs previously capitalized, is normally a reasonable
approximation of the outlays to which the capitalization rate is applied in
that period.

The activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
encompass more than the physical construction of the asset. They include
technical and administrative work prior to the commencement of physical
construction, such as the activities associated with obtaining permits.
However, such activities exclude the holding of an asset when no
production or development that changes the asset’s condition is taking
place. For example, borrowing costs incurred while land is under
development are capitalized during the period in which activities related to
the development are being undertaken. However, borrowing costs incurred
while land acquired for building purposes is held without any associated
development activity do not qualify for capitalization.
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Suspension of Capitalization

34.

35.

Capitalization of borrowing costs should be suspended during extended
periods in which active development is interrupted, and expensed.

Borrowing costs may be incurred during an extended period in which the
activities necessary to prepare an asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted. Such costs are costs of holding partially completed assets and
do not qualify for capitalization. However, capitalization of borrowing costs
is not normally suspended during a period when substantial technical and
administrative work is being carried out. Capitalization of borrowing costs
is also not suspended when a temporary delay is a necessary part of the
process of getting an asset ready for its intended use or sale. For example,
capitalization continues during an extended period needed for inventories to
mature or an extended period during which high water levels delay
construction of a bridge, if such high water levels are common during the
construction period in the geographic region involved.

Cessation of Capitalization

36.

37.

38.

39.

Capitalization of borrowing costs should cease when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended
use or sale are complete.

An asset is normally ready for its intended use or sale when the physical
construction of the asset is complete even though routine administrative
work might still continue. If minor modifications, such as the decoration of
a property to the purchaser’s or user’s specification, are all that is
outstanding, this indicates that substantially all the activities are complete.

When the construction of a qualifying asset is completed in parts and
each part is capable of being used while construction continues on other
parts, capitalization of borrowing costs should cease when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare that part for its intended use or
sale are completed.

An office development comprising several buildings, each of which can be
used individually, is an example of a qualifying asset for which each part is
capable of being used while construction continues on other parts.
Examples of qualifying assets that need to be complete before any part can
be used include an operating theatre in a hospital when all construction
must be complete before the theatre may be used; a sewage treatment plant
where several processes are carried out in sequence at different parts of the
plant; and a bridge forming part of a highway.
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BORROWING COSTS

Disclosure

40.

The financial statements should disclose:
(@)  The accounting policy adopted for borrowing costs;

(b)  The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during the period;
and

(c)  The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for -capitalization (when it was
necessary to apply a capitalization rate to funds borrowed
generally).

Transitional Provisions

41.

When the adoption of this Standard constitutes a change in accounting
policy, an entity is encouraged to adjust its financial statements in
accordance with IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors.” Alternatively, entities following the allowed
alternative treatment should capitalize only those borrowing costs
incurred after the effective date of this Standard which meet the
criteria for capitalization.

Effective Date

42,

43.

IPSAS 5

This IPSAS becomes effective for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2001. Earlier application is
encouraged.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, for financial reporting
purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this Standard applies to the
entity’s annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
the date of adoption.
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Comparison with 1AS 23

International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 5, “Borrowing Costs” is
drawn primarily from International Accounting Standard (1AS) 23, “Borrowing
Costs.” The main differences between IPSAS 5 and IAS 23 are as follows:
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» Commentary additional to that in IAS 23 has been included in IPSAS5 to
clarify the applicability of the standards to accounting by public sector entities.

» IPSAS5 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 23. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms entity, revenue, statement of
financial performance, statement of financial position and net assets/equity in
IPSAS 5. The equivalent terms in IAS 23 are enterprise, income, income
statement, balance sheet and equity.

» |PSAS 5 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from IAS 23
(paragraph 5).
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 6, “Consolidated and Separated
Financial Statements” (IPSAS 6) is set out in paragraphs 1-71 and the Appendix.
All the paragraphs have equal authority. IPSAS 6 should be read in the context of
the Basis for Conclusion, and the “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting
Standards.” IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors” provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the
absence of explicit guidance.
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

IN1. IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,” replaces IPSAS 6,
“Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Controlled Entities”
(issued May 2000), and should be applied for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is encouraged.

Reasons for Revising IPSAS 6

IN2. The IPSASB developed this revised IPSAS 6 as a response to the
International Accounting Standards Board’s project on Improvements to
International Accounting Standards and its own policy to converge public
sector accounting standards with private sector standards to the extent
appropriate.

IN3. In developing this revised IPSAS 6, the IPSASB adopted the policy of
amending the IPSAS for those changes made to the former IAS 27,
“Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Controlled Entities”
made as a consequence of the IASB’s improvements project, except where
the original IPSAS had varied from the provisions of IAS 27 for a public
sector specific reason; such variances are retained in this IPSAS 6 and are
noted in the Comparison with IAS 27. Any changes to IAS 27 made
subsequent to the IASB’s improvements project have not been incorporated
into IPSAS 1.

Changes from Previous Requirements

IN4. The main changes from the previous version of IPSAS 6 are described below.

Scope

IN5. The Standard clarifies in paragraph 3 that it applies to accounting for
controlled entities, jointly controlled entities and associates in the separate
financial statements of a controlling entity, a venturer or an investor.

Definitions
IN6. The Standard:
. Defines two new terms: cost method and separate financial statements.

. No longer includes the unnecessary definitions: accounting policies,
accrual basis, assets, associates, cash, contributions from owners,
distributions to owners, equity method, expenses, “government business
enterprises, investor in a joint venture, joint control, joint venture,
liabilities, net assets/equity, reporting date, revenue and significant
influence.

. No longer includes the definition net surplus/deficit, which no longer
exists. This definition has also been eliminated from IPSAS 1,
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

“Presentation of Financial Statements” and IPSAS 3, “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.”

IN7. Includes in paragraphs 8—11 further illustrations of the term separate financial
statements. Previously, IPSAS 6 did not contain these illustrations.

Exemptions from Preparing Consolidated Financial Statements

IN8. The Standard clarifies and tightens in paragraph 16 the circumstances in
which a controlling entity is exempted from preparing consolidated financial
statements. A controlling entity need not present consolidated financial
statements if and only if:

. The controlling entity is itself a wholly-owned controlled entity and users
of such financial statements are unlikely to exist or their information
needs are met by its controlling entity’s consolidated financial
statements; or the controlling entity is a partially-owned controlled entity
of another entity and its other owners, including those not otherwise
entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not object to, the
controlling entity not preparing consolidated financial statements;

. The controlling entity’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a
public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-
counter market, including local and regional markets);

. The controlling entity did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its
financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory
organization for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a
public market; and

. The ultimate or any intermediate controlling entity of the controlling
entity produces consolidated financial statements available for public
use that comply with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards.

Previously, IPSAS 3 specified that a controlling entity that is a wholly
owned controlled entity, or is a virtually wholly owned, need not present
consolidated financial statements provided users of such financial
statements are unlikely to exist or their information needs are met by the
controlling entity’s consolidated financial statements; or, in the case of one
that is virtually wholly owned, the controlling entity obtains the approval of
the owners of the minority interest.

Exemptions from Consolidation

IN9. The Standard clarifies in paragraph 21 that a controlled entity shall be
excluded from consolidation when there is evidence that (a) control is
intended to be temporary because the controlled entity is acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its disposal within twelve months from acquisition
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IN10.

IN11.

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

and (b) management is actively seeking a buyer. The Standard further
specifies that when a controlled entity previously excluded from consolidation
is not disposed of within twelve months, it must be consolidated as from the
acquisition date unless narrowly specified circumstances apply.

The words “in the near future” used in previous IPSAS 6 were replaced with
the words “within twelve months.” In addition, there was no similar
requirement to (b) in previous IPSAS 6 for exclusion from consolidation.

The Standard clarifies in paragraph 26 that the requirement to consolidate
investments in controlled entities applies to venture capital organization,
mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities. Previously, IPSAS 6 did not
contain this clarification.

The Standard no longer provides the previous exemption from consolidating
for an entity which operates under external long-term severe restrictions
which prevents the controlling entity from benefiting from its activities (see
previous paragraphs 22(b) and 25).

Consolidation Procedures

IN12.

IN13.

IN14.

The Standard requires an entity to consider the existence and effect of
potential voting rights currently exercisable or convertible when assessing
whether it has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
another entity (see paragraphs 33, 34). Previously, IPSAS 6 did not contain
these requirements.

The Standard clarifies in paragraph 49 that an entity shall use uniform
accounting policies for reporting like transactions and other events in similar
circumstances. Previously, IPSAS 6 provided an exception to this requirement
when it was “not practicable to use uniform accounting policies.”

The Standard requires in paragraph 54 that minority interests shall be
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within net
assets/equity, separately from the controlling entity’s net assets/equity.
Previously, though IPSAS 6 precluded presentation of minority interests
within liabilities, it did not require presentation within net assets/equity.

Separate Financial Statements

IN15.

IN16.

The Standard requires in paragraph 58 that investments in controlled entities,
jointly controlled entities be accounted for using the equity method, at cost or
as a financial instrument. Previously IPSAS 6 required entities to be
accounted for using the equity method or as an investment.

The Standard requires in paragraph 60 that controlled entities, jointly
controlled entities and associates that are accounted for as financial
instruments in the consolidated financial statements shall be accounted for in
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the same way in the investor’s separate financial statements. Previously,
IPSAS 6 did not contain this requirement.

Disclosure

IN17. The Standard requires additional disclosures in respect of separate financial
statements (see paragraphs 63 and 64).

Amendments to Other IPSASs

IN18. The Standard includes an authoritative appendix of amendments to other
IPSASs that are not part of the IPSASs Improvements project and will be
impacted as a result of the proposals in this IPSAS.

Implementation Guidance

IN19. The Standard includes Implementation Guidance, which illustrates how to
consider the impact of potential voting rights on an entity’s power to govern
the financial and operating policies of another entity when implementing
IPSAS 6, IPSAS 7, “Investments in Associates” and IPSAS 8, “Interests in
Joint Ventures.”
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[a

o

IPSAS 6—CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL b
STATEMENTS =

Q

Scope E
1. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual E

basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in the preparation and
presentation of consolidated financial statements for an economic entity.

2. This Standard does not deal with methods of accounting for entity
combinations and their effects on consolidation, including goodwill arising on
an entity combination (guidance on accounting for entity combinations can be
found in the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing
with business combinations).

3. This Standard shall also be applied in accounting for controlled entities,
jointly controlled entities and associates when an entity elects, or is
required by local regulations, to present separate financial statements.

4. This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than Government
Business Enterprises.

5. The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by
the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)
explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) apply International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1, “Presentation of
Financial Statements.”

6. This Standard establishes requirements for the preparation and presentation of
consolidated financial statements, and for accounting for controlled entities,
jointly controlled entities and associates in the separate financial statements of
the controlling entity, the venturer and the investor. Although GBEs are not
required to comply with this Standard in their own financial statements, the
provisions of this Standard will apply where a public sector entity that is not a
GBE has one or more controlled entities, jointly controlled entities and
associates that are GBEs. In these circumstances, this Standard shall be
applied in consolidating GBEs into the financial statements of the economic
entity, and in accounting for investments in GBEs in the controlling entity’s,
the venturer’s and the investor’s separate financial statements.

Definitions
7. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of an
economic entity presented as those of a single entity.
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Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
another entity so as to benefit from its activities.

Controlled entity is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as
a partnership, that is under the control of another entity (known as the
controlling entity).

Controlling entity is an entity that has one or more controlled entities.

The cost method is a method of accounting for an investment whereby
the investment is recognized at cost. The investor recognizes revenue
from the investment only to the extent that the investor is entitled to
receive distributions from accumulated surpluses of the investee arising
after the date of acquisition. Entitlements due or received in excess of
such surpluses are regarded as a recovery of investment and are
recognized as a reduction of the cost of the investment.

Economic entity means a group of entities comprising a controlling entity
and one or more controlled entities.

Minority interest is that portion of the surplus or deficit and net
assets/equity of a controlled entity attributable to net assets/equity
interests that are not owned, directly or indirectly through controlled
entities, by the controlling entity.

Separate financial statements are those presented by a controlling entity,
an investor in an associate or a venturer in a jointly controlled entity, in
which the investments are accounted for on the basis of the direct net
assets/equity interest rather than on the basis of the reported results and
net assets of the investees.

Terms defined in other International Public Sector Accounting
Standards are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those
other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms
published separately.

Consolidated Financial Statements and Separate Financial Statements

8.

A controlling entity or its controlled entity may be an investor in an associate
or a venturer in a jointly controlled entity. In such cases, consolidated
financial statements prepared and presented in accordance with this Standard
are also prepared so as to comply with IPSAS 7, “Investments in Associates”
and IPSAS 8, “Interests in Joint Ventures.”

For an entity described in paragraph 8, separate financial statements are those
prepared and presented in addition to the financial statements referred to in
paragraph 8. Separate financial statements need not be appended to, or
accompany, those statements.
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10.

11.

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of an entity that does not have a controlled entity,
associate or venturer’s interest in a jointly controlled entity are not separate
financial statements.

A controlling entity that is exempted in accordance with paragraph 16 from
presenting consolidated financial statements may present separate financial
statements as its only financial statements.

Economic Entity

12.

13.

14.

The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for financial
reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the controlling entity and
any controlled entities.

Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity and group.

An economic entity may include entities with both social policy and
commercial objectives. For example, a government housing department may
be an economic entity which includes entities that provide housing for a
nominal charge, as well as entities that provide accommodation on a
commercial basis.

Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements

15.

16.

A controlling entity, other than a controlling entity described in
paragraph 16, shall present consolidated financial statements in which it
consolidates its controlled entities in accordance with this Standard.

A controlling entity need not present consolidated financial statements if
and only if:

(a)  The controlling entity is:

(1)  Itself a wholly-owned controlled entity and users of such
financial statements are unlikely to exist or their information
needs are met by its controlling entity’s consolidated
financial statements; or

(il) A partially-owned controlled entity of another entity and its
other owners, including those not otherwise entitled to vote,
have been informed about, and do not object to, the
controlling entity not presenting consolidated financial
statements;

(b)  The controlling entity’s debt or equity instruments are not traded
in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an
over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets);

(c)  The controlling entity did not file, nor is it in the process of filing,
its financial statements with a securities commission or other
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17.

18.

19.

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

regulatory organization for the purpose of issuing any class of
instruments in a public market; and

(d) The ultimate or any intermediate controlling entity of the
controlling entity produces consolidated financial statements
available for public use that comply with International Public
Sector Accounting Standards.

In the public sector many controlling entities that are either wholly owned or
partially owned, represent key sectors or activities of a government and the
purpose of this Standard is not to exempt such entities from preparing
consolidated financial statements. In this situation, the information needs of
certain users may not be served by the consolidated financial statements at a
whole-of-government level alone. In many jurisdictions, governments have
recognized this and have legislated the financial reporting requirements of
such entities.

In some instances, an economic entity will include a number of intermediate
controlling entities. For example, whilst a department of health may be the
ultimate controlling entity, there may be intermediate controlling entities at
the local or regional health authority level. Accountability and reporting
requirements in each jurisdiction may specify which entities are required to
(or exempted from the requirement to) prepare consolidated financial
statements. Where there is no specific reporting requirement for an
intermediate controlling entity to prepare consolidated financial statements for
which users are likely to exist, intermediate controlling entities are to prepare
and publish consolidated financial statements.

A controlling entity that elects in accordance with paragraph 16 not to present
consolidated financial statements, and presents only separate financial
statements, complies with paragraphs 58-64.

Scope of Consolidated Financial Statements

20.

21.

22.

Consolidated financial statements shall include all controlled entities of
the controlling entity, except those referred to in paragraph 21.

A controlled entity shall be excluded from consolidation when there is
evidence that (a) control is intended to be temporary because the
controlled entity is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its
disposal within twelve months from acquisition and (b) management is
actively seeking a buyer.

Such controlled entities are classified and accounted for as financial
instruments. The relevant international or national accounting standard
dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments
provides guidance on classification and accounting for financial instruments.
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23.  An example of temporary control is where a controlled entity is acquired with
a firm plan to dispose of it within twelve months. This may occur where an
economic entity is acquired and an entity within it is to be disposed of
because its activities are dissimilar to those of the acquirer. Temporary control
also occurs where the controlling entity intends to cede control over a
controlled entity to another entity—for example a national government may
transfer its interest in a controlled entity to a local government. For this
exemption to apply, the controlling entity must be demonstrably committed to
a formal plan to dispose of, or no longer control, the entity that is subject to
temporary control. An entity is demonstrably committed to dispose of, or no
longer control, another entity when it has a formal plan to do so and there is
no realistic possibility of withdrawal from that plan.
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24.  When a controlled entity previously excluded from consolidation in
accordance with paragraph 21 is not disposed of within twelve months, it
shall be consolidated as from the acquisition date (guidance on the acquisition
date can be found in the relevant international or national accounting standard
dealing with business combinations). Financial statements for the periods
since acquisition are restated.

25.  Exceptionally, an entity may have found a buyer for a controlled entity
excluded from consolidation in accordance with paragraph 21, but may not
have completed the sale within twelve months of acquisition because of the
need for approval by regulators or others. The entity is not required to
consolidate such a controlled entity if the sale is in process at the reporting
date and there is no reason to believe that it will not be completed shortly after
the reporting date.

26. A controlled entity is not excluded from consolidation simply because the
investor is a venture capital organization, mutual fund, unit trust or similar
entity.

27. A controlled entity is not excluded from consolidation because its activities
are dissimilar to those of the other entities within the economic entity, for
example, the consolidation of GBEs with entities in the budget sector.
Relevant information is provided by consolidating such controlled entities and
disclosing additional information in the consolidated financial statements
about the different activities of controlled entities. For example, the
disclosures required by IPSAS 18, “Segment Reporting” help to explain the
significance of different activities within the economic entity.

Establishing Control of Another Entity for Financial Reporting Purposes

28.  Whether an entity controls another entity for financial reporting purposes is a
matter of judgment based on the definition of control in this Standard and the
particular circumstances of each case. That is, consideration needs to be given to
the nature of the relationship between the two entities. In particular, the two
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elements of the definition of control in this Standard need to be considered.
These are the power element (the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of another entity) and the benefit element (which represents the ability
of the controlling entity to benefit from the activities of the other entity).

For the purposes of establishing control, the controlling entity needs to benefit
from the activities of the other entity. For example, an entity may benefit from
the activities of another entity in terms of a distribution of its surpluses (such
as a dividend) and is exposed to the risk of a potential loss. In other cases, an
entity may not obtain any financial benefits from the other entity but may
benefit from its ability to direct the other entity to work with it to achieve its
objectives. It may also be possible for an entity to derive both financial and
non-financial benefits from the activities of another entity. For example, a
GBE may provide a controlling entity with a dividend and also enable it to
achieve some of its social policy objectives.

Control for Financial Reporting Purposes

30.

31.

32.

For the purposes of financial reporting, control stems from an entity’s power
to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity and does not
necessarily require an entity to hold a majority shareholding or other equity
interest in the other entity. The power to control must be presently
exercisable. That is, the entity must already have had this power conferred
upon it by legislation or some formal agreement. The power to control is not
presently exercisable if it requires changing legislation or renegotiating
agreements in order to be effective. This should be distinguished from the fact
that the existence of the power to control another entity is not dependent upon
the probability or likelihood of that power being exercised.

Similarly, the existence of control does not require an entity to have
responsibility for the management of (or involvement in) the day-to-day
operations of the other entity. In many cases, an entity may only exercise its
power to control another entity where there is a breach or revocation of an
agreement between the controlled entity and its controlling entity.

For example, a government department may have an ownership interest in a rail
authority, which operates as a GBE. The rail authority is allowed to operate
autonomously and does not rely on the government for funding but has raised
capital through significant borrowings that are guaranteed by the government.
The rail authority has not returned a dividend to government for several years.
The government has the power to appoint and remove a majority of the
members of the governing body of the rail authority. The government has never
exercised the power to remove members of the governing body and would be
reluctant to do so because of sensitivity in the electorate regarding the previous
government’s involvement in the operation of the rail network. In this case, the
power to control is presently exercisable but under the existing relationship
between the controlled entity and controlling entity, an event has not occurred to
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35.
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warrant the controlling entity exercising its powers over the controlled entity.
Accordingly, control exists because the power to control is sufficient even
though the controlling entity may choose not to exercise that power.

An entity may own share warrants, share call options, debt or equity instruments
that are convertible into ordinary shares, or other similar instruments that have
the potential, if exercised or converted, to give the entity voting power or reduce
another party’s voting power over the financial and operating policies of another
entity (potential voting rights). The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by another entity, are considered when assessing whether an entity
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity.
Potential voting rights are not currently exercisable or convertible when, for
example, they cannot be exercised or converted until a future date or until the
occurrence of a future event.

In assessing whether potential voting rights contribute to control, the entity
examines all facts and circumstances (including the terms of exercise of the
potential voting rights and any other contractual arrangements whether
considered individually or in combination) that affect potential voting rights,
except the intention of management and the financial ability to exercise or
convert.

The existence of separate legislative powers does not, of itself, preclude an
entity from being controlled by another entity. For example, the Office of the
Government ~Statistician usually has statutory powers to operate
independently of the government. That is, the Office of the Government
Statistician may have the power to obtain information and report on its
findings without recourse to government or any other body. The existence of
control does not require an entity to have responsibility over the day-to-day
operations of another entity or the manner in which professional functions are
performed by the entity.

The power of one entity to govern decision-making in relation to the financial
and operating policies of another entity is insufficient, in itself, to ensure the
existence of control as defined in this Standard. The controlling entity needs
to be able to govern decision-making so as to be able to benefit from its
activities, for example by enabling the other entity to operate with it as part of
an economic entity in pursuing its objectives. This will have the effect of
excluding from the definitions of a “controlling entity” and “controlled entity”
relationships which do not extend beyond, for instance, that of a liquidator
and the entity being liquidated, and would normally exclude a lender and
borrower relationship. Similarly, a trustee whose relationship with a trust does
not extend beyond the normal responsibilities of a trustee would not be
considered to control the trust for the purposes of this Standard.
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Regulatory and Purchase Power

37.

Governments and their agencies have the power to regulate the behavior of
many entities by use of their sovereign or legislative powers. Regulatory and
purchase powers do not constitute control for the purposes of financial
reporting. To ensure that the financial statements of public sector entities
include only those resources that they control and can benefit from, the
meaning of control for the purposes of this Standard does not extend to:

(a)  The power of the legislature to establish the regulatory framework
within which entities operate and to impose conditions or sanctions on
their operations. Such power does not constitute control by a public
sector entity of the assets deployed by these entities. For example, a
pollution control authority may have the power to close down the
operations of entities that are not complying with environmental
regulations. However, this power does not constitute control because
the pollution control authority only has the power to regulate; or

(b)  Entities that are economically dependent on a public sector entity. That
is, where an entity retains discretion as to whether it will take funding
from, or do business with, a public sector entity, that entity has the
ultimate power to govern its own financial or operating policies, and
accordingly is not controlled by the public sector entity. For example, a
government department may be able to influence the financial and
operating policies of an entity which is dependent on it for funding
(such as a charity) or a profit-orientated entity that is economically
dependent on business from it. Accordingly, the government
department has some power as a purchaser but not to govern the
entity’s financial and operating policies.

Determining Whether Control Exists for Financial Reporting Purposes

38.

39.

Public sector entities may create other entities to achieve some of their
objectives. In some cases it may be clear that an entity is controlled, and
hence should be consolidated. In other cases it may not be clear. Paragraphs
39 and 40 provide guidance to help determine whether or not control exists
for financial reporting purposes.

In examining the relationship between two entities, control is presumed to
exist when at least one of the following power conditions and one of the
following benefit conditions exists, unless there is clear evidence of control
being held by another entity.

Power conditions

(a) The entity has, directly or indirectly through controlled entities,
ownership of a majority voting interest in the other entity.
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(b)  The entity has the power, either granted by or exercised within existing
legislation, to appoint or remove a majority of the members of the
board of directors or equivalent governing body and control of the
other entity is by that board or by that body.
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(¢)  The entity has the power to cast, or regulate the casting of, a majority of
the votes that are likely to be cast at a general meeting of the other entity.

(d)  The entity has the power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the
board of directors or equivalent governing body and control of the
other entity is by that board or by that body.

Benefit conditions

(a)  The entity has the power to dissolve the other entity and obtain a
significant level of the residual economic benefits or bear significant
obligations. For example the benefit condition may be met if an entity
had responsibility for the residual liabilities of another entity.

(b)  The entity has the power to extract distributions of assets from the
other entity, and/or may be liable for certain obligations of the other
entity.

When one or more of the circumstances listed in paragraph 39 does not exist,
the following factors are likely, either individually or collectively, to be
indicative of the existence of control.

Power indicators

(a)  The entity has the ability to veto operating and capital budgets of the
other entity.

(b)  The entity has the ability to veto, overrule, or modify governing body
decisions of the other entity.

(c)  The entity has the ability to approve the hiring, reassignment and
removal of key personnel of the other entity.

(d) The mandate of the other entity is established and limited by
legislation.

(e)  The entity holds a golden share! (or equivalent) in the other entity that
confers rights to govern the financial and operating policies of that
other entity.

Golden share refers to a class of share that entitles the holder to specified powers or rights generally
exceeding those normally associated with the holder’s ownership interest or representation on the
governing body.
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Benefit indicators

(a)  The entity holds direct or indirect title to the net assets/equity of the
other entity with an ongoing right to access these.

(b)  The entity has a right to a significant level of the net assets/equity of
the other entity in the event of a liquidation or in a distribution other
than a liquidation.

(c)  The entity is able to direct the other entity to co-operate with it in
achieving its objectives.

(d)  The entity is exposed to the residual liabilities of the other entity.

41.  The following diagram indicates the basic steps involved in establishing control
of another entity. It should be read in conjunction with paragraphs 28 to 40.
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Establishing Control of another Entity for Financial Reporting Purposes

Does the entity benefit from the
activities of the other entity?

(Paragraphs 29, 39 and 40) No
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v

Yes
v

Does the entity have the power to No

A 4

govern the financial and
operating policies of the other
entity?

(Paragraphs 30, 33, 34, 39 and

Yes

\ 4

No
Is the power to govern the

financial and operating policies >
presently exercisable?

Yes

A 4

A\ 4

Entity controls other entity.

Control does not appear to
exist. Consider whether the
other entity is an associate, as
defined in IPSAS 7, or whether
the relationship between the
two entities constitutes “joint
control” as in IPSAS 8.
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A controlling entity loses control when it loses the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of a controlled entity so as to benefit from its
activities. The loss of control can occur with or without a change in absolute
or relative ownership levels. It could occur, for example, when a controlled
entity becomes subject to the control of another government, a court,
administrator or regulator. It could also occur as a result of a contractual
agreement or, for example, a foreign government may sequester the operating
assets of a foreign controlled entity so that the controlling entity loses the
power to govern the operating policies of the controlled entity. In this case,
control is unlikely to exist.

Consolidation Procedures

43.

44,

45.

In preparing consolidated financial statements, an entity combines the
financial statements of the controlling entity and its controlled entities line by
line by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, net assets/equity,
revenue and expenses. In order that the consolidated financial statements
present financial information about the economic entity as that of a single
entity, the following steps are then taken:

(a) The carrying amount of the controlling entity’s investment in each
controlled entity and the controlling entity’s portion of net assets/equity
of each controlled entity are eliminated ( the relevant international or
national accounting standard dealing with business combinations
provides guidance on the treatment of any resultant goodwill);

(b)  Minority interests in the surplus or deficit of consolidated controlled
entities for the reporting period are identified; and

(¢)  Minority interests in the net assets/equity of consolidated controlled
entities are identified separately from the controlling entity’s net
assets/equity in them. Minority interests in the net assets/equity consist
of:

(1) The amount of those minority interests at the date of the original
combination (the relevant international or national accounting
standard dealing with business combinations provides guidance
on calculating this amount); and

(i)  The minority’s share of changes in net assets/equity since the
date of combination.

When potential voting rights exist, the proportions of surplus or deficit and
changes in net assets/equity allocated to the controlling entity and minority
interests are determined on the basis of present ownership interests and do not
reflect the possible exercise or conversion of potential voting rights.

Balances, transactions, revenues and expenses between entities within the
economic entity shall be eliminated in full.

IPSAS 6 192



46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balances and transactions between entities within the economic entity,
including revenues from sales and transfers, revenues recognized consequent
to an appropriation or other budgetary authority, expenses and dividends or
similar distributions, are eliminated in full. Surpluses and deficits resulting
from transactions within the economic entity that are recognized in assets,
such as inventory and fixed assets, are eliminated in full. Deficits within the
economic entity may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the
consolidated financial statements. Guidance on accounting for temporary
differences that arise from the elimination of surpluses and deficits resulting
from transactions within the economic entity, can be found in the relevant
international or national accounting standard dealing with income taxes.

The financial statements of the controlling entity and its controlled
entities used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
shall be prepared as of the same reporting date. When the reporting
dates of the controlling entity and a controlled entity are different, the
controlled entity prepares, for consolidation purposes, additional
financial statements as of the same date as the financial statements of the
controlling entity unless it is impracticable to do so.

When in accordance with paragraph 47, the financial statements of a
controlled entity used in the preparation of consolidated financial
statements are prepared as of a reporting date different from that of the
controlling entity, adjustments shall be made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the
controlling entity’s financial statements. In any case, the difference
between the reporting date of the controlled entity and that of the
controlling entity shall be no more than three months. The length of the
reporting periods and any difference in the reporting dates shall be the
same from period to period.

Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared using uniform
accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar
circumstances.

If a member of the economic entity uses accounting policies other than those
adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its
financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and expenses of a controlled entity are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date (the relevant
international or national accounting standard dealing with business
combinations provides guidance on the meaning of the acquisition date). The
revenue and expenses of a controlled entity are included in the consolidated
financial statements until the date on which the controlling entity ceases to
control the controlled entity. The difference between the proceeds from the
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52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.
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disposal of the controlled entity and its carrying amount as of the date of
disposal, including the cumulative amount of any exchange differences that
relate to the controlled entity recognized in net assets/equity in accordance
with IPSAS 4, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates,” is
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial performance as the gain
or loss on the disposal of the controlled entity.

From the date an entity ceases to be a controlled entity, provided that it does
not become an associate as defined in IPSAS 7 or a jointly controlled entity as
defined in IPSAS 8, it shall be accounted for as a financial instrument. The
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments provides guidance on
accounting for financial instruments.

The carrying amount of the investment at the date that the entity ceases to be a
controlled entity shall be regarded as the cost on initial measurement of a
financial instrument.

Minority interests shall be presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within net assets/equity, separately from the controlling
entity’s net assets/equity. Minority interests in the surplus or deficit of
the economic entity shall also be separately disclosed.

The surplus or deficit is attributed to the controlling entity and minority
interests. Because both are net assets/equity, the amount attributed to minority
interests is not revenue or expense.

Losses applicable to the minority in a consolidated controlled entity may
exceed the minority interest in the controlled entity’s net assets/equity. The
excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority, are allocated against
the majority interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses. If
the controlled entity subsequently reports surpluses, such surpluses are
allocated to the majority interest until the minority’s share of losses
previously absorbed by the majority has been recovered.

If a controlled entity has outstanding cumulative preference shares that are
held by minority interests and classified as net assets/equity, the controlling
entity computes its share of surpluses or deficits after adjusting for the
dividends on such shares, whether or not dividends have been declared.

Accounting for Controlled Entities, Jointly Controlled Entities
and Associates in Separate Financial Statements

58.

When separate financial statements are prepared, investments in
controlled entities, jointly controlled entities and associates shall be
accounted for:

(a)  Using the equity method as described in IPSAS 7;
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(b) At cost; or
(c)  As financial instruments.
The same accounting shall be applied for each category of investments.

This Standard does not mandate which entities produce separate financial
statements available for public use. Paragraphs 58 and 60-64 apply when an
entity prepares separate financial statements that comply with International
Public Sector Accounting Standards. The entity also produces consolidated
financial statements available for public use as required by paragraph 15,
unless the exemption provided in paragraph 16 is applicable.

Controlled entities, jointly controlled entities and associates that are
accounted for as financial instruments in the consolidated financial
statements shall be accounted for in the same way in the investor’s
separate financial statements.

Guidance on accounting for financial instruments can be found in the relevant
international or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments.

Disclosure

62.

The following disclosures shall be made in consolidated financial
statements:

(a)  Alist of significant controlled entities;

(b)  The fact that a controlled entity is not consolidated in accordance
with paragraph 21;

(¢) Summarized financial information of controlled entities, either
individually or in groups, that are not consolidated, including the
amounts of total assets, total liabilities, revenues and surplus or
deficit;

(d) The name of any controlled entity in which the controlling entity
holds an ownership interest and/or voting rights of 50% or less,
together with an explanation of how control exists;

(e)  The reasons why the ownership interest of more than 50% of the
voting or potential voting power of an investee does not constitute
control;

® The reporting date of the financial statements of a controlled entity
when such financial statements are used to prepare consolidated
financial statements and are as of a reporting date or for a period
that is different from that of the controlling entity, and the reason
for using a different reporting date or period; and
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The nature and extent of any significant restrictions (e.g. resulting
from borrowing arrangements or regulatory requirements) on the
ability of controlled entities to transfer funds to the controlling
entity in the form of cash dividends, or similar distributions, or to
repay loans or advances.

63.  When separate financial statements are prepared for a controlling entity
that, in accordance with paragraph 16, elects not to prepare consolidated
financial statements, those separate financial statements shall disclose:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The fact that the financial statements are separate financial
statements; that the exemption from consolidation has been used;
the name of the entity whose consolidated financial statements that
comply with International Public Sector Accounting Standards
have been produced for public use and the jurisdiction in which
the entity operates (when it is different from that of the controlling
entity); and the address where those consolidated financial
statements are obtainable;

A list of significant controlled entities, jointly controlled entities and
associates, including the name, the jurisdiction in which the entity
operates (when it is different from that of the controlling entity),
proportion of ownership interest and, where that interest is in the
form of shares, the proportion of voting power held (only where this
is different from the proportionate ownership interest); and

A description of the method used to account for the entities listed
under (b).

64. When a controlling entity (other than a controlling entity covered by
paragraph 63), venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity or
an investor in an associate prepares separate financial statements, those
separate financial statements shall disclose:

(a)

(b)

(c)

IPSAS 6

The fact that the statements are separate financial statements and
the reasons why those statements are prepared if not required by
law, legislation or other authority;

A list of significant controlled entities, jointly controlled entities and
associates, including the name, the jurisdiction in which the entity
operates (when it is different from that of the controlling entity),
proportion of ownership interest and, where that interest is in the
form of shares, the proportion of voting power held (only where this
is different from the proportionate ownership interest); and

A description of the method used to account for the entities listed
under (b);
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and shall identify the financial statements prepared in accordance with
paragraph 15 of this Standard, IPSAS 7 and IPSAS 8 to which they relate.

Transitional Provisions

65.

66.

67.

68.

Entities are not required to comply with the requirement in
paragraph 45 concerning the elimination of balances and transactions
between entities within the economic entity for reporting periods
beginning on a date within three years following the date of first adoption
of accrual accounting in accordance with International Public Sector
Accounting Standards.

Controlling entities that adopt accrual accounting for the first time in
accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards may have
many controlled entities with significant number of transactions between
these entities. Accordingly, it may be difficult to identify some transactions
and balances that need to be eliminated for the purpose of preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the economic entity. For this reason,
paragraph 65 provides relief from the requirement to eliminate balances and
transactions between entities within the economic entity in full.

Where entities apply the transitional provision in paragraph 65, they
shall disclose the fact that not all balances and transactions occurring
between entities within the economic entity have been eliminated.

Transitional provisions in IPSAS 6 (2000) provide entities with a period of up to
three years to fully eliminate balances and transactions between entities within
the economic entity from the date of its first application. Entities that have
previously applied IPSAS 6 (2000) may continue to take advantage of this
three-year transitional period from the date of first application of IPSAS 6
(2000).

Effective Date

69.

70.

An entity shall apply this International Public Sector Accounting
Standard for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity
applies this Standard for a period beginning before January 1, 2008, it
shall disclose that fact.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, for financial reporting
purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this Standard applies to the
entity’s annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after the
date of adoption.
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Withdrawal of IPSAS 6 (2000)

71.  This Standard supersedes IPSAS 6, “Consolidated Financial Statements and
Accounting for Controlled Entities” issued in 2000.
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Appendix

Amendments to Other IPSASs

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. If an entity applies this
Standard for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that earlier
period.

Al. In International Public Sector Accounting Standards applicable at January 1,
2008, references to the current version of IPSAS 6, “Consolidated Financial
Statements and Accounting for Controlled Entities” are amended to IPSAS 6,
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.”

A2. The following is added to paragraph 4(f) of IPSAS 15, “Financial
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”:

However, entities shall apply this Standard to an interest in a controlling
entity, associate or joint venture that according to IPSAS 6, IPSAS 7 or
IPSAS 8 is accounted for as a financial instrument. In these cases, entities
shall apply the disclosure requirements in IPSAS 6, IPSAS 7 and IPSAS
8 in addition to those in this Standard.
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Implementation Guidance—Consideration of Potential Voting
Rights

Guidance on implementing IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements,” IPSAS 7, “Investments in Associates” and IPSAS 8, “Interests in
Joint Ventures.”

This guidance accompanies IPSAS 6, IPSAS 7 and IPSAS 8, but is not part of them.

Introduction

IG1

1G2.

Most public sector entities do not issue financial instruments with potential
voting rights. However, they may be issued by GBEs. Therefore, a government
or other public sector entity may hold potential voting rights of GBEs.

Paragraphs 33, 34 and 44 of IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements” and paragraphs 14 and 15 of IPSAS 7, “Investments in
Associates” require an entity to consider the existence and effect of all
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible. They also
require all facts and circumstances that affect potential voting rights to be
examined, except the intention of management and the financial ability to
exercise or convert potential voting rights. Because the definition of joint
control in paragraph 6 of IPSAS 8, “Interests in Joint Ventures” depends upon
the definition of control, and because that Standard is linked to IPSAS 7 for
application of the equity method, this guidance is also relevant to [IPSAS 8.

Guidance

IG3.

1G4.

Paragraph 7 of IPSAS 6 defines control as the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to benefit from its activities.
Paragraph 7 of IPSAS 7 defines significant influence as the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
not to control those policies. Paragraph 6 of IPSAS 8 defines joint control as
the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a binding agreement. In these
contexts, power refers to the ability to do or affect something. Consequently,
an entity has control, joint control or significant influence when it currently
has the ability to exercise that power, regardless of whether control, joint
control or significant influence is actively demonstrated or is passive in
nature. Potential voting rights held by an entity that are currently exercisable
or convertible provide this ability. The ability to exercise power does not exist
when potential voting rights lack economic substance (e.g., the exercise price
is set in a manner that precludes exercise or conversion in any feasible
scenario). Consequently, potential voting rights are considered when, in
substance, they provide the ability to exercise power.

Control and significant influence also arise in the circumstances described in
paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6 and paragraphs 12 and 13 of IPSAS 7
respectively, which include consideration of the relative ownership of voting
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rights. IPSAS 8 depends on IPSAS 6 and IPSAS 7 and references to IPSAS 6
and IPSAS 7 from this point onwards should be read as being relevant to IPSAS
8. Nevertheless it should be borne in mind that joint control involves sharing of
control by a binding agreement and this aspect is likely to be the critical
determinant. Potential voting rights such as share call options and convertible
debt are capable of changing an entity’s voting power over another entity—if
the potential voting rights are exercised or converted, then the relative
ownership of the ordinary shares carrying voting rights changes. Consequently,
the existence of control (the definition of which permits only one entity to have
control of another entity) and significant influence are determined only after
assessing all the factors described in paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6 and
paragraphs 12 and 13 of IPSAS 7 respectively, and considering the existence
and effect of potential voting rights. In addition, the entity examines all facts and
circumstances that affect potential voting rights except the intention of
management and the financial ability to exercise or convert. The intention of
management does not affect the existence of power and the financial ability of
an entity to exercise or convert is difficult to assess.

An entity may initially conclude that it controls or significantly influences
another entity after considering the potential voting rights that it can currently
exercise or convert. However, the entity may not control or significantly
influence the other entity when potential voting rights held by other parties are
also currently exercisable or convertible. Consequently, an entity considers all
potential voting rights held by it and by other parties that are currently
exercisable or convertible when determining whether it controls or significantly
influences another entity. For example, all share call options are considered,
whether held by the entity or another party. Furthermore, the definition of
control in paragraph 7 of IPSAS 6 permits only one entity to have control of
another entity. Therefore, when two or more entities each hold significant voting
rights, both actual and potential, the factors in paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6
are reassessed to determine which entity has control.

The proportion allocated to the controlling entity and minority interests in
preparing consolidated financial statements in accordance with IPSAS 6, and
the proportion allocated to an investor that accounts for its investment using
the equity method in accordance with IPSAS 7, are determined solely on the
basis of present ownership interests. The proportion allocated is determined
taking into account the eventual exercise of potential voting rights and other
derivatives that, in substance, give access at present to the economic benefits
associated with an ownership interest.

In some circumstances an entity has, in substance, a present ownership as a
result of a transaction that gives it access to the economic benefits or service
potential associated with an ownership interest. In such circumstances, the
proportion allocated is determined taking into account the eventual exercise of
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those potential voting rights and other derivatives that give the entity access to
the economic benefits at present.

IG8. The relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments provides guidance on
accounting for financial instruments. However, it does not apply to interests
in controlled entities, associates and jointly controlled entities that are
consolidated, accounted for using the equity method or proportionately
consolidated in accordance with IPSAS 6, IPSAS 7 and IPSAS 8 respectively.
When instruments containing potential voting rights in substance currently
give access to the economic benefits or service potential associated with an
ownership interest, and the investment is accounted for in one of the above
ways, the instruments are not subject to the requirements of the relevant
international or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments. In all other cases, guidance on
accounting for instruments containing potential voting rights can be found in
the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments.

Ilustrative Examples

IG9. The ten examples below each illustrate one aspect of a potential voting right. In
applying IPSAS 6, IPSAS 7 or IPSAS 8, an entity considers all aspects. The
existence of control, significant influence and joint control can be determined
only after assessing the other factors described in IPSAS 6, IPSAS 7 and IPSAS
8. For the purpose of these examples, however, those other factors are presumed
not to affect the determination, even though they may affect it when assessed.

Example 1A: Options are out of the money

Entities A and B own 80 percent and 20 percent respectively of the ordinary
shares that carry voting rights at a general meeting of shareholders of Entity
C. Entity A sells one-half of its interest to Entity D and buys call options from
Entity D that are exercisable at any time at a premium to the market price
when issued, and if exercised would give Entity A its original 80 percent
ownership interest and voting rights.

Though the options are out of the money, they are currently exercisable and
give Entity A the power to continue to set the operating and financial policies
of Entity C, because Entity A could exercise its options now. The existence of
the potential voting rights, as well as the other factors described in
paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6, are considered and it is determined that
Entity A controls Entity C.
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Example 1B: Right to Purchase at Premium to Fair Value

The municipalities of Dunelm and Eboracum own 80 percent and 20 percent
respectively of Dunelm-Eboracum General Hospital, a public sector entity
established by charter. The hospital is managed by a board of ten trustees,
appointed by the municipalities in proportion to their ownership interest of the
hospital. The charter permits either municipality to sell part or its entire
ownership interest in the hospital to another municipality within the region.
Dunelm sells one-half of its interest to the municipality of Formio, however
the sale contract gives Dunelm the right to repurchase Formio’s interest in the
hospital at an amount equal to 115 percent of the fair value of the ownership
interest determined by an independent valuer. This right is exercisable at any
time and, if exercised would give Dunelm its original 80 percent ownership
interest and the right to appoint trustees accordingly.
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Although the right to reacquire the ownership interest sold to Formio would
involve paying a premium over the fair value, the right is currently
exercisable and gives Dunelm the power to continue to set the operating and
financial policies of the Dunelm-Eboracum General Hospital, because
Dunelm could exercise its right to reacquire Formio’s interest now. The
existence of the potential right to appoint trustees, as well as the other factors
described in paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6, are considered and it is
determined that the municipality of Dunelm controls the Dunelm-Eboracum
General Hospital.

Example 2A: Possibility of exercise or conversion

Entities A, B and C own 40 percent, 30 percent and 30 percent respectively of
the ordinary shares that carry voting rights at a general meeting of
shareholders of Entity D. Entity A also owns call options that are exercisable
at any time at the fair value of the underlying shares and if exercised would
give it an additional 20 percent of the voting rights in Entity D and reduce
Entity B’s and Entity C’s interests to 20 percent each. If the options are
exercised, Entity A will have control over more than one-half of the voting
power. The existence of the potential voting rights, as well as the other factors
described in paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6 and paragraphs 12 and 13 of
IPSAS 7, are considered and it is determined that Entity A controls Entity D.

Example 2B: Possibility of exercise of rights

The federal government of Arandis, in agreement with the state governments of
Brixia and Mutina, establishes the University of Pola-Iluro. The University of
Pola-Iluro is near the cities of Pola, Brixia and Iluro, Mutina, which are located
next to each other on the border between the two states. The federal legislation
that establishes the University of Pola-Iluro provides that the federal minister of
education has the right to appoint four of the ten governors that manage the
university. The state ministers of education of Brixia and Mutina are given the
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right to appoint three governors each. The legislation also provides that the
federal government has ownership of 40 percent of the university’s net assets,
with the state governments having 30 percent each. The federal legislation gives
the federal minister of education the right to acquire an additional 20 percent of
the ownership in the university’s net assets, with the right to appoint an
additional two governors. This right is exercisable at any time, at the discretion
of the federal minister. It requires the federal government to pay each state
government the fair value of the net assets of the university acquired. If the
federal government exercises its right, it would own 60 percent of the net assets
of the university, and have the right to appoint six of the ten governors. This
would reduce the state governments’ ownership to 20 percent each, with the
right to appoint only two governors each.

The existence of the potential right to appoint the majority of the university’s
governors, as well as the other factors described in paragraphs 39 and 40 of
IPSAS 6 and paragraphs 12 and 13 of IPSAS 7, are considered and it is
determined that the federal government of Arandis controls the University of
Pola-Iluro.

Example 3A: Other rights that have the potential to increase an entity’s voting
power or reduce another entity’s voting power

Entities A, B and C own 25 percent, 35 percent and 40 percent respectively of
the ordinary shares that carry voting rights at a general meeting of
shareholders of Entity D. Entities B and C also have share warrants that are
exercisable at any time at a fixed price and provide potential voting rights.
Entity A has a call option to purchase these share warrants at any time for a
nominal amount. If the call option is exercised, Entity A would have the
potential to increase its ownership interest, and thereby its voting rights, in
Entity D to 51 percent (and dilute Entity B’s interest to 23 percent and Entity
C’s interest to 26 percent).

Although the share warrants are not owned by Entity A, they are considered
in assessing control because they are currently exercisable by Entities B and
C. Normally, if an action (e.g., purchase or exercise of another right) is
required before an entity has ownership of a potential voting right, the
potential voting right is not regarded as held by the entity. However, the share
warrants are, in substance, held by Entity A, because the terms of the call
option are designed to ensure Entity A’s position. The combination of the call
option and share warrants gives Entity A the power to set the operating and
financial policies of Entity D, because Entity A could currently exercise the
option and share warrants. The other factors described in paragraphs 39 and
40 of IPSAS 6 and paragraphs 12 and 13 of IPSAS 7 are also considered, and
it is determined that Entity A, not Entity B or C, controls Entity D.
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Example 3B: Other rights that have the potential to increase an entity’s voting
power or reduce another entity’s voting power

The cities of Deva, Oxonia and Isca own 25 percent, 35 percent and 40
percent respectively of the Deva-Oxonia-Isca Electricity Generating
Authority, a public sector entity established by charter. The charter gives the
cities voting rights in the management of the Authority and the right to
receive the electricity generated by the Authority. The voting rights and
electricity access are in proportion to their ownership in the Authority. The
charter gives Oxonia and Isca rights to increase their ownership (and therefore
voting rights) in the Authority each by 10 percent at any time at a commercial
price agreed by the three cities. The charter also gives Deva the right to
acquire 15 percent interest of the Authority from Oxonia and 20 percent from
Isca at any time for a nominal consideration. If Deva exercised the right, Deva
would increase its ownership interest, and thereby its voting rights, in Deva-
Oxonia-Isca Electric Generating Authority to 60 percent. This would dilute
Oxonia’s ownership to 20 percent and Isca’s to 20 percent.
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Although the charter gives Oxonia and Isca the right to increase their
proportion of ownership, the overarching right of Deva to acquire a majority
interest in the Authority for a nominal consideration set out in the charter is,
in substance, designed to ensure Deva’s position. The right held by Deva
gives Deva the capacity to set the operating and financial policies of the
Deva-Oxonia-Isca Electricity Generating Authority, because Deva could
exercise the right to increase its ownership and therefore voting rights at any
time. The other factors described in paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6 and
paragraphs 12 and 13 of IPSAS 7 are also considered, and it is determined
that Deva, not Oxonia or Isca, controls the Deva-Oxonia-Isca Electricity
Generating Authority.

Example 4A: Management intention

Entities A, B and C each own 33% percent of the ordinary shares that carry
voting rights at a general meeting of shareholders of Entity D. Entities A, B
and C each have the right to appoint two directors to the board of Entity D.
Entity A also owns call options that are exercisable at a fixed price at any
time and if exercised would give it all the voting rights in Entity D. The
management of Entity A does not intend to exercise the call options, even if
Entities B and C do not vote in the same manner as Entity A. The existence
of the potential voting rights, as well as the other factors described in
paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6 and paragraphs 12 and 13 of IPSAS 7,
are considered and it is determined that Entity A controls Entity D. The
intention of Entity A’s management does not influence the assessment.
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Example 4B: Management Intention

The cities of Tolosa, Lutetia and Massilia each own 33 1/3 percent of TLM
Water Commission, a public sector entity established by charter to
reticulate drinking water to the cities of Tolosa, Lutetia and Massilia and a
number of outlying towns and villages. The charter gives each city an equal
vote in the governance of the Commission, and the right to appoint two
Commissioners each. The Commissioners manage the Commission on
behalf of the cities. The charter also gives the city of Tolosa the right to
acquire the ownership of Lutetia and Massilia at a fixed price, exercisable
at any time by the Mayor of Tolosa. If exercised Tolosa would have sole
governance of the Commission with the right to appoint all the
Commissioners. The Mayor of Tolosa does not intend to exercise the right
to acquire full ownership of Commission, even if the Commissioners
appointed by Lutetia and Massilia vote against those appointed by Tolosa.
The existence of the potential voting rights, as well as the other factors
described in paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6 and paragraphs 12 and 13 of
IPSAS 7, are considered and it is determined that Tolosa controls TLM
Water Commission. The intention of the Mayor of Tolosa does not
influence the assessment.

Example 5A: Financial ability

Entities A and B own 55 percent and 45 percent respectively of the ordinary
shares that carry voting rights at a general meeting of shareholders of Entity
C. Entity B also holds debt instruments that are convertible into ordinary
shares of Entity C. The debt can be converted at a substantial price, in
comparison with Entity B’s net assets, at any time and if converted would
require Entity B to borrow additional funds to make the payment. If the
debt were to be converted, Entity B would hold 70 percent of the voting
rights and Entity A’s interest would reduce to 30 percent.

Although the debt instruments are convertible at a substantial price, they are
currently convertible and the conversion feature gives Entity B the power to
set the operating and financial policies of Entity C. The existence of the
potential voting rights, as well as the other factors described in paragraphs
39 and 40 of IPSAS 6, are considered and it is determined that Entity B, not
Entity A, controls Entity C. The financial ability of Entity B to pay the
conversion price does not influence the assessment.

Example 5B: Financial ability

The cities of Melina and Newton own 55 percent and 45 percent
respectively of the interests that carry voting rights of MN Broadcasting
Authority, a public sector entity established by charter to provide
broadcasting and television services for the regions. The charter gives the
city of Newton the option to buy additional 25 percent interest of the
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Authority from the city of Melina at a substantial price, in comparison with
the city of Newton’s net assets, at any time. If exercised it would require the
city of Newton to borrow additional funding to make the payment. If the
option were to be exercised, the city of Newton would hold 70 percent of
the voting rights and the city of Melina’s interest would reduce to 30
percent.

Although the option is exercisable at a substantial price, it is currently
exercisable and the exercise feature gives the city of Newton the power to
set the operating and financial policies of MN Broadcasting Authority. The
existence of potential voting rights, as well as the other factors described in
paragraphs 39 and 40 of IPSAS 6, are considered and it is determined that
the city of Newton, not the city of Melina, controls MN Broadcasting
Authority. The financial ability of the city of Newton to pay the exercise
price does not influence the assessment.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the proposed IPSASs.
This Basis for Conclusions only notes the IPSASB’s reasons for departing from the
provisions of the related IAS.

Background

BCl.

BC2.

BC3.

BC4.

BCs.

The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)’s
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) Convergence Program is
an important element in [IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to
converge the accrual basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSASs) with IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) where appropriate for public sector entities.

Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS is not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
“comparison with IFRS” included in each IPSAS.

In May 2002, the IASB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments to
13 International Accounting Standards (IASs)! as part of its General
Improvements Project. The objectives of the IASB’s General Improvements
project were “to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts
within the Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and to make other
improvements.” The final IASs were issued in December 2003.

IPSAS 6, issued in May 2000 was based on IAS 27 (Reformatted 1994),
“Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Controlled Entities”
which was reissued in December 2003. In late 2003, the IPSASB’s
predecessor, the Public Sector Committee (PSC)2, actioned an IPSAS
Improvements Project to converge where appropriate IPSASs with the
improved IASs issued in December 2003.

The IPSASB reviewed the improved IAS 27 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the IAS and with the amendments made. (The

The International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued by the IASB’s predecessor, the

International Accounting Standards Committee. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, IASs and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

2 The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.

IPSAS 6 BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS 208



BCe6.

BC7.

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IASB’s Bases for Conclusions are not reproduced here. Subscribers to the
IASB’s Comprehensive Subscription Service can view the Bases for
Conclusions on the IASB’s website at www.iasb.org).

The IPSASB has departed from the provisions of IAS 27 in that it has decided
to retain the equity method as a method of accounting for controlled entities
in the separate financial statements of controlling entities. The IPSASB is
aware that views on this treatment are evolving and that it is not necessary at
this time to remove the equity method as an option.

IAS 27 has been further amended as a consequence of IFRSs issued after
December 2003. IPSAS 6 does not include the consequential amendments
arising from IFRSs issued after December 2003. This is because the IPSASB
has not yet reviewed and formed a view on the applicability of the
requirements in those IFRSs to public sector entities.
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Comparison with IAS 27

International Public Sector Accounting Standard IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements” is drawn primarily from International Accounting
Standard TIAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (2003). At the
time of issuing this Standard, the IPSASB has not considered the applicability of
IFRS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, to
public sector entities; therefore IPSAS 6 does not reflect amendments made to IAS
27 consequent upon the issue of International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS
5. The main differences between IPSAS 6 and IAS 27 are as follows:

Commentary additional to that in IAS 27 has been included in IPSAS 6 to
clarify the applicability of the Standard to accounting by public sector
entities.

IPSAS 6 contains specific guidance on whether control exists in a public
sector context (paragraphs 28-41).

IPSAS 6 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 27. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms statement of financial
performance, statement of financial position, net assets/equity, economic
entity, controlling entity and controlled entity in IPSAS 6. The equivalent
terms in IAS 27 are income statement, balance sheet, equity, group, parent
and subsidiary.

IPSAS 6 does not use the term income, which in IAS 27 has a broader
meaning than the term revenue.

IPSAS 6 permits entities to use the equity method to account for controlled
entities in the separate financial statements of controlling entities.

IPSAS 6 requires controlling entities to disclose a list of significant
controlled entities in consolidated financial statements (paragraph 62(a)). IAS
27 does not require this disclosure. IPSAS 6 includes a transitional provision
that permits entities to not eliminate all balances and transactions between
entities within the economic entity for reporting periods beginning on a date
within three years following the date of first adoption of this Standard
(paragraphs 65-68). IAS 27 does not contain transitional provisions.

IPSAS 6 contains five additional illustrative examples that reflect the public
sector context in Implementation Guidance.

IPSAS 6 COMPARISON WITH IAS 27 210




IPSAS 7—INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Acknowledgment

This International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) is drawn primarily
from International Accounting Standard (IAS) 28 (Revised 2003), “Investments in
Associates” published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Extracts from IAS 28 are reproduced in this publication of the International Public
Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) of the International Federation of
Accountants (IFAC) with the permission of International Accounting Standards
Committee Foundation (IASCF).

The approved text of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) is that
published by TASB in the English language, and copies may be obtained directly
from IASB Publications Department, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, United
Kingdom.

E-mail: publications@jiasb.org
Internet: http://www.iasb.org

IFRSs, IASs, Exposure Drafts and other publications of IASC and IASB are
copyright of the IASCF.

IFRS, IAS, IASB, IASC, TASCF and International Accounting Standards are
trademarks of IASCF and should not be used without the approval of IASCF.

211 IPSAS 7

[
o
=
Q
53
»n
=
—
/M
-}
=¥




December 2006
IPSAS 7—INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

CONTENTS

Paragraph

INtrOAUCTION ..ottt s IN1-IN18
SCOPE ettt ettt ettt et e st et e at e st et e e saneenes 1-6
DEfINIIONS ..oviveiiiiieiieiiiceeece ettt 7-18
Significant INfIUENCE ......cceecvevieiiiiee e 11-16
Equity Method ......c.oooviiiieiieieeeeeee et 17-18
Application of the Equity Method .........cccoocveieiiieiiiiieee e 1940
IMPaIrmMeEnt LOSSES ....c.eevveereieiieieeieeiesiese ettt eneeas 37-40
Separate Financial Statements ............ccceeeverveereesieriienieneeneeee e eee e 41-42
DISCLOSUIE ...c.veeiiieiieiiricieterteeee ettt 43-46
Effective Date ......c.coueoveuiiiiieiiriiieiiceeeeeeesteee e 4748
Withdrawal of IPSAS 7 (2000) ...c.ooveerieuiiirinreiriicinieieeneeeneeecseeneeeenene 49

Appendix:
Amendments to Other Pronouncements
Basis for Conclusions

Comparison with IAS 28

IPSAS 7 212



International Public Sector Accounting Standard 7, “Investments in Associates”
(IPSAS 7) is set out in paragraphs 1-49 and the Appendix. All the paragraphs have
equal authority. IPSAS 7 should be read in the context of the Basis for Conclusion
(if any), and the “Preface to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards.”
IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”
provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of
explicit guidance.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Introduction

IN1. International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 7, “Investments in
Associates,” replaces IPSAS 7, “Accounting for Investments in Associates”
(issued May 2000), and should be applied for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is encouraged.

Reasons for Revising IPSAS 7

IN2. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board developed this
revised IPSAS 7 as a response to the International Accounting Standards
Board’s project on Improvement to International Accounting Standards and
its own policy to converge public sector accounting standards with private
sector standards to the extent appropriate.

IN3. In developing this revised IPSAS 7, the IPSASB adopted the policy of
amending the IPSAS for those changes made to the former IAS 28,
“Accounting for Investment in Associates” made as a consequence of the
IASB’s improvements project, except where the original IPSAS had varied
from the provisions of IAS 28 for a public sector specific reason; such
variances are retained in this IPSAS 7 and are noted in the Comparison with
IAS 28. Any changes to IAS 28 made subsequent to the IASB’s
improvements project have not been incorporated into IPSAS 7.

Changes from Previous Requirements

IN4. The main changes from the previous version of IPSAS 7 are described below.

Name of Standard

IN5. The name of the Standard has been changed to “Investments in Associates.”

Scope

IN6. The Standard now excludes in paragraph 1 investments that would otherwise
be associates or joint ventures held by venture capital organizations, mutual
funds, unit trusts and similar entities that are measured at fair value in
accordance with the relevant international or national accounting standard
dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments.

IN7. The Standard provides exemptions from application of the equity method to
certain:

. Controlling entities, similar to those provided for financial statements
in IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (in
paragraph 19(b)); and

. Investors which satisfy the same type of conditions that exempt
controlling entities in preparing consolidated financial statements in
paragraph 19(c).
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Definitions

INS.

The Standard modifies the definitions of equity method and significant
influence for uniform definitions in IPSASs in paragraph 7.

Significant Influence

INO.

The Standard requires in paragraphs 14-16 an entity to consider the existence
and effect of potential voting rights currently exercisable or convertible when
assessing whether it has the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee (associate).

Application of the Equity Method

IN10.

IN11.

IN12.

IN13.

IN14.

IN15.

The Standard clarifies in paragraph 19 that investments that are held
exclusively with a view to its disposal within twelve months of acquisition
and that management is actively seeking a buyer shall be classified as held for
trading and will be accounted for in accordance with the relevant international
or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement
of financial instruments.

The Standard clarifies in paragraph 24 that when an investor ceases to
significantly influence its investment, the cost of the investment shall be
accounted for in accordance with the relevant international or national
accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial
instruments.

The Standard requires in paragraph 28 that surpluses and deficits resulting from
upstream and downstream transactions between an investor and an associate to
be eliminated to the extent of the investor’s interest in the associate.

The Standard allows a maximum of three months between the reporting period
of the investor and its associate when applying the equity method (paragraph
31D).

The Standard removes the impracticable notion in paragraph 33, such that an
investor has to make appropriate adjustments for transactions and other events
in the associate’s financial statements when the accounting policies in both
entities are not similar.

The Standard requires in paragraphs 35 and 36 the entity to consider the
carrying amount of its investment in the equity of the associate and its other
long-term interests in the associate when recognizing its share of losses of the
associate.

Impairment Losses

INT16.

The Standard provides guidance in paragraphs 37-40 on when and how an
entity tests for impairment of its associate.
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Separate Financial Statements

IN17. The requirements and guidance for separate financial statements have been
moved to IPSAS 6 in paragraphs 41 and 42. Entities will now have to refer to
IPSAS 6 for guidance on how to prepare an investor’s separate financial
statements.

Disclosure

IN18. The Standard requires in paragraph 43 more detailed disclosures on
investments in associates, including:

. The nature and extent of any significant restrictions (e.g., resulting
from borrowing arrangements) on the ability of associates to transfer
funds to the investor;

. The unrecognized share of losses of an associate if any investor has
discontinued recognition of its share of losses of an associate; and

. The reasons why:
o An investment is considered to have significant influence when

it holds less than 20 percent of the voting or potential voting
power of the investee;

o An investment is not considered to have significant influence
when it holds more than 20 percent of the voting or potential
voting power of the investee; and

o The reporting date of the financial statements of the associate
and investor is different.
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IPSAS 7—INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Scope

1.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting by an
investor for investments in associates where the investment in the
associate leads to the holding of an ownership interest in the form of a
shareholding or other formal equity structure. However, it does not
apply to investments in associates held by:

(a) Venture capital organizations, or

(b) Mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including
investment-linked insurance funds.

that are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in
surplus or deficit in the period of the change in accordance with relevant
international or national accounting standard dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments.

Guidance on recognition and measurement of interests identified in
paragraph 1 that are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognized in surplus or deficit in the period of the change can be found in the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with financial
instruments.

This Standard provides the basis for accounting for ownership interests in
associates. That is, the investment in the other entity confers on the investor
the risks and rewards incidental to an ownership interest. The Standard
applies only to investments in the formal equity structure (or its equivalent) of
an investee. A formal equity structure means share capital or an equivalent
form of unitized capital, such as units in a property trust, but may also include
other equity structures in which the investor’s interest can be measured
reliably. Where the equity structure is poorly defined it may not be possible to
obtain a reliable measure of the ownership interest.

Some contributions made by public sector entities may be referred to as an
“investment” but may not give rise to an ownership interest. For example, a
public sector entity may make a substantial investment in the development of
a hospital that is owned and operated by a charity. Whilst such contributions
are non-exchange in nature, they allow the public sector entity to participate
in the operation of the hospital, and the charity is accountable to the public
sector entity for its use of public monies. However, the contributions made by
the public sector entity do not constitute an ownership interest, as the charity
could seek alternative funding and thereby prevent the public sector entity
from participating in the operation of the hospital. Accordingly, the public
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sector entity is not exposed to the risks nor does it enjoy the rewards which
are incidental to an ownership interest.

This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than Government
Business Enterprises.

The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by
the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)
explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) apply International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1, “Presentation of
Financial Statements.”

Definitions

7.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

An associate is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a
partnership, over which the investor has significant influence and that is
neither a controlled entity nor an interest in a joint venture.

Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of an
economic entity presented as those of a single economic entity.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
another entity so as to benefit from its activities.

Controlled entity is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as
a partnership, that is subject to the control of another entity (known as
the controlling entity).

The equity method is a method of accounting whereby the investment is
initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-
acquisition change in the investor’s share of net assets/equity of the
investee. The surplus or deficit of the investor includes the investor’s
share of the surplus or deficit of the investee.

Separate financial statements are those presented by a controlling entity,
an investor in an associate or a venturer in a jointly controlled entity, in
which the investments are accounted for on the basis of the direct net
assets/equity interest rather than on the basis of the reported results and
net assets of the investees.

Significant influence (for the purpose of this Standard) is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

Terms defined in other International Public Sector Accounting
Standards are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those
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other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms
published separately.

Financial statements of an entity that does not have a controlled entity, associate
or venturer’s interest in a joint venture are not separate financial statements.

Separate financial statements are those presented in addition to consolidated
financial statements, financial statements in which investments are accounted for
using the equity method and financial statements in which the venturer’s
interests in joint ventures are proportionately consolidated. Separate financial
statements may or may not be appended to, or accompany, those financial
statements.

Entities that are exempted in accordance with paragraph 16 of IPSAS 6,
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” from consolidation,
paragraph 3 of IPSAS 8, “Interests in Joint Ventures” from applying
proportionate consolidation or paragraph 19(c) of this Standard from applying
the equity method may present separate financial statements as their only
financial statements.

Significant Influence

11.

12.

13.

Whether an investor has significant influence over the investee is a matter of
judgment based on the nature of the relationship between the investor and the
investee, and on the definition of significant influence in this Standard. This
Standard applies only to those associates in which an entity holds an
ownership interest.

The existence of significant influence by an investor is usually evidenced in
one or more of the following ways:

(a) Representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body
of the investee;

(b) Participation in policy-making processes, including participation in
decisions about dividends or other distributions;

(©) Material transactions between the investor and the investee;
(d) Interchange of managerial personnel; or
(e) Provision of essential technical information.

If the investor’s ownership interest is in the form of shares and it holds,
directly or indirectly (e.g., through controlled entities), 20 percent or more of
the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the investor has
significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the
case. Conversely, if the investor holds, directly or indirectly (e.g., through
controlled entities), less than 20 percent of the voting power of the investee, it
is presumed that the investor does not have significant influence, unless such
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influence can be clearly demonstrated. A substantial or majority ownership by
another investor does not necessarily preclude an investor from having
significant influence.

14.  An entity may own share warrants, share call options, debt or equity
instruments that are convertible into ordinary shares, or other similar
instruments that have the potential, if exercised or converted, to give the
entity additional voting power or reduce another party’s voting power over
the financial and operating policies of another entity (i.e., potential voting
rights). The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether an entity has significant
influence. Potential voting rights are not currently exercisable or convertible
when, for example, they cannot be exercised or converted until a future date
or until the occurrence of a future event.

15. In assessing whether potential voting rights contribute to significant influence,
the entity examines all facts and circumstances (including the terms of exercise
of the potential voting rights and any other binding arrangements whether
considered individually or in combination) that affect potential rights, except the
intention of management and the financial ability to exercise or convert.

16.  An entity loses significant influence over an investee when it loses the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of that investee. The
loss of significant influence can occur with or without a change in absolute or
relative ownership levels. It could occur, for example, when an associate
becomes subject to the control of another government, a court, administrator or
regulator. It could also occur as a result of a binding agreement.

Equity Method

17.  Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognized at
cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the
investor’s share of surplus or deficit of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The investor’s share of the surplus or deficit of the investee is recognized in the
investor’s surplus or deficit. Distributions received from an investee reduce the
carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may
also be necessary for changes in the investor’s proportionate interest in the
investee arising from changes in the investee’s equity that have not been
recognized in the investee’s surplus or deficit. Such changes include those
arising from the revaluation of property, plant, equipment and from foreign
exchange translation differences. The investor’s share of those changes is
recognized directly in net assets/equity of the investor.

18.  When potential voting rights exist, the investor’s share of surplus or deficit of
the investee and of changes in the investee’s net assets/equity is determined
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on the basis of present ownership interests and does not reflect the possible
exercise or conversion of potential voting rights.

Application of the Equity Method
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19.  An investment in an associate shall be accounted for using the equity
method except when:

(a) There is evidence that the investment is acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its disposal within twelve months from
acquisition and that management is actively seeking a buyer;

(b)  The exception in paragraph 16 of IPSAS 6, allowing a controlling
entity that also has an investment in an associate not to present
consolidated financial statements, applies; or

(¢)  All of the following apply:
(i)  The investor is:

A wholly-owned controlled entity and users of financial
statements prepared by applying the equity method are
unlikely to exist or their information needs are met by
the controlling entity’s consolidated financial
statements; or

A partially-owned controlled entity of another entity
and its other owners, including those not otherwise
entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not
object to, the investor not applying the equity method;

(i)  The investor’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a
public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an
over-the-counter market, including local and regional
markets);

(iii) The investor did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its
financial statements with a securities commission or other
regulatory organization, for the purpose of issuing any class
of instruments in a public market; and

(iv) The ultimate or any intermediate controlling entity of the
investor produces consolidated financial statements
available for public use that comply with International
Public Sector Accounting Standards.

20.  Investments described in paragraph 19(a) shall be classified as held for
trading and accounted for in accordance with the relevant international
or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments.
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When an investment in an associate previously accounted for in accordance
with the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with
the recognition and measurement of financial instruments is not disposed of
within twelve months, it shall be accounted for using the equity method as
from the date of acquisition. Financial statements for the periods since
acquisition shall be restated.

Exceptionally, an entity may have found a buyer for an associate described in
paragraph 19(a), but may not have completed the sale within twelve months
because of the need for approval by regulators or others. The entity is not
required to apply the equity method to an investment in such an associate if
the sale is in process at the reporting date and there is no reason to believe
that it will not be completed shortly after the reporting date.

The recognition of revenue on the basis of distributions received may not be
an adequate measure of the revenue earned by an investor on an investment in
an associate because the distributions received may bear little relation to the
performance of the associate. In particular, where the associate has not-for-
profit objectives, investment performance will be determined by factors such
as the cost of outputs and overall service delivery. Because the investor has
significant influence over the associate, the investor has an interest in the
associate’s performance and, as a result, the return on its investment. The
investor accounts for this interest by extending the scope of its financial
statements to include its share of surpluses or deficits of such an associate. As
a result, application of the equity method provides more informative reporting
of the net assets/equity and surplus or deficit of the investor.

An investor shall discontinue the use of the equity method from the date
that it ceases to have significant influence over an associate and shall
account for the investment in accordance with the relevant international
or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments from that date, provided the
associate does not become a controlled entity or a joint venture as defined
in IPSAS 8.

The carrying amount of the investment at the date that it ceases to be an
associate shall be regarded as its cost on initial measurement as a
financial asset in accordance with the relevant international or national
accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of
financial instruments.

Many of the procedures appropriate for the application of the equity method
are similar to the consolidation procedures described in IPSAS 6.
Furthermore, the concepts underlying the procedures used in accounting for
the acquisition of a controlled entity are also adopted in accounting for the
acquisition of an investment in an associate.
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An economic entity’s share in an associate is the aggregate of the holdings in
that associate by the controlling entity and its controlled entities. The holdings
of the economic entity’s other associates or joint ventures are ignored for this
purpose. When an associate has controlled entities, associates or joint
ventures, the surpluses or deficits and net assets taken into account in
applying the equity method are those recognized in the associate’s financial
statements (including the associate’s share of the surpluses or deficits and net
assets of its associates and joint ventures), after any adjustments necessary to
give effect to uniform accounting policies (see paragraphs 32 and 33).

Surpluses and deficits resulting from upstream and downstream transactions
between an investor (including its consolidated controlled entities) and an
associate are recognized in the investor’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. Upstream transactions
are, for example, sales of assets from an associate to the investor.
Downstream transactions are, for example, sales of assets from the investor to
an associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s surpluses and deficits
resulting from these transactions is eliminated.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which it becomes an associate. Guidance on accounting for any
difference (whether positive or negative) between the cost of acquisition and the
investor’s share of the fair values of the net identifiable assets of the associate is
treated as goodwill (guidance can be found in the relevant international or
national accounting standard dealing with business combinations). Goodwill
relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Appropriate adjustments to the investor’s share of the surpluses or deficits after
acquisition are made to account, for example, for depreciation of the depreciable
assets, based on their fair values at the date of acquisition.

The most recent available financial statements of the associate are used
by the investor in applying the equity method. When the reporting dates
of the investor and the associate are different, the associate prepares, for
the use of the investor, financial statements as of the same date as the
financial statements of the investor unless it is impracticable to do so.

When, in accordance with paragraph 30, the financial statements of an
associate used in applying the equity method are prepared as of a
different reporting date from that of the investor, adjustments shall be
made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur
between that date and the date of the investor’s financial statements. In
any case, the difference between the reporting date of the associate and
that of the investor shall be no more than three months. The length of the
reporting periods and any difference in the reporting dates shall be the
same from period to period.
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The investor’s financial statements shall be prepared using uniform
accounting policies for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the investor for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments shall be
made to conform the associate’s accounting policies to those of the investor
when the associate’s financial statements are used by the investor in applying
the equity method.

If an associate has outstanding cumulative preferred shares that are held by
parties other than the investor and classified as net assets/equity, the investor
computes its share of surpluses or deficits after adjusting for the dividends on
such shares, whether or not the dividends have been declared.

If an investor’s share of deficits of an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, the investor discontinues recognizing its share of further
losses. The interest in an associate is the carrying amount of the investment in
the associate under the equity method together with any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the investor’s net investment in the associate.
For example, an item for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to
occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, an extension of the entity’s
investment in that associate. Such items may include preference shares and
long-term receivables or loans but do not include trade receivables, trade
payables or any long-term receivables for which adequate collateral exists,
such as secured loans. Losses recognized under the equity method in excess
of the investor’s investment in ordinary shares are applied to the other
components of the investor’s interest in an associate in the reverse order of
their seniority (i.e., priority of liquidation).

After the investor’s interest is reduced to zero, additional losses are provided
for, and a liability is recognized, only to the extent that the investor has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports surpluses, the investor resumes
recognizing its share of those surpluses only after its share of the surpluses
equals the share of deficits not recognized.

Impairment Losses

37.

38.

After application of the equity method, including recognizing the associate’s
losses in accordance with paragraph 35, the investor applies the requirements
of the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments to determine whether it
is necessary to recognize any additional impairment loss with respect to the
investor’s net investment in the associate.

The investor also applies the requirements of the relevant international or
national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of
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financial instruments to determine whether any additional impairment loss is
recognized with respect to the investor’s interest in the associate that does not
constitute part of the net investment and the amount of the impairment loss.

If application of the requirements in the relevant international or national
accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of
financial instruments indicates that the investment may be impaired, an entity
applies IPSAS 21, “Impairment of Non-Cash Generating Assets.” IPSAS 21
directs an entity to refer IAS 36 to determine the value in use of the cash-
generating investment. Based on IAS 36, an entity estimates:

(a)  Its share of the present value of the estimated future cash flows
expected to the generated by the investee, including the cash flows
from the operations of the investee and the proceeds on the ultimate
disposal of the investment; or

(b)  The present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to arise
from dividends or similar distributions to be received from the
investment and from its ultimate disposal.

Under appropriate assumptions, both methods give the same result. Any
resulting impairment loss for the investment is allocated in accordance with
IAS 36. Therefore, it is allocated first to any remaining goodwill (see
paragraph 29).

The recoverable amount of an investment in an associate is assessed for each
associate, unless the associate does not generate cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of those from other assets of the entity.

Separate Financial Statements

41.  An investment in an associate shall be accounted for in the investor’s
separate financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 58-64 of
IPSAS 6.

42. This Standard does not mandate which entities produce separate financial
statements available for public use.

Disclosure

43.  The following disclosures shall be made:

(a) The fair value of investments in associates for which there are
published price quotations;

(b) Summarized financial information of associates, including the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and surplus or
deficit;

(¢)  The reasons why the presumption that an investor does not have
significant influence is overcome if the investor holds, directly or
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indirectly through controlled entities, less than 20 percent of the
voting or potential voting power of the investee but concludes that
it has significant influence;

(d) The reasons why the presumption that an investor has significant
influence is overcome if the investor holds, directly or indirectly
through controlled entities, 20 percent or more of the voting power
of the investee but concludes that it does not have significant
influence;

(e)  The reporting date of the financial statements of an associate,
when such financial statements are used in applying the equity
method and are as of a reporting date or for a period that is
different from that of the investor, and the reason for using a
different reporting date or different period;

(f)  The nature and extent of any significant restrictions (e.g., resulting
from borrowing arrangements or regulatory requirements) on the
ability of associates to transfer funds to the investor in the form of
cash dividends, or similar distributions, or repayment of loans or
advances;

(g) The unrecognized share of losses of an associate, both for the
period and cumulatively, if an investor has discontinued
recognition of its share of losses of an associate;

(h)  The fact that an associate is not accounted for using the equity
method in accordance with paragraph 19; and

(i)  Summarized financial information of associates, either individually
or in groups, that are not accounted for using the equity method,
including the amounts of total assets, total liabilities, revenues and
surpluses or deficits.

Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method shall be
classified as non-current assets. The investor’s share of the surplus or
deficit of such associates, and the carrying amount of these investments
shall be separately disclosed. The investor’s share of any discontinuing
operations of such associates shall also be separately disclosed.

The investor’s share of changes recognized directly in the associate’s net
assets/equity shall be recognized directly in net assets/equity by the
investor and shall be disclosed in the statement of changes in net
assets/equity as required by International Public Sector Accounting
Standard IPSAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements.”

In accordance with IPSAS 19, “Provisions, Contingent Liability and
Contingent Assets,” the investor shall disclose:
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(a)  Its share of the contingent liabilities of an associate incurred jointly
with other investors; and

(b) Those contingent liabilities that arise because the investor is
severally liable for all or part of the liabilities of the associate.

Effective Date

47. An entity shall apply this International Public Sector Accounting
Standard for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a
period beginning before January 1, 2008, it shall disclose that fact.

48. When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, for financial reporting
purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this Standard applies to the
entity’s annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after the
date of adoption.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 7 (2000)

49. This Standard supersedes IPSAS 7, “Accounting for Investments in
Associates” issued in 2000.
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Appendix

Amendments to Other Pronouncements

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after DD MM YYY. If an entity applies this Standard
for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that earlier period.

In International Public Sector Accounting Standards, applicable at MM YYY,
references to the current version of IPSAS 7, “Accounting for Investments in
Associates” are amended to IPSAS 7, “Investments in Associates.”
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the proposed
International Public Sector Accounting Standards. This Basis for Conclusions only
notes the IPSASB’s reasons for departing from provisions of the related
International Accounting Standard.
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Background

BCI1. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)’s
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) Convergence Program is
an important element in IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to
converge the accrual basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSASs) with IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) where appropriate for public sector entities.

BC2. Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS is not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
“comparison with IFRS” included in each IPSAS.

BC3. In May 2002, the IASB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments to
13 International Accounting Standards (IASs)! as part of its General
Improvements Project. The objectives of the IASB’s General Improvements
project were “to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts
within the Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and to make other
improvements.” The final IASs were issued in December 2003.

BC4. IPSAS 7, issued in May 2000 was based on IAS 28 (Reformatted 1994),
“Accounting for Investments in Associates” which was reissued in December
2003. In late 2003, the IPSASB’s predecessor, the Public Sector Committee
(PSC)?, actioned an IPSAS Improvements Project to converge where
appropriate IPSASs with the improved IASs issued in December 2003.

BCS5. The IPSASB reviewed the improved IAS 28 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the IAS and with the amendments made. (The

The International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued by the IASB’s predecessor, the
International Accounting Standards Committee. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, 1ASs and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

2 The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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IASB’s Bases for Conclusions are not reproduced here. Subscribers to the
IASB’s Comprehensive Subscription Service can view the Bases for
Conclusions on the IASB’s website at www.iasb.org).

BC6. IAS 28 has been further amended as a consequence of IFRSs issued after
December 2003. IPSAS 7 does not include the consequential amendments
arising from IFRSs issued after December 2003. This is because the IPSASB
has not yet reviewed and formed a view on the applicability of the
requirements in those IFRSs to public sector entities.
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Comparison with 1AS 28

IPSAS 7, “Investments in Associates” (Revised 2003) is drawn primarily from
IAS 28, “Investments in Associates” (Revised 2003). At the time of issuing this
Standard, the IPSASB has not considered the applicability of IFRS 3, “Business
Combinations” and IFRS 5, “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” to public sector entities. Therefore, IPSAS 7 does not reflect
amendments made to IAS 27 consequent upon the issue of those Standards. The
main differences between IPSAS 7 and IAS 28 are as follows:

Commentary additional to that in IAS 28 has been included in IPSAS 7 to
clarify the applicability of the standards to accounting by public sector
entities.

IPSAS 7 applies to all investments in associates where the investor holds an
ownership interest in the associate in the form of a shareholding or other
formal equity structure. IAS 28 does not contain similar ownership interest
requirements. However, it is unlikely that equity accounting could be applied
unless the associate had a formal or other reliably measurable equity structure.

IPSAS 7 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 28. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms statement of financial
performance, statement of financial position and net assets/equity in IPSAS 7.
The equivalent terms in IAS 28 are income statement, balance sheet and
equity.

IPSAS 7 does not use the term income, which in IAS 28 has a broader
meaning than the term revenue.

IPSAS 7 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from IAS 28
(paragraph 7).
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 8, “Interests in Joint Ventures”
(IPSAS 8) is set out in paragraphs 1-71 and the Appendix. All the paragraphs have
equal authority. IPSAS 8 should be read in the context of the Basis for Conclusion
(if any), and the “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards.”
IPSAS 3, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”
provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of
explicit guidance.
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Introduction

IN1.

International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 8, “Interests in
Joint Ventures,” replaces IPSAS 8, “Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint
Ventures” (issued May 2000), and should be applied for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is
encouraged.

Reasons for Revising IPSAS 8

IN2.

IN3.

The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board developed this
revised IPSAS 8 as a response to the International Accounting Standards
Board’s project on Improvement to International Accounting Standards and
its own policy to converge public sector accounting standards with private
sector standards to the extent appropriate.

In developing this revised IPSAS 8, the IPSASB adopted the policy of
amending the IPSAS for those changes made to the former IAS 31, “Financial
Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures” made as a consequence of the
IASB’s improvements project, except where the original IPSAS had varied
from the provisions of IAS 31 for a public sector specific reason; such
variances are retained in this IPSAS 8 and are noted in the Comparison with
IAS 31. Any changes to IAS 31 made subsequent to the IASB’s
improvements project have not been incorporated into IPSAS 8.

Changes from Previous Requirements

IN4.

The main changes from the previous version of IPSAS 8 are described below.

Title of the Standard

INS.

The title of the Standard is changed to “Interests in Joint Ventures.”

Scope

ING.

The Standard excludes from the scope in paragraph 1, venturers’ interests in
jointly controlled entities that are recognized at fair value held by:

. Venture capital organizations; or

. Mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-
linked insurance funds.

Previously, IPSAS 8 did not contain these exclusions from its scope.

Definitions

IN7.

The Standard in paragraph 6:

. Includes a definition of a new term: separate financial statements.
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INS.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

. Does not include the following unnecessary terms: accrual basis,
assets, associates, cash, cash flows, contribution from owners,
controlled entity, controlling entity, distribution to owners, economic
entity, expenses, government business enterprises, liabilities, net
assets/equity, and revenue. These terms are defined in other IPSASs.

. Does not include the term net surplus/deficit, which no longer exists.

The Standard includes in paragraphs 14-16 explanation of separate financial
statements. Previously, IPSAS 8 did not contain these illustrations.

Exemptions from Applying Proportionate Consolidation or the
Equity Method

INO.

IN10.

IN11.

IN12.

IN13.

IPSAS 8

The Standard clarifies in paragraphs 47 and paragraph 3(a) that applying
proportionate consolidation or the equity method is not required when (a) an
interest in a joint venture is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its
disposal within twelve months from acquisition and (b) management is
actively seeking a buyer.

IPSAS 8 further specifies in paragraph 49 that when a jointly controlled entity
previously exempted from proportionate consolidation or the equity method is
not disposed of within twelve months, it shall be accounted for using
proportionate consolidation or the equity method from the date of acquisition
unless narrowly specified circumstances apply.

The words “in the near future” used in previous IPSAS 8 have been replaced
with the words “within twelve months.” There was no requirement that
management must be actively seeking a buyer in previous IPSAS 8 for
exemption from applying proportionate consolidation or the equity method.

The Standard clarifies in paragraph 3(b) and 3(c) the exemptions from
application of proportionate consolidation or the equity method, including
when the venturer is:

. Also a controlling entity exempt in accordance with IPSAS 6,
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” from preparing
consolidated financial statements; or

. Though not such a controlling entity, can satisfy the same type of
conditions that exempt such controlling entities.

IPSAS 6 requires that a controlling entity need not present consolidated
financial statements if and only if:

. The controlling entity is itself a wholly-owned controlled entity and
users of such financial statements are unlikely to exist or their
information needs are met by its controlling entity’s consolidated
financial statements; or is a partially-owned controlled entity of
another entity and its other owners, including those not otherwise
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not object to, the
controlling entity not presenting consolidated financial statements;

. The controlling entity’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a
public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-
counter market, including local and regional markets);

. The controlling entity did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its
financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory
organization for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a
public market; and

. The ultimate or any intermediate controlling entity of the controlling
entity produces consolidated financial statements available for public
use that comply with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards.

Previously, IPSAS 8 did not contain these exemptions.

The Standard does not include the previous paragraph 46(b) clarifying that
severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair the ability to transfer
funds to the venturer do not of themselves justify not applying the
proportionate consolidation or the equity method. Joint control must be lost
before proportionate consolidation or the equity method ceases to apply.

Separate Financial Statements

IN15.

The Standard requires in paragraph 52 that a venturer should account for an
interest in a jointly controlled entity in its separate financial statements in
accordance with IPSAS 6. IPSAS 6 requires that the venturer shall account for
its interest in a jointly controlled entity in its separate financial statements either
at cost or as financial instruments in accordance with the relevant international
or national accounting standard dealing with financial instruments.

Disclosure

IN16.

The Standard requires in paragraph 64 that a venturer shall disclose the
method it uses to recognize its interests in jointly controlled entities (i.e.,
proportionate consolidation or the equity method).

Amendments to Other IPSASs

IN17.

The Standard includes an authoritative appendix of amendments to other
IPSASs.
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

IPSAS 8—INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Scope

1.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting for
interests in joint ventures and the reporting of joint venture assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses in the financial statements of venturers
and investors, regardless of the structures or forms under which the joint
venture activities take place. However, it does not apply to venturers’
interests in jointly controlled entities held by:

(@  Venture capital organizations; or

(b) Mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including
investment-linked insurance funds

that are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in
surplus or deficit in the period of the change in accordance with the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the
recognition and measurement of financial instruments.

Guidance on recognition and measurement of interests identified in
paragraph 1 that are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognized in surplus or deficit in the period of the change can be found in the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with financial
instruments.

A venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity is exempted from
paragraphs 35 (proportionate consolidation) and 43 (equity method)
when it meets the following conditions:

(@  There is evidence that the interest is acquired and held exclusively
with a view to its disposal within twelve months from acquisition
and that management is actively seeking a buyer;

(b)  The exception in paragraph 16 of IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements” allowing a controlling entity that
also has an interest in a jointly controlled entity not to present
consolidated financial statements is applicable; or

(c)  All of the following apply:
(i)  Theventurer is:

. A wholly-owned controlled entity and users of
financial statements prepared by applying
proportionate consolidation or the equity method are
unlikely to exist or their information needs are met by
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the controlling entity’s consolidated financial
statements; or

. A partially-owned controlled entity of another entity
and its owners, including those not otherwise entitled
to vote, have been informed about, and do not object
to, the wventurer not applying proportionate
consolidation or the equity method;

(i)  The venturer’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in
a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an
over-the-counter market, including local and regional
markets);

(iii)  The venturer did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its
financial statements with a securities commission or other
regulatory organization, for the purpose of issuing any class
of instruments in a public market; and

(iv) The ultimate or any intermediate controlling entity of the
venturer produces consolidated financial statements
available for public use that comply with International
Public Sector Accounting Standards.

This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than Government
Business Enterprises.

The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued by
the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)
explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) apply International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1, “Presentation of
Financial Statements.”

Definitions

6.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of an
economic entity presented as those of a single entity.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
another entity so as to benefit from its activities.

The equity method (for the purpose of this Standard) is a method of
accounting whereby an interest in a jointly controlled entity is initially
recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change
in the venturer’s share of net assets/equity of the jointly controlled entity.
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The surplus or deficit of the venturer includes the venturer’s share of the
surplus or deficit of the jointly controlled entity.

Investor in a joint venture is a party to a joint venture and does not have
joint control over that joint venture.

Joint _control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a
binding arrangement.

Joint venture is a binding arrangement whereby two or more parties are
committed to undertake an activity that is subject to joint control.

Proportionate consolidation is a method of accounting whereby a
venturer’s share of each of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of
a jointly controlled entity is combined line by line with similar items in
the venturer’s financial statements or reported as separate line items in
the venturer’s financial statements.

Separate financial statements are those presented by a controlling entity,
an investor in an associate or a venturer in a jointly controlled entity, in
which the investments are accounted for on the basis of the direct net
assets/equity interest rather than on the basis of the reported results and
net assets of the investees.

Significant influence (for the purpose of this Standard) is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an activity
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

Venturer is a party to a joint venture and has joint control over that joint
venture.

Terms defined in other International Public Sector Accounting
Standards are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those
other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms
published separately.

Binding Arrangement

7.

The existence of a binding arrangement distinguishes interests that involve
joint control from investments in associates in which the investor has
significant influence (see International Public Sector Accounting Standard
(IPSAS) 7, “Investments in Associates”). For the purposes of this Standard,
an arrangement includes all binding arrangements between venturers. That is,
in substance, the arrangement confers similar rights and obligations on the
parties to it as if it were in the form of a contract. For instance, two
government departments may enter into a formal arrangement to undertake a
joint venture but the arrangement may not constitute a legal contract because,
in that jurisdiction, individual departments may not be separate legal entities

IPSAS 8 240



10.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

with the power to contract. Activities that have no binding arrangement to
establish joint control are not joint ventures for the purposes of this Standard.

The binding arrangement may be evidenced in a number of ways, for example
by a contract between the venturers or minutes of discussions between the
venturers. In some cases, the binding arrangement is incorporated in the
enabling legislation, articles or other by-laws of the joint venture. Whatever
its form, the arrangement is usually in writing and deals with such matters as:

(@  The activity, duration and reporting obligations of the joint venture;

(b)  The appointment of the board of directors or equivalent governing
body of the joint venture and the voting rights of the venturers;

(c)  Capital contributions by the venturers; and

(d) The sharing by the venturers of the output, revenue, expenses,
surpluses or deficits, or cash flows of the joint venture.

The binding arrangement establishes joint control over the joint venture. Such
a requirement ensures that no single venturer is in a position to control the
activity unilaterally. The arrangement identifies those decisions in areas
essential to the goals of the joint venture which require the consent of all the
venturers and those decisions which may require the consent of a specified
majority of the venturers.

The binding arrangement may identify one venturer as the operator or
manager of the joint venture. The operator does not control the joint venture
but acts within the financial and operating policies that have been agreed by
the venturers in accordance with the arrangement and delegated to the
operator. If the operator has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of the activity, it controls the venture and the venture is a controlled
entity of the operator and not a joint venture.

Forms of Joint Venture

11.

12.

Many public sector entities establish joint ventures to undertake a variety of
activities. The nature of these activities ranges from commercial undertakings
to provision of community services at no charge. The terms of a joint venture
are set out in a contract or other binding arrangement and usually specify the
initial contribution from each joint venturer and the share of revenues or other
benefits (if any), and expenses of each of the joint venturers.

Joint ventures take many different forms and structures. This Standard
identifies three broad types—ijointly controlled operations, jointly controlled
assets and jointly controlled entities—that are commonly described as, and
meet the definition of, joint ventures. The following characteristics are
common to all joint ventures:

(@ Two or more venturers are bound by a binding arrangement; and
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(b) The binding arrangement establishes joint control.

Joint Control

13.

Joint control may be precluded when a joint venture is in legal reorganization
or in bankruptcy, is subject to an administrative restructuring of government
arrangements, or operates under severe long-term restrictions on its ability to
transfer funds to the venturer. If joint control is continuing, these events are
not enough in themselves to justify not accounting for joint ventures in
accordance with this Standard.

Separate Financial Statements

14,

15.

16.

Financial statements in which proportionate consolidation or the equity
method is applied are not separate financial statements, nor are the financial
statements of an entity that does not have a controlled entity, associate or
venturer’s interest in a jointly controlled entity.

Separate financial statements are those presented in addition to consolidated
financial statements, financial statements in which investments are accounted
for using the equity method and financial statements in which venturers’
interests in joint ventures are proportionately consolidated. Separate financial
statements need not be appended to, or accompany, those statements.

Entities that are exempted in accordance with paragraph 16 of IPSAS 6 from
consolidation, paragraph 19(c) of IPSAS 7, “Investments in Associates” from
applying the equity method or paragraph 3 of this Standard from applying
proportionate consolidation or the equity method may present separate
financial statements as their only financial statements.

Jointly Controlled Operations

17.

18.

The operation of some joint ventures involves the use of the assets and other
resources of the venturers rather than the establishment of a corporation,
partnership or other entity, or a financial structure that is separate from the
venturers themselves. Each venturer uses its own property, plant and equipment
and carries its own inventories. It also incurs its own expenses and liabilities and
raises its own finance, which represent its own obligations. The joint venture
activities may be carried out by the venturer’s employees alongside the
venturer’s similar activities. The joint venture agreement usually provides a
means by which the revenue from the sale or provision of the joint product or
service and any expenses incurred in common are shared among the venturers.

An example of a jointly controlled operation is when two or more venturers
combine their operations, resources and expertise to manufacture, market and
distribute jointly a particular product, such as an aircraft. Different parts of
the manufacturing process are carried out by each of the venturers. Each
venturer bears its own costs and takes a share of the revenue from the sale of
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20.
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the aircraft, such share being determined in accordance with the binding
arrangement. A further example is when two entities combine their
operations, resources and expertise to jointly deliver a service, such as aged
care where, in accordance with an agreement, a local government offers
domestic services and a local hospital offers medical care. Each venturer
bears its own costs and takes a share of revenue, such as user charges and
government grants; such share being determined in accordance with the
binding agreement.

In respect of its interests in jointly controlled operations, a venturer shall
recognize in its financial statements:

(@)  The assets that it controls and the liabilities that it incurs; and

(b)  The expenses that it incurs and its share of the revenue that it
earns from the sale or provision of goods or services by the joint
venture.

Because the assets, liabilities, revenue (if any) and expenses are already
recognized in the financial statements of the venturer, no adjustments or other
consolidation procedures are required in respect of these items when the
venturer presents consolidated financial statements.

Separate accounting records may not be required for the joint venture itself
and financial statements may not be prepared for the joint venture. However,
the venturers may prepare management accounts so that they may assess the
performance of the joint venture.

Jointly Controlled Assets

22.

23.

24,

Some joint ventures involve the joint control, and often the joint ownership
by, the venturers of one or more assets contributed to, or acquired for the
purpose of, the joint venture and dedicated to the purposes of the joint
venture. The assets are used to obtain benefits for the venturers. Each venturer
may take a share of the output from the assets and each bears an agreed share
of the expenses incurred.

These joint ventures do not involve the establishment of a corporation,
partnership or other entity, or a financial structure that is separate from the
venturers themselves. Each venturer has control over its share of future
economic benefits or service potential through its share of the jointly
controlled asset.

Some activities in the public sector involve jointly controlled assets. For
example, a local government may enter into an arrangement with a private
sector corporation to construct a toll road. The road provides the citizens with
improved access between the local government’s industrial estate and its port
facilities. The road also provides the private sector corporation with direct
access between its manufacturing plant and the port. The agreement between
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26.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

the local authority and the private sector corporation specifies each party’s
share of revenues and expenses associated with the toll road. Accordingly,
each venturer derives economic benefits or service potential from the jointly
controlled asset and bears an agreed proportion of the costs of operating the
road. Similarly, many activities in the oil, gas and mineral extraction
industries involve jointly controlled assets. For example, a number of oil
production companies may jointly control and operate an oil pipeline. Each
venturer uses the pipeline to transport its own product in return for which it
bears an agreed proportion of the expenses of operating the pipeline. Another
example of a jointly controlled asset is when two entities jointly control a
property, each taking a share of the rents received and bearing a share of the
expenses.

In respect of its interest in jointly controlled assets, a venturer shall
recognize in its financial statements:

(@ Its share of the jointly controlled assets, classified according to the
nature of the assets;

(b)  Any liabilities that it has incurred;

(c) Its share of any liabilities incurred jointly with the other venturers
in relation to the joint venture;

(d)  Any revenue from the sale or use of its share of the output of the
joint venture, together with its share of any expenses incurred by
the joint venture; and

() Any expenses that it has incurred in respect of its interest in the
joint venture.

In respect of its interest in jointly controlled assets, each venturer includes in
its accounting records and recognizes in its financial statements:

(@  Its share of the jointly controlled assets, classified according to the nature
of the assets rather than as an investment. For example, a share of a
jointly controlled road is classified as property, plant and equipment.

(b)  Any liabilities that it has incurred, for example those incurred in
financing its share of the assets.

(c) Its share of any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers in
relation to the joint venture.

(d)  Any revenue from the sale or use of its share of the output of the joint
venture, together with its share of any expenses incurred by the joint
venture.

(e)  Any expenses that it has incurred in respect of its interest in the joint
venture, for example those related to financing the venturer’s interest
in the assets and selling its share of the output.
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Because the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses are recognized in the
financial statements of the venturer, no adjustments or other consolidation
procedures are required in respect of these items when the venturer presents
consolidated financial statements.

The treatment of jointly controlled assets reflects the substance and economic
reality and, usually, the legal form of the joint venture. Separate accounting
records for the joint venture itself may be limited to those expenses incurred
in common by the venturers and ultimately borne by the venturers according
to their agreed shares. Financial statements may not be prepared for the joint
venture, although the venturers may prepare management accounts so that
they may assess the performance of the joint venture.

Jointly Controlled Entities

29.

30.

31

32.

33.

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of
a corporation, partnership or other entity in which each venturer has an
interest. The entity operates in the same way as other entities, except that a
binding arrangement between the venturers establishes joint control over the
activity of the entity.

A jointly controlled entity controls the assets of the joint venture, incurs
liabilities and expenses and earns revenue. It may enter into contracts in its
own name and raise finance for the purposes of the joint venture activity.
Each venturer is entitled to a share of the surpluses of the jointly controlled
entity, although some jointly controlled entities also involve a sharing of the
output of the joint venture.

A common example of a jointly controlled entity is when two entities
combine their activities in a particular line of service delivery by transferring
the relevant assets and liabilities into a jointly controlled entity. Another
example arises when an entity commences a business in a foreign country in
conjunction with a government or other agency in that country, by
establishing a separate entity that is jointly controlled by the entity and the
government or agency in the foreign country.

Many jointly controlled entities are similar in substance to those joint ventures
referred to as jointly controlled operations or jointly controlled assets. For
example, the venturers may transfer a jointly controlled asset, such as a road,
into a jointly controlled entity, for tax or other reasons. Similarly, the venturers
may contribute into a jointly controlled entity assets that will be operated jointly.
Some jointly controlled operations also involve the establishment of a jointly
controlled entity to deal with particular aspects of the activity, for example, the
design, marketing, distribution or after-sales service of the product.

A jointly controlled entity maintains its own accounting records and prepares
and presents financial statements in the same way as other entities in
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conformity with International Public Sector Accounting Standards or other
accounting standards if appropriate.

Each venturer usually contributes cash or other resources to the jointly
controlled entity. These contributions are included in the accounting records
of the venturer and recognized in its financial statements as an investment in
the jointly controlled entity.

Financial Statements of a Venturer

Proportionate Consolidation

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

A venturer shall recognize its interest in a jointly controlled entity using
proportionate consolidation or the alternative method described in
paragraph 43. When proportionate consolidation is used, one of the two
reporting formats identified below shall be used.

A venturer recognizes its interest in a jointly controlled entity using one of the
two reporting formats for proportionate consolidation irrespective of whether
it also has investments in controlled entities or whether it describes its
financial statements as consolidated financial statements.

When recognizing an interest in a jointly controlled entity, it is essential that a
venturer reflects the substance and economic reality of the arrangement,
rather than the joint venture’s particular structure or form. In a jointly
controlled entity, a venturer has control over its share of future economic
benefits or service potential through its share of the assets and liabilities of the
venture. This substance and economic reality are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements of the venturer when the venturer recognizes its interests
in the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the jointly controlled entity
by using one of the two reporting formats for proportionate consolidation
described in paragraph 39.

The application of proportionate consolidation means that the statement of
financial position of the venturer includes its share of the assets that it
controls jointly and its share of the liabilities for which it is jointly
responsible. The statement of financial performance of the venturer includes
its share of the revenue and expenses of the jointly controlled entity. Many of
the procedures appropriate for the application of proportionate consolidation
are similar to the procedures for the consolidation of investments in controlled
entities, which are set out in IPSAS 6.

Different reporting formats may be used to give effect to proportionate
consolidation. The venturer may combine its share of each of the assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses of the jointly controlled entity with the
similar items, line by line, in its financial statements. For example, it may
combine its share of the jointly controlled entity’s inventory with its inventory
and its share of the jointly controlled entity’s property, plant and equipment
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with its property, plant and equipment. Alternatively, the venturer may
include separate line items for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses of the jointly controlled entity in its financial statements. For
example, it may show its share of a current asset of the jointly controlled
entity separately as part of its current assets; it may show its share of the
property, plant and equipment of the jointly controlled entity separately as
part of its property, plant and equipment. Both these reporting formats result
in the reporting of identical amounts of surplus or deficit and of each major
classification of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses; both formats are
acceptable for the purposes of this Standard.

Whichever format is used to give effect to proportionate consolidation, it is
inappropriate to offset any assets or liabilities by the deduction of other
liabilities or assets or any revenue or expenses by the deduction of other
expenses or revenue, unless a legal right of set-off exists and the offsetting
represents the expectation as to the realization of the asset or the settlement of
the liability.

A venturer shall discontinue the use of proportionate consolidation from
the date on which it ceases to have joint control over a jointly controlled
entity.

A venturer discontinues the use of proportionate consolidation from the date
on which it ceases to share in the control of a jointly controlled entity. This
may happen, for example, when the venturer disposes of its interest or when
such external restrictions are placed on the jointly controlled entity that the
venturer no longer has joint control.

Equity Method

43.

44,

45.

As an alternative to proportionate consolidation described in paragraph
35, a venturer shall recognize its interest in a jointly controlled entity
using the equity method.

A venturer recognizes its interest in a jointly controlled entity using the equity
method irrespective of whether it also has investments in controlled entities or
whether it describes its financial statements as consolidated financial statements.

Some venturers recognize their interests in jointly controlled entities using the
equity method, as described in IPSAS 7. The use of the equity method is
supported by those who argue that it is inappropriate to combine controlled
items with jointly controlled items and by those who believe that venturers have
significant influence, rather than joint control, in a jointly controlled entity. This
Standard does not recommend the use of the equity method because
proportionate consolidation better reflects the substance and economic reality of
a venturer’s interest in a jointly controlled entity, that is to say, control over the
venturer’s share of the future economic benefits or service potential.
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Nevertheless, this Standard permits the use of the equity method, as an
alternative treatment, when recognizing interests in jointly controlled entities.

A venturer shall discontinue the use of the equity method from the date
on which it ceases to have joint control over, or have significant influence
in, a jointly controlled entity.

Exceptions to Proportionate Consolidation and Equity Method

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

Interests in jointly controlled entities for which there is evidence that the
interest is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its disposal within
twelve months from acquisition and that management is actively seeking
a buyer, as set out in paragraph 3(a), shall be classified and accounted
for as held for trading financial instruments in accordance with the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with
financial instruments.

Guidance on the recognition and measurement of financial instruments dealt
with in paragraph 47 can be found in the relevant international or national
accounting standard dealing with financial instruments.

When, in accordance with paragraphs 3(a) and 47, an interest in a jointly
controlled entity previously accounted for as a held for trading financial
instrument is not disposed of within twelve months, it shall be accounted for
using proportionate consolidation or the equity method as from the date of
acquisition. (Guidance on the meaning of the date of acquisition can be found
in the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with
business combinations.) Financial statements for the periods since acquisition
shall be restated.

Exceptionally, a venturer may have found a buyer for an interest described in
paragraphs 3(a) and 47, but may not have completed the sale within twelve
months of acquisition because of the need for approval by regulators or
others. The venturer is not required to apply proportionate consolidation or
the equity method to an interest in a jointly controlled entity if the sale is in
process at the reporting date and there is no reason to believe that it will not
be completed shortly after the reporting date.

From the date on which a jointly controlled entity becomes a controlled
entity of a venturer, the venturer shall account for its interest in
accordance with IPSAS 6. From the date on which a jointly controlled
entity becomes an associate of a venturer, the venturer shall account for
its interest in accordance with IPSAS 7.

Separate Financial Statements of a VVenturer

52.

An interest in a jointly controlled entity shall be accounted for in a
venturer’s separate financial statements in accordance with paragraphs
58-64 of IPSAS 6.
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53.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

This Standard does not mandate which entities produce separate financial
statements available for public use.

Transactions between a Venturer and a Joint Venture

54.

55.

56.

When a venturer contributes or sells assets to a joint venture, recognition
of any portion of a gain or loss from the transaction shall reflect the
substance of the transaction. While the assets are retained by the joint
venture, and provided the venturer has transferred the significant risks
and rewards of ownership, the venturer shall recognize only that portion
of the gain or loss that is attributable to the interests of the other
venturers. The venturer shall recognize the full amount of any loss when
the contribution or sale provides evidence of a reduction in the net
realizable value of current assets or an impairment loss.

When a venturer purchases assets from a joint venture, the venturer
shall not recognize its share of the gains of the joint venture from the
transaction until it resells the assets to an independent party. A venturer
shall recognize its share of the losses resulting from these transactions in
the same way as gains except that losses shall be recognized immediately
when they represent a reduction in the net realizable value of current
assets or an impairment loss.

To assess whether a transaction between a venturer and a joint venture provides
evidence of impairment of an asset, the venturer determines the recoverable
amount or recoverable service amount of the assets in accordance with IPSAS
21, “Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets.” In determining value in use
of a cash-generating asset, the venturer estimates future cash flows from the
asset on the basis of continuing use of the asset and its ultimate disposal by the
joint venture. In determining value in use of a non-cash-generating asset, the
venturer estimates the present value of the remaining service potential of the
asset using the approaches specified in IPSAS 21.

Reporting Interests in Joint Ventures in the Financial Statements
of an Investor

57.

58.

An investor in a joint venture that does not have joint control, but does
have significant influence shall account for its interest in a joint venture
in accordance with IPSAS 7.

Guidance on accounting for interests in joint ventures where an investor does
not have joint control or significant influence can be found in the relevant
international or national accounting standard dealing with financial
instruments.

249 IPSAS 8

x
O
|_
O
L
(2]
=
-
@
-
[a




INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Operators of Joint Ventures

Operators or managers of a joint venture shall account for any fees in
accordance with IPSAS 9, “Revenue from Exchange Transactions.”

One or more venturers may act as the operator or manager of a joint venture.
Operators are usually paid a management fee for such duties. The fees are
accounted for by the joint venture as an expense.

A venturer shall disclose:

(@  The aggregate amount of the following contingent liabilities, unless
the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote, separately
from the amount of other contingent liabilities:

Any contingent liabilities that the venturer has incurred in
relation to its interests in joint ventures and its share in each
of the contingent liabilities that have been incurred jointly
with other venturers;

Its share of the contingent liabilities of the joint ventures
themselves for which it is contingently liable; and

Those contingent liabilities that arise because the venturer is
contingently liable for the liabilities of the other venturers of
a joint venture; and

(b) A brief description of the following contingent assets and, where
practicable, an estimate of their financial effect, where an inflow of
economic benefits or service potential is probable:

Any contingent assets of the venturer arising in relation to
its interests in joint ventures and its share in each of the
contingent assets that have arisen jointly with other
venturers; and

Its share of the contingent assets of the joint ventures
themselves.

A venturer shall disclose the aggregate amount of the following
commitments in respect of its interests in joint ventures separately from
other commitments:

(@  Any capital commitments of the venturer in relation to its interests
in joint ventures and its share in the capital commitments that
have been incurred jointly with other venturers; and

(b) Its share of the capital commitments of the joint ventures
themselves.

59.
60.
Disclosure
61.
()
(i)
(iii)
()
(i)
62.
IPSAS 8
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63.

64.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

A venturer shall disclose a listing and description of interests in
significant joint ventures and the proportion of ownership interest held in
jointly controlled entities. A venturer that recognizes its interests in
jointly controlled entities using the line-by-line reporting format for
proportionate consolidation or the equity method shall disclose the
aggregate amounts of each of current assets, non-current assets, current
liabilities, non-current liabilities, revenue and expenses related to its
interest in joint ventures.

A venturer shall disclose the method it uses to recognize its interests in
jointly controlled entities.

Transitional Provisions

65.

66.

67.

68.

Where the proportionate consolidation treatment set out in this Standard
is adopted, venturers are not required to eliminate balances and
transactions between themselves, their controlled entities and entities
that they jointly control for reporting periods beginning on a date within
three years following the date of first adoption of accrual accounting in
accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Entities that adopt accrual accounting for the first time in accordance with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards may have many controlled
and jointly controlled entities with a significant number of transactions
between these entities. Accordingly, it may initially be difficult to identify all
the transactions and balances that need to be eliminated for the purpose of
preparing the financial statements. For this reason, paragraph 65 provides
temporary relief from eliminating in full balances and transactions between
entities and their jointly controlled entities.

Where entities apply the transitional provision in paragraph 65, they
shall disclose the fact that not all inter-entity balances and transactions
have been eliminated.

Transitional provisions in IPSAS 8 (2000) provide entities with a period of up
to three years to fully eliminate balances and transactions between entities
within the economic entity from the date of its first application. Entities that
have previously applied IPSAS 8 (2000) may continue to take advantage of
this three-year transitional provisional period from the date of first application
of IPSAS 8 (2000).

Effective Date

69.

An entity shall apply this International Public Sector Accounting
Standard for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2008. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity
applies this Standard for a period beginning before January 1, 2008, it
shall disclose that fact.
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

70.  When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, for financial reporting
purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this Standard applies to the
entity’s annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after the
date of adoption.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 8 (2001)

71.  This Standard supersedes IPSAS 8, “Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint
Ventures” issued in 2001.
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
Appendix

Amendments to Other IPSASs

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. If an entity applies this
Standard for an earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that earlier
period.
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Al. In International Public Sector Accounting Standards applicable at January 1,
2008, references to the current version of IPSAS 8, “Financial Reporting of
Interests in Joint Ventures” are amended to IPSAS 8, “Interests in Joint
Ventures.”
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the proposed
International Public Sector Accounting Standards. This Basis for Conclusions only
notes the IPSASB’s reasons for departing from provisions of the related
International Accounting Standard.

Background

BC1. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)’s
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) Convergence Program is
an important element in IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to
converge the accrual basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSASs) with IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) where appropriate for public sector entities.

BC2. Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS is not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
‘comparison with IFRS” included in each IPSAS.

BC3. In May 2002, the IASB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments to
13 International Accounting Standards (IASs)! as part of its General
Improvements Project. The objectives of the IASB’s General Improvements
project were “to reduce or eliminate alternatives, redundancies and conflicts
within the Standards, to deal with some convergence issues and to make other
improvements.” The final IASs were issued in December 2003.

BC4. IPSAS 8, issued in May 2000 was based on IAS 31 (Reformatted 1994),
“Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures” which was reissued in
December 2003. In late 2003, the IPSASB’s predecessor, the Public Sector
Committee (PSC)2, actioned an IPSAS Improvements Project to converge
where appropriate IPSASs with the improved 1ASs issued in December 2003.

BC5. The IPSASB reviewed the improved IAS 31 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the IAS and with the amendments made. (The

The International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued by the IASB’s predecessor, the
International Accounting Standards Committee. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, IASs and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

2 The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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IASB’s Bases for Conclusions are not reproduced here. Subscribers to the
IASB’s Comprehensive Subscription Service can view the Bases for
Conclusions on the IASB’s website at www.iash.org).

BC6. IAS 31 has been further amended as a consequence of IFRSs issued after
December 2003. IPSAS 7 does not include the consequential amendments
arising from IFRSs issued after December 2003. This is because the IPSASB
has not yet reviewed and formed a view on the applicability of the
requirements in those IFRSs to public sector entities.
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Comparison With 1AS 31

IPSAS 8, “Interests in Joint Ventures” is drawn primarily from IAS 31, “Interests in
Joint Ventures.” At the time of issuing this Standard, the IPSASB has not considered
the applicability of IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” and IFRS 5, “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” to public sector entities.
Therefore, IPSAS 8 does not reflect amendments made to IAS 31 consequent on the
issue of IFRS 3 and IFRS 5. The main differences between IPSAS 8 and IAS 31 are
as follows:

Commentary additional to that in IAS 31 has been included in IPSAS 8 to
clarify the applicability of the standards to accounting by public sector entities.

IPSAS 8 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 31. The most
significant examples are the use of the terms statement of financial performance,
statement of financial position and net assets/equity in IPSAS 8. The equivalent
terms in 1AS 31 are income statement, balance sheet and equity.

IPSAS 8 does not use the term income, which in 1AS 31 has a broader meaning
than the term revenue.

IPSAS 8 uses a different definition of joint venture from IAS 31. The term
contractual arrangement has been replaced by binding arrangement.

IPSAS 8 includes a transitional provision that permits entities which adopt
proportionate consolidation treatment to not eliminate all balances and
transactions between venturers, their controlled entities and entities that they
jointly control for reporting periods beginning on a date within three years
following the date of adopting accrual accounting for the first time in
accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards. 1AS 31 does
not contain transitional provisions.
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REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

The standards, which have been set in bold type, should be read in the context of the
commentary paragraphs in this Standard, which are in plain type, and in the context
of the ““Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards.” International
Public Sector Accounting Standards are not intended to apply to immaterial items.

Objective

The International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) “Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements” defines income as “increases
in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows or
enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity,
other than those relating to contributions from equity participants.” The IASC
definition of income encompasses both revenue and gains. This Standard uses the
term “revenue,” which encompasses both revenues and gains, in place of the term
“income.” Certain specific items to be recognized as revenues are addressed in other
Standards and are excluded from the scope of this Standard. For example, gains
arising on the sale of property, plant and equipment are specifically addressed in
Standards on property, plant and equipment and are not covered in this Standard.

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment of revenue
arising from exchange transactions and events.

The primary issue in accounting for revenue is determining when to recognize
revenue. Revenue is recognized when it is probable that future economic benefits or
service potential will flow to the entity and these benefits can be measured reliably.
This Standard identifies the circumstances in which these criteria will be met and,
therefore, revenue will be recognized. It also provides practical guidance on the
application of these criteria.

Scope

1.  An entity which prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting should apply this Standard in accounting
for revenue arising from the following exchange transactions and
events:

(@)  The rendering of services;
(b)  The sale of goods; and

(c)  The use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and
dividends.

2. This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than
Government Business Enterprises.

3. The “Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards” issued
by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)
explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBES) apply International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) which are issued by the International
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REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Accounting Standards Board (IASB). GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1,
“Presentation of Financial Statements.”

This Standard does not deal with revenue arising from non-exchange
transactions.

Public sector entities may derive revenues from exchange or non-exchange
transactions. An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives
approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use
of assets) to the other party in exchange. Examples of exchange transactions
include:

(@)  The purchase or sale of goods or services; or
(b)  The lease of property, plant and equipment; at market rates.

In distinguishing between exchange and non-exchange revenues, substance
rather than the form of the transaction should be considered. Examples of
non-exchange transactions include revenue from the use of sovereign
powers (for example, direct and indirect taxes, duties, and fines), grants and
donations.

The rendering of services typically involves the performance by the entity
of an agreed task over an agreed period of time. The services may be
rendered within a single period or over more than one period. Examples of
services rendered by public sector entities for which revenue is typically
received in exchange may include the provision of housing, management of
water facilities, management of toll roads, and management of transfer
payments. Some agreements for the rendering of services are directly
related to construction contracts, for example, those for the services of
project managers and architects. Revenue arising from these agreements is
not dealt with in this Standard but is dealt with in accordance with the
requirements for construction contracts as specified in International Public
Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 11, “Construction Contracts.”

Goods includes goods produced by the entity for the purpose of sale, such
as publications, and goods purchased for resale, such as merchandise or
land and other property held for resale.

The use by others of entity assets gives rise to revenue in the form of:

€)) Interest—charges for the use of cash or cash equivalents or amounts
due to the entity;

(b) Royalties—charges for the use of long-term assets of the entity, for
example, patents, trademarks, copyrights and computer software;
and
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REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

(c) Dividends or equivalents—distributions of surpluses to holders of
equity investments in proportion to their holdings of a particular
class of capital.

10. This Standard does not deal with revenues:

(@  Addressed in other International Public Sector Accounting
Standards, including:

0] Lease agreements (see IPSAS 13, “Leases”);

(i)  Dividends arising from investments which are accounted for
under the equity method (see IPSAS7, “Accounting for
Investments in Associates”); and

(iii)  Gains from the sale of property, plant and equipment (which
are dealt with in IPSAS 17, “Property, Plant and Equipment”),

(b)  Arising from insurance contracts of insurance entities;

(c)  Arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities or their disposal (guidance on accounting for
financial instruments can be found in international or national
accounting standards addressing the recognition and measurement of
financial instruments);

(d)  Arising from changes in the value of other current assets;

(e)  Arising from natural increases in herds, and agricultural and forest
products; and

(f)  Arising from the extraction of mineral ores.

Definitions
11. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings

specified:

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives
approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods,
services, or use of assets) to another entity in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a
liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s
length transaction.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange
transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an entity either receives
value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal
value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly
receiving approximately equal value in exchange.
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REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential
during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in
net assets/equity, other than increases relating to contributions from
OWners.

Terms defined in other International Public Sector Accounting
Standards are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those
other Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms
published separately.

Revenue

12.

13.

Revenue includes only the gross inflows of economic benefits or service
potential received and receivable by the entity on its own account. Amounts
collected as agent of the government or another government organization or
on behalf of other third parties, for example the collection of telephone and
electricity payments by the post office on behalf of entities providing such
services, are not economic benefits or service potential which flow to the
entity and do not result in increases in assets or decreases in liabilities.
Therefore, they are excluded from revenue. Similarly, in a custodial or
agency relationship, the gross inflows of economic benefits or service
potential include amounts collected on behalf of the principal and which do
not result in increases in net assets/equity for the entity. The amounts
collected on behalf of the principal are not revenue. Instead, revenue is the
amount of any commission received or receivable for the collection or
handling of the gross flows.

Financing inflows, notably borrowings, do not meet the definition of
revenue because they result in an equal change in both assets and liabilities
and have no impact upon net assets/equity. Financing inflows are taken
directly to the statement of financial position and added to the balances of
assets and liabilities.

Measurement of Revenue

14,

15.

16.

IPSAS 9

Revenue should be measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

The amount of revenue arising on a transaction is usually determined by
agreement between the entity and the purchaser or user of the asset or
service. It is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable taking into account the amount of any trade discounts and
volume rebates allowed by the entity.

In most cases, the consideration is in the form of cash or cash equivalents
and the amount of revenue is the amount of cash or cash equivalents
received or receivable. However, when the inflow of cash or cash
equivalents is deferred, the fair value of the consideration may be less than
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the nominal amount of cash received or receivable. For example, an entity
may provide interest free credit to the purchaser or accept a note receivable
bearing a below-market interest rate from the purchaser as consideration for
the sale of goods. When the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing
transaction, the fair value of the consideration is determined by discounting
all future receipts using an imputed rate of interest. The imputed rate of
interest is the more clearly determinable of either:

(@)  The prevailing rate for a similar instrument of an issuer with a
similar credit rating; or

(b) A rate of interest that discounts the nominal amount of the
instrument to the current cash sales price of the goods or services.

The difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of the
consideration is recognized as interest revenue in accordance with
paragraphs 33 and 34.

When goods or services are exchanged or swapped for goods or services
which are of a similar nature and value, the exchange is not regarded as a
transaction which generates revenue. This is often the case with
commodities like oil or milk where suppliers exchange or swap inventories
in various locations to fulfill demand on a timely basis in a particular
location. When goods are sold or services are rendered in exchange for
dissimilar goods or services, the exchange is regarded as a transaction
which generates revenue. The revenue is measured at the fair value of the
goods or services received, adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash
equivalents transferred. When the fair value of the goods or services
received cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is measured at the fair
value of the goods or services given up, adjusted by the amount of any cash
or cash equivalents transferred.

Identification of the Transaction

18.

The recognition criteria in this Standard are usually applied separately to
each transaction. However, in certain circumstances, it is necessary to apply
the recognition criteria to the separately identifiable components of a single
transaction in order to reflect the substance of the transaction. For example,
when the price of a product includes an identifiable amount for subsequent
servicing, that amount is deferred and recognized as revenue over the period
during which the service is performed. Conversely, the recognition criteria
are applied to two or more transactions together when they are linked in
such a way that the effect cannot be understood without reference to the
series of transactions as a whole. For example, an entity may sell goods and,
at the same time, enter into a separate agreement to repurchase the goods at
a later date, thus negating the substantive effect of the transaction; in such a
case, the two transactions are dealt with together.

263 IPSAS 9

@
O
I—
O
e
0
S
3
o
>
[a B




REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Rendering of Services

19.

20.

21.

22.

IPSAS 9

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services
can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction
should be recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be
estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

(@)  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(b) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;

(c)  The stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date
can be measured reliably; and

(d)  The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete
the transaction can be measured reliably.

The recognition of revenue by reference to the stage of completion of a
transaction is often referred to as the percentage of completion method.
Under this method, revenue is recognized in the reporting periods in which
the services are rendered. For example, an entity providing property
valuation services would recognize revenue as the individual valuations are
completed. The recognition of revenue on this basis provides useful
information on the extent of service activity and performance during a
period. IPSAS 11, also requires the recognition of revenue on this basis. The
requirements of that Standard are generally applicable to the recognition of
revenue and the associated expenses for a transaction involving the
rendering of services.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity.
However, when an uncertainty arises about the collectability of an amount
already included in revenue, the uncollectable amount, or the amount in
respect of which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognized as an
expense, rather than as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally
recognized.

An entity is generally able to make reliable estimates after it has agreed to
the following with the other parties to the transaction:

€)) Each party’s enforceable rights regarding the service to be provided
and received by the parties;

(b)  The consideration to be exchanged; and
(¢)  The manner and terms of settlement.

It is also usually necessary for the entity to have an effective internal
financial budgeting and reporting system. The entity reviews and, when
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23.

24,

25.

26.

217.

REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

necessary, revises the estimates of revenue as the service is performed. The
need for such revisions does not necessarily indicate that the outcome of the
transaction cannot be estimated reliably.

The stage of completion of a transaction may be determined by a variety of
methods. An entity uses the method that measures reliably the services
performed. Depending on the nature of the transaction, the methods may
include:

€)) Surveys of work performed,;

(b) Services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be
performed; or

(c)  The proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total
costs of the transaction. Only costs that reflect services performed to
date are included in costs incurred to date. Only costs that reflect
services performed or to be performed are included in the estimated
total costs of the transaction.

Progress payments and advances received from customers often do not
reflect the services performed.

For practical purposes, when services are performed by an indeterminate
number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognized on a
straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that
some other method better represents the stage of completion. When a
specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of
revenue is postponed until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of
services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue should be recognized
only to the extent of the expenses recognized that are recoverable.

During the early stages of a transaction, it is often the case that the outcome
of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably. Nevertheless, it may be
probable that the entity will recover the transaction costs incurred.
Therefore, revenue is recognized only to the extent of costs incurred that are
expected to be recoverable. As the outcome of the transaction cannot be
estimated reliably, no surplus is recognized.

When the outcome of a transaction cannot be estimated reliably and it is not
probable that the costs incurred will be recovered, revenue is not recognized
and the costs incurred are recognized as an expense. When the uncertainties
that prevented the outcome of the contract being estimated reliably no
longer exist, revenue is recognized in accordance with paragraph 19 rather
than in accordance with paragraph 25.
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REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Sale of Goods

28.

29.

30.

IPSAS 9

Revenue from the sale of goods should be recognized when all the
following conditions have been satisfied:

(@)  The entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

(b)  The entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

(c)  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

() The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

The assessment of when an entity has transferred the significant risks and
rewards of ownership to the purchaser requires an examination of the
circumstances of the transaction. In most cases, the transfer of the risks and
rewards of ownership coincides with the transfer of the legal title or the
passing of possession to the purchaser. This is the case for most sales.
However, in certain other cases, the transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership occurs at a different time from the transfer of legal title or the
passing of possession.

If the entity retains significant risks of ownership, the transaction is not a
sale and revenue is not recognized. An entity may retain a significant risk of
ownership in a number of ways. Examples of situations in which the entity
may retain the significant risks and rewards of ownership are:

(@)  When the entity retains an obligation for unsatisfactory performance
not covered by normal warranty provisions;

(b)  When the receipt of the revenue from a particular sale is contingent
on the derivation of revenue by the purchaser from its sale of the
goods (for example, where a government publishing operation
distributes educational material to schools on a sale or return basis);

(c)  When the goods are shipped subject to installation and the
installation is a significant part of the contract which has not yet
been completed by the entity; and

(d)  When the purchaser has the right to rescind the purchase for a
reason specified in the sales contract and the entity is uncertain
about the probability of return.
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31.

32.

REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

If an entity retains only an insignificant risk of ownership, the transaction is
a sale and revenue is recognized. For example, a seller may retain the legal
title to the goods solely to protect the collectability of the amount due. In
such a case, if the entity has transferred the significant risks and rewards of
ownership, the transaction is a sale and revenue is recognized. Another
example of an entity retaining only an insignificant risk of ownership may
be a sale when a refund is offered if the purchaser is not satisfied. Revenue
in such cases is recognized at the time of sale provided the seller can
reliably estimate future returns and recognizes a liability for returns based
on previous experience and other relevant factors.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity. In
some cases, this may not be probable until the consideration is received or
until an uncertainty is removed. For example, the revenue may be
dependent upon the ability of another entity to supply goods as part of the
contract and if there is any doubt that this will occur, recognition may be
delayed until it has occurred. When the goods are supplied, the uncertainty
is removed and revenue is recognized. However, when an uncertainty arises
about the collectability of an amount already included in revenue, the
uncollectable amount, or the amount in respect of which recovery has
ceased to be probable, is recognized as an expense, rather than as an
adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognized.

Interest, Royalties and Dividends

33.

34.

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest,
royalties and dividends should be recognized using the accounting
treatments set out in paragraph 34 when:

@) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

(b)  The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenue should be recognized using the following accounting
treatments:

@) Interest should be recognized on a time proportion basis that
takes into account the effective yield on the asset;

(b) Royalties should be recognized as they are earned in accordance
with the substance of the relevant agreement; and

(c) Dividends or their equivalents should be recognized when the
shareholder’s or the entity’s right to receive payment is
established.
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35.

36.

37.

38.

REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

The effective yield on an asset is the rate of interest required to discount the
stream of future cash receipts expected over the life of the asset to equate to
the initial carrying amount of the asset. Interest revenue includes the
amount of amortization of any discount, premium or other difference
between the initial carrying amount of a debt security and its amount at
maturity.

When unpaid interest has accrued before the acquisition of an interest-
bearing investment, the subsequent receipt of interest is allocated between
pre-acquisition and post-acquisition periods; only the post-acquisition
portion is recognized as revenue. When dividends on equity securities are
declared from pre-acquisition net surplus, those dividends are deducted
from the cost of the securities. If it is difficult to make such an allocation
except on an arbitrary basis, dividends are recognized as revenue unless
they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the equity securities.

Royalties, such as petroleum royalties, accrue in accordance with the terms
of the relevant agreement and are usually recognized on that basis unless,
having regard to the substance of the agreement, it is more appropriate to
recognize revenue on some other systematic and rational basis.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity.
However, when an uncertainty arises about the collectability of an amount
already included in revenue, the uncollectable amount, or the amount in
respect of which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognized as an
expense, rather than as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally
recognized.

Disclosure

39.

IPSAS 9

An entity should disclose:

(@)  The accounting policies adopted for the recognition of revenue
including the methods adopted to determine the stage of
completion of transactions involving the rendering of services;

(b)  The amount of each significant category of revenue recognized
during the period including revenue arising from:

) The rendering of services;
(i)  The sale of goods;

(iii)  Interest;

(iv) Royalties; and

(v)  Dividends or their equivalents; and
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40.

REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

()  The amount of revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services
included in each significant category of revenue.

Guidance on disclosure of any contingent assets and contingent liabilities can be
found in IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.”
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities may arise from items such as
warranty costs, claims, penalties or possible losses.

Effective Date

41.

42.

This International Public Sector Accounting Standard becomes
effective for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on
or after July 1, 2002. Earlier application is encouraged.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting, as defined by
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, for financial reporting
purposes, subsequent to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of
adoption.
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REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
Appendix

The appendix is illustrative only and does not form part of the standards. The
purpose of the appendix is to illustrate the application of the standards 